Polyglycerol for Half-Life Extension and Increased Stability of Biopharmaceuticals

Inaugural-Dissertation to obtain the academic degree **Doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.)**

submitted to the Department of Biology, Chemistry, Pharmacy of Freie Universität Berlin

by

Michael Tully from Haßfurt, Germany

Berlin, 2021

The research presented in this thesis was accomplished from September 2017 to April 2021 under the supervision of Prof. Dr. Rainer Haag at the Institute of Chemistry and Biochemistry of the Freie Universität Berlin

1 st Reviewer:	Prof. Dr. Daniel Klinger

Freie Universität Berlin

2nd Reviewer: Prof. Dr. Rainer Haag Freie Universität Berlin

Date of Defense: 25th August 2021

Statutory Declaration

Hereby I, Michael Tully, declare that I have independently authored the submitted thesis with the topic "*Polyglycerol for Half-Life Extension and Increased Stability of Biopharmaceuticals*". I also confirm that this work as well as parts of this work have not been previously published or accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution in my name.

Berlin,

Michael Tully

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Rainer Haag for giving me the opportunity to conduct my doctoral studies in his group and for always giving me the freedom to turn my research plans and ideas into reality. I really enjoyed getting insights into the field of polymers and being part of your large and international group. Thanks for supporting me scientifically and financially during the last years. Moreover, I would like to acknowledge Prof. Dr. Daniel Klinger for his support and being the first supervisor of this thesis.

Kai Licha is greatly thanked for his continuous support and guidance during my thesis, no matter if it was chemistry related or organization within the Next-PEG project. Thank you for always being open to my ideas. Michael Schirner is thanked for his support in pharmacological questions regarding the animal studies. I acknowledge Christoph Weise for his support and discussions on mass spectrometry and for always being open to my ideas and suggestions.

I would like to thank Isabelle Heing-Becker aka Ernie aka Ulf aka Frau Papenbecker for the lovely time in our old lab 16.17, coffee and pandemic-lunch breaks, laughters and endless Stromberg-jokes. This really helped me to make it through the harder times of this PhD.

I would like to acknowledge Mathias Dimde for his continuous interest, guidance, and great support during my PhD-time, not only regarding chemistry topics. Eike Ziegler and Wiebke Fischer are thanked for all the support with bureaucracy, manuscript submissions and organization of my PhD-project.

Thank you to all the people from the biolab, especially Katharina Achazi, Stefanie Wedepohl, Johanna Scholz and Elisa Quaas for the very nice time, laughs, interesting discussions, and general nice atmosphere there. Thanks to all the technicians of the AG Haag, namely Anja Stöshel, Daniel Kutifa, Cathleen Hudziak, Marleen Selent, and Katharina Goltsche, for their help in technical issues, ordering or analytical measurements.

I also want to thank all people involved in the lunch group (too many to name all of them) for the daily mensa trips, laughs and interesting conversations: things I really miss during the current homeoffice and pandemic times. Marcus Lindner, Christin Treiber, Ernesto Osorio Blanco and Carlo Fasting are thanked for the sometimes chaotic but very nice time during teaching of veterinary and biology students.

I would like to thank all AG Haag members for the lovely time in and outside university, group trips, group events, BBQs, beer-gatherings etc. etc., in particular thanks to Matthias Wallert, Isabelle Heing-Becker, Felix Reisbeck, Mathias Dimde, Magda Ferraro, Era Kapourani, Leonhard Urner, Johann Moschner, Maikel Kulka, Paria Pouyan, Daniel Braatz,

Sebastian Schötz.... Further thanks go to my friends outside university for their support during my doctoral thesis: Felix, Philipp, Anna, Wolfgang, Cathi, Johannes, Anthony and Nils.

I have to thank my family, my parents and my two sisters: Thank you for your patience and continuous support during my studies and PhD time and for always believing in me. Without you this would have never been possible. Finally, I want to thank my Maria: for your continuous love, never ending support and for always being by my side.

Für meine Familie

Table of Contents

1 Introduction	1
2 Theoretical Background	4
2.1 Concept of Half-Life Extension through PEGylation	4
2.1.1 Half-Life Extension of Biopharmaceuticals	4
2.1.2 Properties of PEG and its Impact on Biopharmaceuticals in vivo	5
2.1.3 PEGylation Chemistry	8
2.1.3.1 First Generation PEGylation	9
2.1.5.2 Second Generation PEGylation	9
2.1.4 Eminutions and Drawoucks of TEO	13
2.1.4.2 Anti-PEG Antibodies and Immunogenicity	14
2.1.4.3 Reduced Affinity and Activity of Biomolecules	16
2.1.4.4 Effect on Protein Stability and Viscosity	17
2.2 Analytical Techniques for the Characterization of PEG-Protein Conjugates	17
2.2.1 Sodium-dodecylsulfate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	17
2.2.2 Size-exclusion Chromatography (SEC)	
2.2.3 Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS)	18
2.2.4 Enzyme-miked minutiosofoent Assay (ELISA)	
2.3 Alternative Macromolecules for Half-Life Extension	20
2.3.1 Non-degradable synthetic Polymers	20
2.5.1.1 Folygiycerol (FG)	
2.3.1.3 Poly(N-vinylpvrrolidone) (PVP)	
2.3.1.4 Poly(N-(2-hydroxypropyl) methacrylamide) (PHPMA)	25
2.3.2 Degradable synthetic Polymers	26
2.3.2.1 Polyzwitterions (PZIs/Polybetaines)	
2.3.2.2 Polypeptides (PPs)	
2.5.2.5 Poly[olig0(einylene giycol) meinyl meinacrylalej (POEGMA) 2.3.2.4 Polynbosphoesters (PPFs)	50 31
2.3.3 Degradable natural Polymers: Polysaccharides	
2.3.3.1 Hydroxyethylstarch (HES)	
2.3.3.2 Polysialic Ácid (PSA)	33
2.3.4 Recombinant Half-Life Extension Strategies	35
2.3.4.1 Albumin- and Fc-fusion Proteins	35
2.3.4.2 X1 ENylation	30
5 Scientific goals	
4 Publications and Manuscripts	41
4.1 Polyglycerol for Half-Life Extension of Proteins–Alternative to PEGylation?	41
4.2 Prolonged Activity of Exenatide: Detailed Comparison of Site-specific linear Polyglycerol- and Poly(ethylene glycol). Conjugates	84
4.2 Linear Delvelar and for N terminal colorities Medification of Interlaying	102
4.5 Linear Polyglycerol for N-terminal-selective Modification of Interleukin-4	105
5 Conclusion and Outlook	136
6 Zusammenfassung	139
7 References	142
List of Abbreviations	162
List of Publications, Manuscripts and Conference Contributions	164
Curriculum vitae	166

1 Introduction

The development of recombinant DNA technology in the late 1970s has been a milestone in medical research, as it enabled tailor-made synthesis and expression of therapeutic biomolecules, like antibodies, proteins, and peptides. The unique properties of these molecules resulted in one of the fastest growing markets in the pharmaceutical industry, with by today more than 200 protein- and peptide-based drugs approved by regulatory authorities, covering a wide range of human diseases.¹ The first generation of these drugs was designed to mimic (as replacement therapy) or inhibit (e.g., by monoclonal antibodies) the function of native proteins, but have also recently been structurally modified to create new moieties for better control of receptor binding and other attributes.²

Despite their high specificity, biopharmaceuticals bear some downsides, namely a poor physicochemical and pharmacokinetic profile. They often display low thermal stability, limited solubility and a propensity to aggregate, which create challenges regarding their manufacturing, formulation and shelf-life. In contrast to small molecule drugs, which can mostly be applied as oral dosage forms (tablets, granules, capsules), the oral bioavailability of biopharmaceuticals is typically very low and demands high-frequent injections *via* the subcutaneous or intravenous route, thereby impeding patient compliance and increasing the risk of side effects.³ Biomolecules with molecular weights below the renal cutoff (50–70 kDa) undergo fast elimination from the bloodstream *via* the kidneys and therefore often display a circulation half-life being only in the range of minutes to hours.^{1,4} Additionally, biopharmaceuticals are prone to proteolysis and, as often of non-human origin, bear immunogenic potential, which further impairs blood circulation time.⁴

To address these drawbacks and to create more stable molecules with an enhanced pharmacokinetic profile, several approaches have been pursued, including the design of new protein scaffolds⁵ (DARPins, anticallins, affibodies, adnectins), encapsulation of proteins into nanogels⁶ or micelles⁷ or covalent modification with synthetic and natural polymers. Among the latter, the most prominent example is poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG), as it reached the market with by today \geq 14 PEGylated protein drugs (Table 1) and several more in clinical trials. PEGylation is defined as the covalent attachment of one or multiple PEG-chains to an active pharmaceutical ingredient (API), in this case proteins, and was first described by Abuchowski and Davies in 1977, who successfully improved the circulation time and immunogenicity of bovine liver catalase and bovine serum albumin by the attachment of PEG.^{8,9} Following these initial attempts led to the approval of the first PEGylated protein Adagen[®] in 1990.¹⁰ Several other PEGylated proteins followed and gained market authorization thereafter.

Trade name	API	Indication	Approval	Company
^{a,c} Adagen [®]	PEG-adenosine deaminase, Pegademase	Severe combined immunodeficiency disease (SCID)	1990	Enzon
Oncaspar®	PEG-asparaginase, Pegaspargase	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia	1994	Enzon
PegIntron®	PEG-Interferon α -2b	Hepatitis B and C	2000	Schering- Plough/ Enzon
Pegasys®	PEG-Interferon α -2a	Hepatitis B and C	2001	Hoffmann- La Roche
Neulasta®	PEG-Granulocyte colony stimulating factor, Pegfilgrastim	Neutropenia	2002	Amgen
Somavert [®]	PEG-Human growth hormone receptor antagonist Pegvisomant	Acromegaly	2003	Pfizer
Macugen®	PEG-anti-VEGF aptamer, Pegabtanib	Age-related macula degeneration	2004	Pfizer
Mircera®	PEG-Erythropoietin beta	Anemia associated with chronic kidney disease	2007	Hoffman-La Roche
Cimzia®	PEG-Certolizumab	Rheumatoid arthritis, Crohn's disease, Axial spondyloarthritis and psoriatic arthritis	2008	Nektar/UCB Pharma
^b Krystexxa [®]	PEG-Uricase, Pegloticase	Gout	2010	Savient
^{b,c} Omontys [®]	PEG-Erythropoietin-mimetic peptide, Peginesatide	Anemia associated with chronic kidney disease	2012	Affymax/ Takeda
Plegridy®	PEG-Interferon beta-1a	Relapsing forms of multiple sclerosis	2014	Biogen
Adynovi [®] /Adynovate [®]	PEG-recombinant Factor VIII Antihemophilic Factor	Hemophilia A	2015	Baxalta
Refixia [®] /Rebinyn [®]	PEG-recombinant Factor IX Antihemophilic Factor	Hemophilia B	2017	Novo Nordisk
^a Revcovi TM	Elapegademase	Severe combined immunodeficiency disease (SCID)	2018	Leadient Biosciences
^a Asparlas TM	Calaspargase pegol	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia	2018	Servier
Palynzig TM	PEG-Phenylalanine ammonia- lyase, Pegvaliase-pqpz	Phenyl-ketonuria	2018	Biomarin
Jivi®	PEG recombinant Factor VIII antihemophilic factor	Hemophilia A	2018	Bayer

Table 1. Regulatory	approved PEG	ylated Biop	harmaceuticals.	(based on data	from ref. 11, 12)
	1 1			\ \		/

^aUS-approved only. ^{b,c}Withdrawn from marketing in ^bEU or ^cUS.

Generally, PEG is regarded as an inert and safe excipient and is approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and European Medicine Agency (EMA) for the use in foods, cosmetics and pharmaceuticals. Within recent years, however, PEG's image as nonimmunogenic macromolecule has been challenged by numerous reports on anti-PEG antibodies in clinic, that diminished the initial benefits of PEGylation, in some cases even leading to a neutralized therapeutic effect. Therefore, many alternative polymers for half-life extension of biopharmaceuticals are currently investigated.

In this work, polyglycerol (PG) is evaluated as alternative polymer to PEG on different therapeutic proteins and peptides, with the aim of disclosing differences in hydrodynamic size, stability, and activity between PGylated and PEGylated biopharmaceuticals, followed by an *in vivo* comparison on half-life extension and prolonged therapeutic activity.

2 Theoretical Background

2.1 Concept of Half-Life Extension through PEGylation

2.1.1 Half-Life Extension of Biopharmaceuticals

Half-life extension is one of the key technologies to generate sufficient blood levels of therapeutic proteins and peptides with a molecular mass below 50 kDa, including enzymes, coagulation factors, cytokines, growth factors and hormones.¹ Upon subcutaneous injection, those molecules usually move through the extracellular matrix (ECM) of the hypodermis by diffusion and convection entering systemic circulation *via* lymphatic or blood capillaries.



Figure 1. Overview of different half-life extension strategies for therapeutic proteins (adapted with permission from ref. [1]). Protein structures are from protein data base (PDB-entry: 1ilr, 1ao6).

Intravenous application circumvents this pathway, as the therapeutic proteins are directly exposed to the blood stream followed by distribution into the respective tissues. Elimination typically occurs by renal filtration and proteolytic degradation in plasma or, after pinocytosismediated cell-uptake, in lysosomes. Of these, kidney elimination displays the largest dependance on the mass of therapeutic proteins.¹³ The general approach to reach half-life extension of biopharmaceuticals is to focus on an increase of the hydrodynamic volume to reduce renal clearance (Figure 1). Therefore, the therapeutic biomolecule of interest is covalently attached to synthetic polymers or recombinantly expressed as a fusion protein resulting in longer blood circulation. The latter approach additionally leverages the neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn)-mediated recycling mechanism, where proteins fused to an albumin-molecule or the Fc-part of an IgG antibody are able to escape from endosomal degradation and can subsequently be released again into the blood stream.¹⁴ Increase of negative charge (repulsion at negatively charged glomerular basement membrane) or replacement of degradation-prone amino acid residues can be pursued as well for half-life extension. Often several of these approaches are combined to exploit synergistic effects.¹⁵

2.1.2 Properties of PEG and its Impact on Biopharmaceuticals in vivo

Poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG), also called poly(ethylene oxide) (PEO), is a non-ionic macromolecule consisting of a polyether backbone and two functional end groups, which can be further modified (Figure 2). It is typically synthesized by anionic ring opening polymerization, initiated by the nucleophilic attack of a hydroxide ion on the monomer ethylene oxide ($M_w = 44$ g/mol), resulting in a bifunctional PEG-diol.¹⁶ For protein modification, monofunctional methoxy-PEG (mPEG) is typically used to avoid cross-linking being synthesized by the same method but with a methoxide ion as initiator. The residual end group can be further modified and serves as functional moiety for covalent linkage to the respective biomolecule. PEGs employed for the modification of therapeutic proteins usually display a low dispersity (< 1.1)¹⁶ and are used in linear or branched architectures,¹⁷ with molecular weights between 2–40 kDa.¹¹

Due to its high biocompatibility and low toxicity, PEG is generally regarded as safe and turned into one of the most frequent used excipients in drug delivery and pharmaceutical formulations. Also termed as macrogols, PEGs are listed in all main pharmacopoeias (United States, European and Japanese Pharmacopoeia) and are approved for the use in oral, topical and intravenous formulations. Depending on the molecular weight, PEGs can serve as stabilizers in liquid formulations, as binders and plasticizers in solid dosage forms or as base in creams and ointments.¹⁸ Furthermore, PEG-based surfactants are applied for the stabilization of protein pharmaceuticals against aggregation and surface adsorption (Polysorbate: Tween[®]-20, Tween[®]-80) or as block-copolymer (Poloxamer 407, 188, Pluronic[®]) in the production of pharmaceuticals and cosmetics (Figure 2).¹⁹



Figure 2. Structural overview of water-associated PEG and some of its employed forms in industry.

Covalent conjugation of PEG to liposomes or other nanocarriers leads to PEG's wellknown stealth effect, which prevents interaction with plasma proteins and macrophages, thereby enhancing circulation time, biocompatibility and targeting of drugs.^{18,20} Furthermore, PEG shows amphiphilic properties and is soluble in water and many organic solvents, therefore enhancing the solubility of many poorly soluble compounds.²¹ Two structural components are responsible for this ambivalent behavior: ethylene groups represent the hydrophobic moiety, whereas the oxygen groups of PEG reflect hydrophilic properties (Figure 2). The presence of oxygen atoms is also responsible for the formation of a highly stable hydration layer around PEG, that usually consists of two to three water molecules per monomer unit, and results in a highly flexible polymer chain.²² The oxygen spacing of the PEG backbone thereby nearly matches the hydrogen bonding of water and plays an important role in water solubility, as PEG's two "chemical neighbors", poly(methylene glycol) and poly(propylene glycol) are insoluble in water.²²

Large PEGs up to a molecular weight of 50 kDa are pre-dominantly cleared without structural change *in vivo* by the urine, whereas at higher molecular weights, non-specific cell uptake, metabolism in the liver and clearance *via* feces also play a role.^{23–25} The glomerular filtration barrier is considered to allow the passage of molecules smaller than 50–70 kDa in weight and 3–5 nm in size.²⁶ Although glomerular permeability is often related only to the molecular weight of a hydrophilic macromolecule, one should bear in mind that other parameters like charge, shape and size play a significant role as well.⁴ For example, in the case of 30 kDa PEG with a diameter of about 8 nm, its high flexibility still enables filtration, despite its size being larger than the kidney pore size.²⁷



Figure 3. Impact of PEGylation on biopharmaceuticals.²⁸

Upon conjugation to biopharmaceuticals, PEG drastically increases the hydrodynamic size and thereby reduces the glomerular filtration rate in the kidneys leading to an extended circulation time, a prolonged therapeutic effect, and a reduced dosing frequency (Figure 3).²⁸ One of the most prominent examples of that effect is probably the PEGylated form of Interferon- α 2a (IFN- α 2a, PEGASYS[®]). PEG-IFN displays only 7 % of initial bioactivity *in vitro* but led to a 50-fold extension of circulation half-life compared to the unmodified protein and therefore resulted in an extended therapeutic activity as well.²⁹ This phenomenon can be observed also for other PEGylated proteins like G-CSF³⁰ or TNF- α .³¹

Another major benefit introduced by PEGylation is its ability to alterate the immunogenic properties of proteins.²⁸ Due to their often non-human origin, many biopharmaceuticals are highly immunogenic and impede therapeutic usage. PEG is known to sterically shield immunogenic epitopes of proteins and to thereby prevent activation of macrophages, dendritic or other antigen-presenting cells of the immune system (Figure 3). The result is a protein-conjugate with better "acceptance" of the body, as immune response is diminished. This effect can be exemplarily observed in the case of PEGylated uricase. Humans and higher primates lack the enzyme uricase which is essential in reducing uric acid levels, especially in the disease state of gout. As uricase is of non-human origin it displays high immunogenicity, which was avoided and reduced upon PEGylation.³² Additionally, PEGylation enhances proteolytic stability by its steric shielding effect on proteins towards metabolic enzymes thereby further extending overall half-life.²⁸

The physical stability of proteins can be positively affected by PEGylation. Conformational and colloidal stability are the two main thermodynamic factors that impact physical stability of proteins in solution. Conformational stability is characterized by the protein's free energy of unfolding (ΔG_{unfold}) and correlates with its melting temperature T_m .^{33,34} In most cases,

PEGylation increases the thermodynamic stability of proteins in solution.^{35–38} Furthermore, PEGylation can improve colloidal stability through reduced protein-protein interactions, reduced aggregation and increased solubility^{39,40} which prolongs the shelf-life and facilitates the storage of biopharmaceuticals.

2.1.3 PEGylation Chemistry

The covalent attachment of PEG to proteins can be achieved in a random- or site-selective manner using linear or branched PEGs, typically in the molecular weight range of 2–40 kDa. An overview of coupling chemistries of approved PEGylated biopharmaceuticals can be found in Table 2.

PEGylated Drug [Mw in kDa]	PEG-Mw [No. of PEG/ Protein]	PEG-Architecture/ PEG-Linker	Modification Site [Resulting Linker Structure]
Pegademase (Adagen [®]) [96–126]	5 kDa [11–17]	linear/mPEG-SS	ε-amino groups of lysine residues [amide]
Pegaspargase (Oncaspar [®]) [483–548]	5 kDa [69-82]	linear/mPEG-SS	ε-amino groups of lysine residues [amide]
PEG-Interferon α-2b (PegIntron [®]) [31]	12 kDa [1]	linear/mPEG-SC	mixture of several isomers: his ^{7,34} , several lys, cys ¹ , ser ¹⁶³ , tyr ¹²⁹ [amide]
PEG-Interferon α-2a (Pegasys [®]) [60]	40 kDa [1]	branched via lysine moiety/mPEG-NHS	ε-amino groups of lysine residues [amide]
Pegfilgrastim (Neulasta [®]) [39]	20 kDa [1]	linear/mPEG- propionaldehyde	N-terminal α-amino group [sec. amine]
Pegvisomant (Somavert [®]) [42–52]	5 kDa [4–6]	linear/mPEG-NHS	ε-amino groups of lysine residues [amide]
Pegabtanib (Macugen [®]) [50]	40 kDa [1]	branched via lysine moiety/mPEG-NHS	amine at the 5'end [amide]
PEG-EPO beta (Mircera [®]) [60]	30 kDa [1]	linear/mPEG-NHS	ε-amino groups of lysine residues [amide]
PEG-Certolizumab (Cimzia [®]) [91]	40 kDa [1]	branched <i>via</i> lysine/mPEG-mal	cysteine residue [thioether]
Pegloticase (Krystexxa®) [~545]	10 kDa [40.8 on avg.]	linear/mPEG-pNPC	ε-amino groups of lysine residues [amide]
Peginesatide (Omontys [®]) [45]	40 kDa [1]	branched via lysine moiety/mPEG-NHS	sec. amine on linker between the peptide-dimer [amide]
PEG-Interferon beta-1a (Plegridy [®]) [44]	20 kDa [1]	linear/mPEG-O2- propionaldehyde	<i>N</i> -terminal α-amino group [sec. amine]
PEG-Factor VIII (Adynovate [®]) [330]	20 kDa [2 on avg.]	branched via glycerol moiety/mPEG-NHS	ε-amino groups of lysine residues on B domain [amide]
PEG-Factor IX (Refixia®/Rebinyn®) [98]	40 kDa [1]	linear/PEG- conjugation by enzyme	N-linked glycans [-]

Table 2. Overview of coupling chemistries of approved PEGylated biopharmaceuticals.

Elapegademase (Revcovi TM) [115]	5.6 kDa [13]	linear/mPEG-SC	ε-amino groups of lysine residues [amide]
Calaspargase pegol (Asparlas TM) [~313]	5 kDa [31–39]	linear/mPEG-SC	ε-amino groups of lysine residues [amide]
Pegvaliase-pqpz (Palynzig TM) [~1,000]	20 kDa [32–36]	linear/mPEG-NHS	ε-amino groups of lysine residues [amide]
PEG Factor VIII (Jivi [®]) [234]	60 kDa [1]	branched /mPEG- maleimide	genetically engineered cysteine (K1804C) in A3 domain [thioether]

Data adapted from ref. 11, 12, 41, 42, 43 or public available sources (EU: European public assessment reports and Summary of Product Characteristics). For further references, see text. M_w: molecular weight; avg: average.

2.1.3.1 First Generation PEGylation

First generation PEGs are mainly used for random PEGylation by targeting amine groups of lysine residues utilizing linear PEGs with a molecular weight < 12 kDa.¹⁶ Lysine residues are one of the most abundant amino acids found in proteins therefore enabling an easy approach with high yields. Drawbacks include a drastic decrease of bioactivity, unstable linkages and challenges in purification and analysis of these conjugates which impede batch-to-batch reproducibility or subsequent approval of the respective PEGylated protein.⁴⁴

The activated PEG typically carries an electrophilic group that can be attacked by nucleophilic amine groups. The most widely used first generation PEGs belong to the group of carbonates (Figure 4: **3a-3d** and **4**),⁴⁵ which form a carbamate/urethane linkage upon reaction with a lysine. Out of these, PEG-succinimidyl carbonate (PEG-SC, **3a**)⁴⁶ and PEG-*p*-nitrophenyl carbonate (PEG-pNPC, **3c**) were employed in the synthesis of several approved PEGylated proteins. Furthermore, PEG-succinimidyl succinate (PEG-SS, **5a**)⁴⁷ can be used which is, however, highly prone to hydrolysis at neutral pH due to its ester bond.⁴⁸ Unstable linkers can be a problem, as they can serve as a new hapten on the protein surface thereby enhancing immunogenicity, which has been demonstrated already for PEG-asparaginase.⁴⁹ PEG-dichlorotriazine (**1**) or PEG-tresylate (**2**) result in a stable, secondary amine linkage but are rarely used anymore due to toxicity or unspecific conjugation leading to a mixture of products.²⁸

2.1.3.2 Second Generation PEGylation

Second generation PEGs consist of higher molecular weight (> 12 kDa) and are methoxycapped on one end (mPEG). They display a higher linker stability, higher coupling selectivity and are employed in linear and branched architectures. Branched, y-shaped PEG reagents can



Amine PEGylation

Figure 4. Overview of chemistries for amine PEGylation. Protein structure: PDB-entry 1ilr.

be generated, e.g., based on a lysine core and are more effective in reducing antigenicity, immunogenicity, and proteolysis than their linear analogs.⁵⁰ The following section provides an overview of second-generation PEG-chemistry.

Second Generation PEGs for Amine Modification

A more selective targeting of amine groups can be achieved using mPEG-*N*-hydroxy succinimide (Figure 4, mPEG-NHS, **5b**) or mPEG-propionaldehyde (Figure 4, mPEG-CHO, **6**). Methoxy-PEG-NHS is an improved variant to the initially used carbonate and succinate PEGs, leading to a more stable amide bond.⁵¹ Control of reactivity and modification site can be achieved through adjustment of the spacer between the PEG backbone and the NHS-moiety,⁵² where propionic- and butanoic-spacers are typically used. Half of all approved PEGylated products contain mPEG-NHS-based coupling chemistry (Table 2).

Another more selective approach is the employment of mPEG-propional dehyde for conjugation to the *N*-terminal α -amino group. In this so-called reductive a mination approach the electrophilic aldehyde group of mPEG is attacked by an amine residue to form an imine bond, which is *in situ* reduced by a mild reducing agent like NaCNBH₃ (Figure 5). The result is a stable secondary amine linkage. In contrast to amide formation, this coupling strategy retains the charge properties of the native protein.⁵³ The control of attachment site can be achieved through pH adjustment, as the pk_a values between the *N*-terminal α -amino group (\approx 6–9) and the lysine ε -amino groups (\approx 10.5) differ therefore resulting in lower reactivity of the latter at acidic pH.^{54,55} This technique has been employed for the approved drugs PEGfilgrastim (Neulasta[®])⁵⁶ and PEG-IFN beta-1a (Plegridy[®]).⁵⁷



Figure 5. *N*-terminal ligation of a protein *via* reductive amination. The relative selectivity is achieved at acidic pH through differences in pk_a -values between ε -amino side chain groups (lysine) and the *N*-terminal α -amino group. Protein structure: PDB-entry 1ilr.

Second Generation PEGs for Thiol-Modification

Thiol groups at cysteines are one of the most attractive target residues for site-specific PEGylation, as cysteines are rarely present in proteins. PEGs used for this purpose include mPEG-maleimide (Figure 6, mPEG-mal, 7a), mPEG-vinylsulfone (mPEG-VS, 7b), mPEG-



Figure 6. Overview of chemistries for thiol PEGylation (left) and site-specific PEGylation (right). uAA: unnatural amino acid.

iodoacetamide (mPEG-IA, **7c**) and PEG-*ortho*pyridyldisulfide (mPEG-OPSS, **8**). mPEG-mal (**7a**) is the most used reagent for thiol-modification and results in formation of a stable thioether linkage at slightly acidic pH. mPEG-IA and mPEG-VS are less reactive and specific and display coupling to lysine-residues as well (mPEG-VS). MPEG-OPSS can be employed to yield a stable disulfide linker, which is cleavable in a reductive environment.¹⁶ Unfortunately, due to its hydrophobicity, many cysteines are buried inside the protein structure and are therefore not accessible for polymer conjugation. Cysteines can also be introduced to the protein by genetical engineering. However, care must be taken in its downstream processing and handling to prevent dimer formation *via* disulfide bridges. Several proteins and peptides have already been successfully PEGylated by thiol-maleimide coupling^{58–60} with certolizumab Pegol (Cimzia[®]) and PEG-Factor VIII (Jivi[®]) being approved.⁶¹

Site-specific PEGylation by Azide-Alkine Cycloaddition

To enable absolute site-specificity and control of the polymer attachment site, unnatural amino acids (uAA) can be incorporated into a protein sequence, which carry functional groups that are only able to react with the corresponding "pair" on the polymer side. A major advantage of this strategy is that the conjugation site can be exceeded without drastically impairing the protein's bioactivity. A way to achieve this is by employing Cu(I)-catalyzed (CuAAC, Figure 6, **9c**) or strain-promoted azide-alkyne cycloaddition (SpAAC, **9a**, **9b**). PEGylation of azide-modified human growth hormone (hGH) has already been demonstrated *via* SpAAC,⁶² whereas Tamshen *et al.* followed a *vice versa* approach (Figure 7), where hGH was expressed as a propargyl-tyrosine variant and linked to PEG-azide under Cu-catalysis.⁶³ Other biomolecules have been PEGylated with

a similar strategy^{64,65} demonstrating the great versatility of this approach. However, sitespecific coupling is not always feasible or leads to low yields, which makes this technology so far limited to the lab-scale.⁴⁴



Figure 7. Site-specific PEGylation of human growth hormone *via* CuAAC. Reprinted with permission from ref. [63]. Copyright 2020, American Chemical Society.

Site-specific enzymatic PEGylation

For enzymatic PEGylation, the protein molecule is modified with a specific genetically encoded tag, that is recognized from the respective enzyme. The latter then catalyzes ligation of the PEG-substrate that carries a certain biorthogonal functional group.⁶⁶ The enzyme sortase uses an amino acid sequence (LPXTG) on the protein as recognition motif subsequently reacting with a polyglycine-terminated molecule⁶⁷ and has already been successfully applied for PEGylation of IFN- α 2a and G-CSF.⁶⁸ Another enzyme for PEGylation is transglutaminase (TGase), that catalyzes an acyl transfer reaction between the γ -carboxamide group of glutamine residues and the primary amine groups of proteins or synthetic polymers.⁴³ Different variants of TGase exist, which impact reaction selectivity towards different glutamine residues⁶⁹ therefore demanding the appropriate enzyme form for site-specific PEGylation. Other enzymes include formylglycine generating enzyme, farnesyltransferase and sialyltransferase for glycoPEGylation.⁴³ The first approved PEG-protein generated by enzymatic PEGylation is Rebinyn[®]/Refixia[®], a PEGylated recombinant blood coagulation factor IX.

2.1.4 Limitations and Drawbacks of PEG

2.1.4.1 Quality of PEGs, Impurities and Stability Issues

Despite its broad use, PEG also bears some disadvantages that may be problematic for its use in medical applications. PEGs are characterized by a certain polydispersity (M_w/M_n) which ranges from 1.01 (PEGs < 5 kDa) to 1.1 (PEGs > 50 kDa).^{16,70} Despite approaches towards monodispersed PEG, dispersity must still be seen as a critical quality attribute for process control of manufacturing PEG-protein conjugates, as batch-to-batch variability may occur.

Another important aspect regards impurities and potentially toxic moieties involved during the synthesis of PEG. The gaseous monomer ethylene oxide employed for PEG-polymerization is toxic. Furthermore, a prominent impurity formed during synthesis is 1,4-dioxane, the cyclic dimer of ethylene oxide, which is classified as "possibly carcinogenic in humans" by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC).²⁰ Additionally, mPEG, that is mainly used in the approved PEGylated biopharmaceuticals, contains up to 15 % of diol PEG which results from trace amounts of water during synthesis.¹⁶ This could lead to cross linking of the respective conjugates and therefore demands purification of the PEG-reagent prior to protein conjugation. PEG also needs to be activated for protein functionalization which may create impurities that impact conjugate synthesis and stability within the final product.⁷¹ Using a suitable initiator and/or termination reagent during polymerization circumvents this, however, demanding the validation of a new synthetic process.

Moreover, by-products formed during storage need to be considered, as they can alter properties of the protein drug. Due to its ether linkages, PEG is susceptible to form peroxides upon high-temperature treatment or light exposure leading to chain scission and increased polydispersity.⁷² This is not only limited to PEG, but has also been reported for ethylene glycol-based surfactants like polysorbate, which is often used in commercial protein formulations.⁷³ PEGs are therefore recommended to be stored light-protected, under an inert atmosphere (argon, nitrogen) and at lower temperatures (below –15 °C).⁷² Impurities related to PEG need to be avoided and continuously monitored by a variety of analytical techniques to ensure a reproducible PEGylation process, high product quality and safety for the patient.⁷⁴

In *in vivo* surroundings, PEG shows relatively high stability which is not always desired especially when it comes to metabolism and elimination. Once the PEG portion is cleaved from the protein drug, it follows fast elimination *via* the kidney/urine (< 30 kDa) or non-specific uptake into cells *via* pinocytosis for larger PEGs.²⁵ Due to the non-biodegradability and the lack of mammalian etherase, PEG might persist in cell vacuoles for up to 2 months, which was assumed for PEGylated TNF.⁷⁵ Furthermore PEG-induced vacuolation has been reported for several organs of different animal species with no clinical manifestations or relevant toxicities so far being observed, even in the case of larger vacuoles.^{76,77} However, these reports demand an even more critical evaluation regarding the safety of a PEGylated protein drug.

2.1.4.2 Anti-PEG Antibodies and Immunogenicity

Generally, PEG is seen as a non-toxic, non-immunogenic and biocompatible polymer. However, the recent two decades have unraveled some findings about PEG that were thought to be negligible. Already in the 1980s, Richter, *et al.* reported the prevalence of antibodies (Abs) against PEG in healthy individuals (0.2 %, 1984),⁷⁸ which continuously increased within the last decades to 27 % (Armstrong, *et al.*, 2003)⁷⁹ and 72 % (Yang, *et al.*, 2016)⁸⁰ (Figure 8). It is speculated that the continuous exposure to PEG and PEG-based surfactants in daily



Figure 8. Evolution of anti-PEG antibodies among the healthy population.^{78–80}

household and cosmetic products could lead to the formation of Abs, but the mechanism behind is not yet fully understood.⁸¹ Those antibodies are not necessarily linked to a neutralizing effect in PEGylated therapies,⁴⁹ but could play a role in some cases of hypersensitivity reactions (HSR) upon treatment with PEGylated drugs.⁸² IgE-mediated⁸³ and non-IgE-mediated (pseudoallergic)⁸⁴ HSRs against PEG-containing products have been observed in a few number of cases. Rare anaphylactic reactions reported for the new SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccine by BioNTech-Pfizer might be attributed to the 2 kDa PEG-moieties located on the surface of their lipid nanoparticle formulation, which led to the general recommendation to exclude patients with a history of immediate-type hypersensitivity against PEG or PEG-similar excipients (e.g., Polysorbate 80) from vaccination, until further information is available.⁸⁵

Anti-PEG Antibodies (Abs) have also been reported for PEGylated proteins in clinic and were associated with a loss of therapeutic efficacy,⁸⁶ for example in the case of Pegloticase (PEG-Uricase).^{87,88} Rapid drug clearance of PEG-asparaginase was correlated with the formation of anti-PEG Abs^{49,89} where the PEG-protein linker might affect the immune response. For example, bulky aromatic or heterocyclic groups can promote antibody formation against PEG.⁹⁰ Furthermore, different linker structures can result in a different antibody response, as demonstrated for PEG-asparaginase.^{49,91} An accelerated blood clearance (ABC) phenomenon induced by anti-PEG Abs has further been widely reported for repeated injections of PEGylated nanoparticles (for detailed reviews see ref. 92 and 93) and was also described for PEGylated ovalbumin, where the IgM-subtype was a major contributor for ABC.⁹⁴ Interestingly, anti-PEG Abs induced by PEGylated liposomes did not lead to ABC of PEGylated ovalbumin, but *vice versa*, suggesting a high specificity for IgM anti-PEG Abs.

Typically, 3–6 oxyethylene groups of PEG are needed to bind to its anti-PEG antibody.^{95,96} Studies on antibody specificity in rabbits revealed an impact of end-group hydrophobicity on the immunogenicity of PEG, following the order of tert-butoxy-PEG (t-PEG) > mPEG > OH-PEG. Larger end group hydrophobicity led to the formation of an additional antibody population which displayed relatively higher selectivity to the PEG end group than to its backbone. In the case of OH-PEG, only anti-PEG Abs against PEG-backbone were observed.^{97,98}

The mechanism behind anti-PEG Abs formation is still not fully understood. In general, one must distinguish between PEGylated nanoparticles, that usually carry a higher PEG density on their surface, and PEGylated proteins, where ~2/3 of the approved drugs bear only one or two PEG chains per protein. Ishida *et al.* suggested a T-cell independent (TI) mechanism for anti-PEG IgM antibody formation of PEGylated liposomes. Thereby, the PEG-coated

liposomes act as a T-cell independent type 2 (TI-2) antigen, that usually correlates with the presence of repetitive structures like polysaccharides,⁹⁹ and is recognized by marginal zone B-cells in the spleen that lead to formation of anti-PEG IgM antibodies.¹⁰⁰ A similar mechanism has been supported for PEGylated proteins by Kloos *et al.*, who suggest that the ethylene oxide repeating units of PEG could serve as TI-2 antigen for IgM-induction.⁴⁹ Other findings by Mima *et al.* propose a distinct mechanism of antibody formation between PEGylated proteins (in their case PEGylated ovalbumin) and PEGylated liposomes by employing the hapten-carrier system. They argue that PEG serves as a hapten that only elicitates immune response upon conjugation to a carrier in a T-cell dependent (ovalbumin as carrier) or T-cell independent (liposome as carrier) manner.⁹⁴

Further studies need to be done to elucidate the mechanisms behind anti-PEG antibody formation and its clinical relevance. To avoid vanishing of the initial benefits introduced by PEGylation, routine screening on pre-existing anti-PEG Abs could be employed to survey clearance and therapeutic efficacy and might also be a helpful tool in deciding for non-PEGylated alternative therapies.⁸⁹ Other studies suggest the pre-treatment with free PEG to prevent neutralization by anti-PEG antibodies.¹⁰¹

2.1.4.3 Reduced Affinity and Activity of Biomolecules

Upon PEG-conjugation, many proteins and peptides display a reduced receptor affinity and bioactivity *in vitro*. The decrease in activity upon PEGylation correlates with 1) an increase in PEG molecular weight, 2) a higher number of attached PEGs, 3) randomly attached PEGs, 4) linear PEG architecture (compared to branched). Steric hindrance plays the main role in this mechanism, as PEG behaves like a highly flexible coil which shields active protein sites from interaction with their receptor.⁷⁰ However, a reduction in receptor affinity can be balanced by a prolonged circulation time, which leads to an overall extension of therapeutic activity. For example, PEGylated IFN- α 2a displays only an *in vitro* activity of 5–10 % but a significantly extended antitumor effect *in vivo*, compared to the unmodified protein.²⁹

Better control of activity can be gained by a site-specific PEGylation approach supported by computational studies to unravel protein sites located further away from the active binding pocket. Tamshen and co-workers found superior activity of site-specific mono-PEGylates of human growth hormone (hGH) compared to the commercial random- and multi-PEGylated PEGvisomant.⁶³ Similar results were obtained from Basu *et al.* for mono-PEGylated IFNβ-1b.³⁹ Furthermore, PEG architecture plays a role in bioactivity, where branched PEGs seem to perform better than their linear analogs.⁵⁰ The type and number of PEG-molecules used for modification should therefore be considered when designing a PEGylated biopharmaceutical.

2.1.4.4 Effect on Protein Stability and Viscosity

PEGylation of proteins can lead to a decrease in thermodynamic stability. For example, Plesner *et al.* have found an ~2 °C lower T_m for PEGylated bovine serum albumin (BSA), compared to the unmodified protein. Interestingly, the length of PEG had no significant effect on T_m -values of PEGylated BSA.¹⁰² Similarly, a decrease in melting stability has been found for PEGylated lysozyme¹⁰³ and myoglobin.¹⁰⁴ Additionally, PEG bears a high solution viscosity due to chain entanglement at high concentrations, which increases in a molecular weightdependent manner.¹⁰⁵ This can impede certain manufacturing processes as well as limit its applicability for the injection of high-concentrated protein-formulations.

2.2 Analytical Techniques for the Characterization of PEG-Protein Conjugates

2.2.1 Sodium-dodecylsulfate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

SDS-PAGE is a relatively easy technique to monitor the reaction process and the purity of PEG-protein conjugates. The principle relies on the mass-based separation of denatured protein molecules in an electric field, with the negatively charged surfactant SDS surrounding the protein moieties enabling their migration towards the anode. A typical SDS-gel consists of a stacking gel (loading and up-concentration of the samples) and a subsequent separation gel. The latter separates the samples solely depending on their molecular weight and is stained thereafter by Coomassie or silver staining to visualize the protein bands. In the case of PEGylated proteins, the PEG-portion can also be stained by a protocol involving barium iodide.¹⁰⁶

Care must be taken in the interpretation of the molecular weight when employing a protein standard molecular weight ladder. The mobility of PEG-conjugates in the gel is always slightly diminished, which is possibly due to interference between SDS and the PEG-part of the conjugate thereby slowing down the migration in the gel.^{106,107} Furthermore, the dispersity of polymers sometimes creates smeared bands, which might impede distinguishing different species on the gel.

2.2.2 Size-exclusion Chromatography (SEC)

Size-exclusion chromatography is employed to determine purity and molecular weight of macromolecular species in solution. Separation in SEC is based on the hydrodynamic size of a macromolecule and its distinct permeation/diffusion through the pores of a stationary phase (dextran- or polystyrene-based) being monitored by refractive index- or UV-detection.¹⁰⁸ Large molecules are excluded more from the pores therefore eluting earlier than smaller moieties, which allows the determination of the distribution coefficient K_{av} (= (V_R-V₀)/(V_c-V₀)), where V_R, V₀, and V_c represent elution volume of the analyte, void volume, and the total column bed volume, respectively. The Kav of reference standards can be plotted against their molecular weights to create a calibration curve, where the molecular weight of the unknown analyte is determined.¹⁰⁹ Upon PEG-conjugation, a drastic increase in hydrodynamic size is usually observed shifting the elution in SEC to earlier time points. However, the molecular weight cannot be directly derived from a pure protein or PEG calibration curve, as PEGylated proteins behave as "hybrid" forms.¹⁰⁹ In this case, SEC needs to be coupled to other detectors, (multiangle light scattering (MALS), MS-detector) to determine the absolute molecular weight. Furthermore, SEC can be employed to determine and predict the hydrodynamic radii of PEGylated proteins, where a column-specific, universal calibration curve is used.^{109,110}

2.2.3 Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS)

Dynamic light scattering is a possible technique to determine the hydrodynamic size of PEGylated proteins. It measures the intensity fluctuations of scattered monochromatic light, which are caused by the size-based diffusion of particles in solution (Brownian motion) over a certain time.¹¹¹ The diffusion depends on solution temperature (T), solution viscosity (η) and the size of the macromolecular particles (R_h), with larger molecules diffusing more slowly therefore displaying less fluctuations. Digital correlation of the intensity fluctuations in regard to time (ns-µs) allows the determination of the translational diffusion coefficient D_{τ} , which can be further used to calculate the hydrodynamic radius R_h following the Stokes-Einstein equation:

$$D_{\tau} = \frac{k_B T}{6\pi\eta R_h}$$

2.2.4 Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

ELISA is a method to quantify and detect a specific substance, often an antigen, in a complex sample. The antigen of interest is typically coated either directly or by employing a

specific capture antibody on a microplate at basic pH.¹¹² An enzyme-labeled, primary detection antibody is added and forms an antigen-antibody complex which leads to enzyme-mediated colour formation upon addition of a substrate and can be detected in a microplate reader (direct ELISA, Figure 9A). The enzyme can also be attached to a secondary detection antibody, that



Figure 9. Overview of different ELISA methods.

binds to the Fc-part of the primary antibody to increase specificity (indirect ELISA, Figure 9B). More complex samples are analyzed by a "sandwich ELISA", where the antigen is captured by an immobilized antibody and subsequently detected by addition of the primary antibody and the enzyme-labeled secondary antibody (Figure 9C).¹¹² Another approach employs competitive binding of an immobilized antigen and the same antigen in an analytical sample, where colour formation is suppressed when the free antigen is present (competitive ELISA, Figure 9D). A modified version of the latter was used to detect the cross-reactivity of anti-PEG-antibodies towards other synthetic macromolecules.¹¹³

ELISA is an important tool to detect anti-PEG antibodies and to determine the immunogenicity of PEGylated proteins, even though the lack of reference sera and standardized assay procedures still impede data assessment.¹¹⁴ Furthermore, the *in vivo* half-life of a PEGylated protein is typically determined by ELISA through quantification of the remaining analyte in blood samples from different time points.

2.3 Alternative Macromolecules for Half-Life Extension

The following chapter provides an overview of PEG-alternative macromolecules for the half-life extension of biopharmaceuticals.



Figure 10. Overview of synthetic PEG-alternative macromolecules for half-life extension discussed in this thesis.

2.3.1 Non-degradable synthetic Polymers

2.3.1.1 Polyglycerol (PG)

Synthesis of end-functional linear Polyglycerol (LPG)

Linear Polyglycerol (also named polyglycidol) is a water-soluble and highly hydrophilic polymer, consisting of a polyether backbone with methyl hydroxy groups on the side chain. It

can be generated in various architectures, such as linear, hyperbranched (HPG) or dendronized brush-type (denPG), to name just a few (Figure 11B).^{115,116} LPG is typically synthesized in a three-step process, that involves (1) protection of the glycidol monomer with ethyl vinyl ether to yield ethoxyethyl glycidyl ether (EEGE), (2) anionic ring opening polymerization (AROP) and (3) acidic deprotection (Figure 11A). It is important to protect the monomer hydroxyl groups prior to polymerization to avoid proton transition and gain better control over polymerization.¹¹⁵ Various glycidol derivatives have already been exploited as monomers for polymerization that allow the introduction of different backbone-functionalities or -architectures.^{116,117} However, due to the facile acidic deprotection under mild conditions, EEGE is mostly used.



Figure 11. A) Synthetic scheme for linear polyglycerol (LPG). B) Different architectures of PG for potential conjugation to biopharmaceuticals. The size and molecular flexibility decrease with more rigid, branched polymer structures.

A major advantage is that glycidyl ethers are liquid and therefore easier to handle than the gaseous, toxic ethylene oxide (EO), which is employed as monomer in the synthesis of PEG.¹¹⁷ Alkali metal alkoxides or ammonium salts typically serve as initiators and are often combined with activators like triisobutyl aluminum (*i*-Bu₃Al). The latter increases the reactivity of the monomer towards nucleophiles and simultaneously reduces the basicity of the growing chain end thereby preventing transfer reactions of protons adjacent to the oxirane ring, which usually limit the final molecular weight to around 30 kDa.¹¹⁷

To enable a more controlled polymer conjugation toward therapeutic proteins, endfunctional polymers are desired that enable further modification with linkers or direct coupling to the respective biomolecule. Gervais *et al.* employed tetraoctylammonium bromide as initiator to synthesize end-functionalized LPG-Br with molecular weights (M_n) up to 85 kDa and dispersities (M_w/M_n) below 1.3. Higher molecular weights were thereby achieved by increasing the [*i*-Bu₃Al]/[initiator] ratio up to 5.^{118,119} The same authors also reported tetrabutylammonium azide as initiator to directly enable mono-functional LPG-N₃,^{119,120} which can be additionally modified or directly used for bioconjugation. Further reduction of LPG-N₃ yields LPG-NH₂ to allow the introduction of functional moieties (e.g., aldehyde-linker) for site-directed protein modification. Alternative mono-LPGs have been described in literature including LPG-NH₂,^{121,122} -SH,^{122,123} -propargyl¹²⁴ or -vinylsulfonate.¹²⁵

Biocompatibility, Conformation and Applications on Protein Delivery

Polyglycerol can be generally considered as a biocompatible and non-toxic polymer. It is approved as non-ionic surfactant (oligoglycerol-monoesters of fatty acids) by regulatory authorities to be used as pharma and food additive since several decades.¹²⁶ Early studies by the Brooks group examined the blood compatibility of polyglycerol (M_w ~6 kDa) with linear or hyperbranched architectures. They found no significant effects on blood coagulation and complement activation up to concentrations of 44 mg/mL and 20 mg/mL, respectively. Furthermore, no significant increase in blood viscosity or aggregation of red blood cells was observed,¹²⁷ which was similarly confirmed for hyperbranched polyglycerols (HPG) of very high molecular weights (M_n: 540 kDa, 871 kDa).¹²⁸ Another interesting study of the Kizhakkedathu group compared LPG, HPG and PEG of similar molecular weights (M_w: 100–120 kDa) regarding their biocompatibility *in vitro* and circulation time *in vivo*.¹²⁹ No significant impact on complement activation, blood coagulation parameters or red blood cell (RBC) aggregation was found for LPG and HPG (max. tested concentration: 10 mg/mL)



Figure 12. Optical micrograph analysis of red blood cells after incubation with polymers for 1 h at 37 °C, compared to control. Final polymer concentrations: 1 or 10 mg/mL. A) LPG-100, B) HPG-100. C) PEG-100. D) Buffer control. Reprinted from ref. [129]. Copyright 2012, with permission from Elsevier.

(Figure 12A/B). In contrast, PEG led to platelet and complement activation, cell death and severe aggregation of RBCs at 10 mg/ml (Figure 12C). Furthermore, it displayed a much higher intrinsic viscosity than LPG or HPG, which is of disadvantage in applying highly concentrated drug formulations.¹²⁹ Despite its small hydrodynamic size, the blood circulation time of LPG in mice was considerably longer than that of other linear polymers, including PEG, suggesting a promising potential for LPG as tool for half-life extension of therapeutic proteins. The authors attributed this to the more compact and less flexible conformation of LPG exhibiting a very small frictional ratio (a parameter that defines shape of polymers), which resulted in lower glomerular permeability but longer vascular residence time.¹²⁹

A major problem reported for PEG conjugated to proteins or nanocarriers is the formation of antibodies, that vanish the initial benefits of PEGylation through a phenomenon termed as accelerated blood clearance (ABC). PEGylated liposomes exhibit ABC, that, however, strongly depends on dosing regimen, PEG-density and other factors.⁹³ PG bears protein-resistant properties with a similar stealth effect to PEG.^{126,130,131} Studies by Abu Lila *et al.* showed the prevention of ABC on liposomes¹³² and lipoplexes¹³³ when replacing the PEG-moiety with LPG which could be beneficial also to prevent the formation of anti-polymer antibodies for PEGylated proteins.

LPG has been conjugated so far to model proteins like bovine serume albumin (BSA) and lysozyme¹²¹. Additionally, a grafting-from approach employed BSA to synthesize linear PG-conjugates with controlled branching on its backbone.¹³⁴ Furthermore, PG-based nanogels (NG) were successfully applied in the field of protein delivery.^{135–137} Steinhilber *et al.* synthesized dendritic polyglycerol (dPG)-based nanogels for highly efficient encapsulation of asparaginase, that still showed full activity and structural integrity upon release.¹³⁵ Another study by Witting *et al.* described the synthesis of thermoresponsive PNIPAM-dPG nanogels for intraepidermal delivery of asparaginase, which was first encapsulated and successfully delivered in barrier deficient skin upon release at \geq 35 °C.¹³⁷ This further demonstrates the great versatility of PG-based systems as a tool for delivery of biopharmaceuticals.

2.3.1.2 Poly(2-oxazoline) (POx)

Polyoxazolines (POx) have been shown to be a promising polymer class for the use in medical applications and drug delivery systems.^{138–140} They are synthesized by cationic ring opening polymerization (CROP) employing an electrophilic initiator, like alkyl-tosylate or -triflate, which is added to the respective 2-oxazoline monomers in a dry organic solvent and under inert atmosphere (Figure 13).^{141,142} The polymerization is terminated by adding a

nucleophile, such as OH⁻, -NH⁻, -S⁻ or -COO⁻.¹⁴³ To shorten the reaction time a microwaveassisted synthesis of POx has been developed recently.¹⁴⁴ POx allows the introduction of sidechain functionalities to control solubility, thermal properties or targeting. Due to their similar



Figure 13. Synthetic scheme for cationic ring opening polymerization of poly(2-oxazolines).

chemical composition and the presence of a peptide bond per repeating unit, POx can also be regarded as pseudo-polypeptides.¹⁴⁵ For protein conjugation, 2-methyl-(PMeOx) and 2-ethyl-2-oxazolines (PEtOx) are mainly employed and described here in more detail.

PMeOx and PEtOx show a good hemocompatibility and cytotoxicity profile *in vitro*,^{146–148} with no significant accumulation in organs up to 30 kDa.^{149,150} POx did not induce antibody-formation in rabbits¹⁵¹ and prolonged the blood circulation of liposomes upon grafting, thereby suggesting a similar stealth behavior than PEG.^{152,153} With increasing chain length, differences in amphiphilicity can be observed where PMeOx displays a hydrophilicity similar to PEG, whereas PEtOx shows more hydrophobic character.¹⁴³ The hydrodynamic sizes of PMeOx and PEtOx in aqueous solution are similar, but slightly smaller compared to PEG, therefore suggesting a smaller extent of solvation for POx.^{143,154} Nevertheless, Gubarev *et al.* found a flexible, PEG-like conformation and rigidity for PEtOx in buffer.¹⁵⁵

Polyoxazolines have already been successfully conjugated to proteins like G-CSF,¹⁵⁶ EPO¹⁵⁷ or others¹⁵⁸ by employing random or site-selective (*N*-terminal, enzymatic) conjugation chemistry. Lühmann *et al.* employed bioorthogonal CuAAC to synthesize site-specific conjugates of interleukin-4 with PMeOx of 4 kDa.⁶⁵ Conjugation yields were higher than with the respective PEG of same molecular weight. The thermal stability upon conjugation was improved while the bioactivity of IL-4 *in vitro* was retained.

During the synthesis of POx, various side reactions can occur that result in high molecular weight impurities of up to 10 % with dispersities (\oplus) of >1.3, that are sometimes difficult to remove and can impede scale-up and reproducibility.¹⁴³ Under oxidative stress conditions, POx

is less stable than other linear polymers like PEG or PVP.^{159,160} Additionally, the amphiphilicity and comparably low cloud point in salt solutions could lead to higher aggregation, especially in the case of PEtOx, that could hamper further protein conjugation and decrease coupling yields.¹⁶¹ PEtOx displays slightly worse stealth characteristics compared to PEG, as demonstrated for the immunocamouflage of polymer-grafted blood cells.¹⁶² Additionally, accelerated blood clearance was found for POxylated liposomes upon repeated administration, which was correlated with the formation of anti-POx IgM antibodies.¹⁶³ Furthermore, Luxenhofer *et al.* found complement activation for PMeOx and and PEtOx block copolymers that were, even though moderate, still significant above negative control.¹⁶⁴

2.3.1.3 Poly(*N*-vinylpyrrolidone) (PVP)

Poly(*N*-vinylpyrrolidone) (PVP) is a regulatory approved polymer, that is widely used as pharmaceutical excipient, e.g., as solubility enhancer, stabilizer, binder, disintegrant or coating in tablet formulation.¹⁶⁵ Its applicability for biomedical applications was strongly limited as its synthesis followed the conventional free radical polymerization mechanism which hampered the production of end-functional polymers with low polydispersity.¹⁶⁶ Recently PVP has been successfully synthesized from its monomer *N*-vinylpyrrolidone by reversible addition-fragmentation chain transfer (RAFT) polymerization to enable lower dispersity and functional thiol- or aldehyde-endgroups, that were successfully conjugated to model proteins.^{167,168} Earlier studies reported the conjugation of PVP (5 and 6 kDa) to amine groups of the therapeutic protein TNF- α by employing NHS-based chemistry. The resulting conjugates displayed longer half-life¹⁶⁹ than PEG-analogs of same molecular weight and had an increased antitumor potency in mice.¹⁷⁰ However, the molecular weights used in these studies were quite low and therefore still leave room for optimization of PVP in the field of half-life extension of biomolecules.

2.3.1.4 Poly(*N*-(2-hydroxypropyl) methacrylamide) (PHPMA)

Poly(*N*-(2-hydroxypropyl) methacrylamide (PHPMA) is a neutral, hydrophilic and biocompatible polymer. It has been investigated intensively as drug delivery vehicle for anticancer drugs, site specific drug delivery in tumor and gastrointestinal compartments and as scaffold for hydrogels. Similar to PVP, free-radical polymerization as synthesis pathway limited the applicability of PHPMA for protein conjugation until a RAFT-based polymerization method was developed by the McCormick group.¹⁷¹ Following that approach, Davies and co-workers synthesized PHPMA (3.5 and 6.6 kDa) with a terminal thiazolidine-2-thione group which was used for conjugation of lysozyme.¹⁷² The same group also developed a thiol-reactive

branched PHPMA (~20 and 30 kDa), which was successfully conjugated to the free cysteine of BSA.¹⁷³ Recently, the conjugation of NHS-activated PHPMA (5.5 kDa) to asparaginase was reported. PHPMA led to a strong disruption of asparaginase's secondary structure, however, increased its stability against freeze-thaw stress for up to six cycles.¹⁷⁴

2.3.2 Degradable synthetic Polymers

Degradable synthetic polymers for conjugation to therapeutic proteins include the classes of polyzwitterions (PZIs/polybetaines), polypeptides (PGA, PSar), PEG-derived methacrylates (POEGMA) and polyphosphoesters (PPEs). They are all biodegradable to a certain extent and therefore avoid accumulation in organs, a problem often observed for PEG. Remaining PEGlinker fragments on the protein were shown to serve as haptens acting as a trigger for an immunologic reaction against the protein part. Therefore, the haptenic character of such hydrolyzed polymer-components should always be considered.

2.3.2.1 Polyzwitterions (PZIs/Polybetaines)

Polyzwitterions (PZIs), also named polybetaines, are a special class of polyampholytes that contain both a positively and a negatively charged moiety on the same monomer leading to an overall neutrally charged macromolecule. The backbone usually consists of poly(meth)acrylic acid linked to the charged linker chain via an amide or ester bond. Quarternized ammonium groups represent the cationic element whereas the anionic moiety stems from sulfonate-, carboxy- or phosphate-groups leading to various subclasses, that are polysulfobetaines (pSB), polycarboxybetaines (pCB) or polyphosphobetaines (pPB), among others.¹⁷⁵ Polybetaines are mostly generated by controlled radical polymerization (ATRP or RAFT) on either zwitterionic monomers or uncharged monomers followed by zwitterionic functionalization of the resulting polymer.¹⁷⁵ PZIs are considered as highly hydrophilic, biocompatible materials and display strong anti-fouling properties outperforming PEG in regard to non-specific protein adsorption from blood plasma and serum.^{176,177} This effect is mostly attributed to a strong hydration layer formed by the polymer. However, in contrast to other hydrophilic macromolecules, that achieve hydration through hydrogen bonding,176 PZIs display even stronger hydration and water binding *via* electrostatic interactions.^{178–180} Their conformation in aqueous solution is highly dependent on pH, ionic strength and salt type and can be described by the so-called "antipolyelectrolyte effect" which leads to a chain expansion and an increase in viscosity upon addition of low molecular weight electrolytes.^{175,181} This effect, and the strong intramolecular interactions of PZIs, both result in a high solution density, compact structure and smaller hydrodynamic size than PEG of same molecular weight.¹⁸²

Besides pPB, which has been successfully conjugated as methacryloyl-derivative (PMPC) to IFN- $\alpha^{183,184}$ and exenatide,¹⁸⁵ one of the most widely used PZI-subclasses for protein conjugation is polycarboxybetaine (pCB). pCB consists of a quarternary amine group and a negatively charged carboxylate with varying distance possible between the charged groups. (Figure 13D). NHS-based coupling chemistry is mainly employed and has already been exploited for several proteins.^{182–189} Interesting features of pCB have been unraveled, regarding the often-observed diminished bioactivity of PEGylated proteins. Keefe and Jiang synthesized 5 kDa PEG conjugates of α -chymotrypsin and compared them with pCB analogs of similar molecular weight or size.¹⁸² They found an unaltered or even increased enzyme-substrate affinity for pCB-chymotrypsin of PEG-similar weight or size, respectively. To explain



Figure 14. Proposed model for the involvement of PEG or zwitterionic polymers in the receptor-interaction of therapeutic proteins. Adapted by permission from Springer Nature, Nature Chemistry, ref. [182], Copyright 2011.

this phenomenon, the authors proposed a model where PEG with its amphiphilic character competitively reduces hydrophobic interactions between the substrate and its enzyme bindingsite, while simultaneously imposing steric hindrance, leading to an overall diminished activity (Figure 14B). pCB on the other hand displays super-hydrophilic character and a strong hydration drawing water molecules away from the hydrophobic protein binding-sites thereby allowing unhindered interaction between the enzyme and its substrate (Figure 14C). Furthermore, the authors correlate this feature to pCB's monomer structure, a derivative of glycine betaine, reflecting properties of the two most protein stabilizing ions ammonium (soft cation) and acetate (hard anion) in the Hofmeister series (Figure 14E). Further evidence for PEG interacting with hydrophobic protein surfaces can be found in a molecular dynamics simulation study, where solutions of oligoethylene glycol (OEG) reduced the solvent accessible surface area of hydrophobic protein domains by 1/3, whereas carboxybetaine-solutions only showed a decrease of 1/10.¹⁹⁰

Another study about pCB- and PEG-IFN- α 2a conjugates confirmed the compact structure of pCB also after protein conjugation, as double the molecular weight of pCB was needed to reach the same molecular size of a PEG-conjugate.¹⁸⁹ pCB_{20k}-IFN displayed 4.4-fold higher antiproliferative bioactivity compared to its PEG-conjugate of same molecular weight (62.1 % of IFN-activity vs. 14.2 %), which was similarly found for the 10 kDa conjugates. Again, the authors speculate that steric hindrance and non-specific hydrophobic interactions between PEG and the IFN-binding domain, respectively, IFN-receptor, decrease bioactivity, which was mitigated in the case of pCB-conjugates. Notably, the circulation time of pCB_{20k}-IFN in rats was comparable to PEG_{40k}-IFN, despite half of the molecular weight. Furthermore, PEG-IFN conjugates showed accelerated blood clearance due to IFN- and polymer-specific antibodies, whereas PCB-conjugates displayed negligible antibody formation, confirming earlier results for pCB-modified nanoparticles¹⁹¹ and conjugates of uricase.¹⁸⁷

Similar results on immunogenicity between PEG and pCB of 5, 10 and 20 kDa were found when conjugated to a series of proteins with varying immunogenicity by thiol-maleimide coupling (Figure 15A).¹⁹² SPR and ELISA-techniques were employed to analyze the formation of anti-polymer antibodies after repeated injection in mice. The authors found an increasing amount of PEG-specific IgM and IgG antibodies which could be linearly correlated with the



Figure 15. A) Immunogenicity index of various proteins used for conjugation to PEG or pCB. B) Correlation of protein immunogenicity index and anti-polymer antibody formation after four weekly subcutaneous injections of PEG- or pCB-conjugates in C57BL6 mice. Reprinted from ref. [192]. Copyright 2018, with permission from Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim.

immunogenicity of the protein moiety thereby confirming the haptenic character of PEG (Figure 15B). In contrast, minimal immunogenicity was found in the case of pCB-conjugates.

2.3.2.2 Polypeptides (PPs)

Polypeptides (PPs) are synthetic macromolecules comprising of natural amino acids as non-toxic building blocks. They are generated by polymerization of highly reactive *N*-carboxy-anhydrides as monomers and are considered as biodegradable.¹⁴⁵ Poly- γ -glutamic acid (γ -PGA) is one of the most widely used PPs being approved by the FDA for cosmetic applications and has also been exploited in various architectures for the conjugation to biomolecules.^{193–195} An interesting study by Lu and co-workers focused on the conformation of PGA within a conjugate of the therapeutic protein IFN.¹⁹⁶ 20 kDa brush-type PGA bearing three ethylene glycol (EG) units on its backbone was fused to the *N*-terminus of IFN and compared with a PEGylated IFN-analog of same molecular weight. The authors used PGA with either unstructured (*DL*-PGA) or helical (*L*-PGA) conformation to examine the impact of polymer conformation on the properties of the resulting conjugate (Figure 16). The rigid, helical *L*-PGA-IFN conjugate displayed a higher binding affinity and antiproliferative activity *in vitro* than IFN attached to

the two unstructured polymers PEG or DL-PGA. Furthermore, L-**PGA-IFN** showed significantly slower tumor growth in vivo, no accelerated blood clearance upon repeated administration and almost no detectable anti-polymer antibodies in rats, which was in contrast



Figure 16. Synthesis of IFN-conjugates with either helical or unstructured PGA-polypeptides. Adapted with permission from ref. [196]. Further permissions related to the adapted material must be directed to the ACS.

to PEG-IFN and *DL*-PGA-IFN. Similar results were found for polymer conjugates of human growth hormone in the same study indicating the relevance of polymer conformation in conjugates of biotherapeutics.¹⁹⁶

Another polymer within this class is the non-ionic and hydrophilic macromolecule polysarcosine (PSar) (also called poly(*N*-methylglycine)), a polypeptoid based on the
endogenous but non-proteinogenic amino acid sarcosine. Due to its large hydrodynamic volume, PSar displays anti-fouling properties and is considered as a stealth polymer^{197,198} with a slightly lower flexibility than PEG.^{199,200} In a recent study by the company BioNTech, PSar has been proposed as PEG-alternative surface modification on lipid nanoparticles for mRNA-delivery, a technology platform that is already in use for the application of the new Sars-Cov2 vaccine by the same company.²⁰¹ In contrast to PEG, PSar-modified liposomes were shown to evade accelerated blood clearance and exhibited lower antibody-formation upon repeated administration with, however, a higher tendency to accumulate in the liver.²⁰² Lu and co-workers were the first ones to report the successful conjugation of PSar to a therapeutic protein and found higher *in vitro* activity and slower tumor growth *in vivo* for a site-specific *N*-terminal PSar-IFN, with the terminal half-life being comparable to PEG-IFN.¹⁹⁷ Furthermore, PSar-IFN displayed significantly lower anti-IFN antibody formation than its PEGylated analog upon repeated administration in mice and a higher tumor accumulation with less exposure to the liver.

2.3.2.3 Poly[oligo(ethylene glycol) methyl methacrylate] (POEGMA)

Several approaches focused on the generation of PEG-derivatives with labile functional groups (e.g., disulfide²⁰³ or ester²⁰⁴ groups) that allow hydrolysis of PEG into lower molecular weight fragments therefore making it, in principle, biodegradable. Among these, one of the most prominent examples is the PEG-based, comb-like polymer poly[oligo(ethylene glycol) methyl methacrylate] (POEGMA), which gained more and more attraction since the report of its controlled synthesis in the 1990s.²⁰⁵ POEGMA consists of a methacrylate backbone decorated with side-chain ethylene glycol (EG) monomers of up to nine units. The sidechain EGs are connected by an ester linkage that allows hydrolysis and enzymatic breakdown. Studies on ATRP-mediated grafting of POEGMA from a large variety of biomolecules have been mainly conducted by the Chilkoti group.^{206–213} Conjugates of salmon calcitonin²¹⁴ and lysozyme²¹⁵ were produced by direct conjugation of the pre-synthesized polymer.

POEGMA bears a hydrophobic backbone and amphiphilic ethylene glycol side-chains, whose length can be tuned to alter hydrophilicity and hydration state of the polymer.²⁰⁵ This so-called "bottlebrush" structure shows excellent protein- and cell-resistant properties, because of the high density of oligoethylene glycol (OEG) moieties.²¹⁶ POEGMA displays a compact and rather rigid conformation in solution, with a smaller hydrodynamic size than a PEG molecule of same molecular weight.²¹¹ All these offer interesting features in regard to bioactivity and shielding of immunogenic epitopes on proteins, two key factors in extending therapeutic activity of biomolecules. For example, Hu *et al.* reported higher *in vitro* bioactivity,

similar half-life and a longer anti-tumor effect *in vivo* for a site-specific C-terminal IFN-POEGMA_{66k} conjugate, compared to PEGASYS (random PEGylation with a branched mono-PEG_{40k}). POEGMA was thereby grafted from IFN, which was previously functionalized with the initiator for polymerization by employing Sortase A (Figure 17). Despite of IFN-POEGMA_{66k} bearing a larger molecular weight, it showed higher bioactivity than PEGASYS, which could most likely be attributed to the difference in conjugation site but also suggests an impact of polymer conformation.²¹³



Figure 17. Grafting-from approach of POEGMA on initiator-modified IFN *via* ATRP. Adapted from ref. [213]. Copyright 2016, with permission from Elsevier.

This structural effect is even more pronounced for the shielding of immunogenic epitopes on biomolecules. Qi *et al.* synthesized exendine-POEGMA conjugates with varying polymer side chain length bearing either three or nine EG units.²¹² Analysis of anti-PEG-positive patient plasma samples revealed a significant reduction of anti-PEG antigenicity for EG9 exendine-POEGMA, compared to the two approved PEGylated proteins Krystexxa[®] and Adagen[®]. When further reducing the side chain length to three EG units, the anti-PEG antigenicity was virtually eliminated without compromising the extended half-life of exenatide. Studies on POEGMA grafted on planar surfaces revealed an optimum of two EG units for minimizing anti-PEG antigenicity and non-specific adsorption.²¹⁶ Following these results, the side chain hydrophilicity of the polymer seems to play a major role in anti-PEG antigenicity of POEGMAconjugates.

2.3.2.4 Polyphosphoesters (PPEs)

Polyphosphoesters (PPEs) are a relatively young polymer class applied to the field of bioconjugation. They carry a biodegradable phosphoester group in their backbone,^{217,218} display low toxicity and high biocompatibility, with analog structural features to the naturally occurring teichoic acids and nucleic acids.^{219–221} PPEs can be generated by organo-catalyzed anionic ring

opening polymerization of cyclic phosphate monomers and are typically employed as poly(ethyl ethylene phosphate) (PEEP) or poly(methyl ethylene phosphonate) (PMeEP) for conjugation to proteins.²¹⁸ PPEs exhibit a stealth effect, that is similar to PEG.²²² Several fundamental studies on solvation and relaxation dynamics of PPE conjugated to different model proteins have been reported over the last few years expanding the knowledge about the solution properties of those materials.²²³⁻²²⁷ Bioconjugates of PEEPs (2-33 kDa) were so far reported for BSA and catalase, where the in vitro bioactivity of the latter decreased upon polymer modification but was in similar range to its PEGylated analogs.²²⁸ Similar results were obtained for PMeEP-uricase-conjugates which, however, displayed a smaller hydrodynamic volume in SEC than PEG-uricase. Following the authors' explanation, this originates from the difference in chain length of PEG and PMeEP, as the molecular weight of their repeating units differ approximately by a factor of three therefore leading to smaller hydrodynamic sizes.²²⁹ Other studies examined the thermal stability of PPE-myoglobin(Mb)-conjugates in regard to polymer length, grafting density²³⁰ and polymer hydrophilicity.¹⁰⁴ PPE-variants with larger hydrophilicity displayed better thermal stabilization and protease resistance than their hydrophobic analogs highlighting the importance of polymer hydrophilicity for the thermal stabilization of proteins.

2.3.3 Degradable natural Polymers: Polysaccharides

2.3.3.1 Hydroxyethylstarch (HES)

Hydroxyethylstarch (HES) is a highly biocompatible, modified natural polymer structurally derived from amylopectin. It is predominantly produced from maize starch, whose high molecular weight amylopectin molecules are transformed into smaller fragments by acid

hydrolysis and mechanical stress followed by modification with hydroxyethyl-groups, which allow tuning of the pharmacokinetic properties and water-binding capacity. The final step includes ultrafiltration to control the molecular weight and dispersity of HES.²³¹

HES is available in molecular weights from 70–670 kDa and is widely used as a plasma volume substitute with high watersolubility and low viscosity.^{232,233} Cleavage



Figure 18. Structure of HES.²³² The oxidation site at the reducing end is marked in blue.

and degradation in blood takes place by the enzyme α -amylase but can be successfully reduced

through a higher content of hydroxyethyl groups. To enable mono-functional HES, the reducing end (Figure 18, marked in blue) can be oxidized resulting in an aldonic acid (oxHES), which can further be transformed into its lactone by extensive drying. Subsequent activation by NHSesters enabled conjugates of serum albumin or oligonucleotides.^{234,235} Other strategies involved bifunctional linkers to introduce maleimide-, aldehyde- and amine-groups.²³⁶ Next generation-HES employs modification of its non-oxidized reducing end with 1-amino-3,3diethoxypropane by reductive amination. Acidic deprotection under selective conditions yields HES-propionaldehyde for site-selective modification of *N*-terminal α -amino groups on proteins.^{231,237}

Erythropoietin (EPO) and IFN α -2b have already been successfully HESylated on their *N*-terminii, where HES-IFN α -2b displayed higher *in vitro* bioactivity than PEGasys, possibly attributed to the different polymer attachment sites of the two conjugates.²³¹ Pharmacokinetic studies following a single subcutaneous injection in rabbits unraveled faster absorption and longer half-life in the case of HESylated IFN α -2b, compared to PEGasys.²³¹ Furthermore, freeze-drying of an *N*-terminally HESylated IFN α -2b resulted in better storage stability at elevated temperatures than its PEGylated analog.²³⁸ Liebner *et al.* reported lower viscosity, higher storage stability and better receptor-binding *in vitro* for *N*-terminally HESylated analog.²³⁹ Furthermore, the terminal half-life of HES-anakinra was extended about 6-fold compared to the unmodified protein.²⁴⁰

Despite HES being evaluated on several biopharmaceuticals already showing potential for half-life extension, its naturally large dispersity might still be a problem from a regulatory perspective. Additionally, safety concerns need to be addressed, where some types of HES are possibly connected to impaired renal function, tissue storage, anaphylactic reactions and mortality.^{241–243}

2.3.3.2 Polysialic Acid (PSA)

Polysialic acid (PSA) is a naturally occurring, linear and polydisperse macromolecule

consisting of *N*-acetylneuraminic acid (sialic acid) moieties connected by α -glycosidic linkages. It naturally occurs in capsules of several gram-negative bacteria like *Neisseria meningitidis* serogroup B and C and *Escherichia coli* strains, where it mainly serves



Figure 19. Structure of PSA²⁴⁶ with the vicinal diol marked in blue.

as a shield to evade the host immune response.²⁴⁴ The diverse isotypes found in bacteria strains

display distinct differences in their *in vivo* circulation time, which depends, for example, on the degree of phospholipid acylation or the type of glycosidic linkage.²⁴⁵

PSA is described as nonimmunogenic and safe. Furthermore, it is negatively charged (and therefore highly hydrophilic), stable at physiological pH, but biodegradable due to digestion through cellular neuraminidases.²⁴⁶ It displays similar hydration-properties to PEG leading to a 5–10-fold increase in hydrodynamic volume of a protein and can additionally diminish renal clearance through electrostatic repulsion at the negatively charged glomerular membrane, leading to an extended circulation half-life.²⁴⁷ Furthermore, IgM antibody formation and subsequent accelerated blood clearance has not been observed in the case of PSAylated liposomes, further highlighting its stealth properties.²⁴⁸ Tissue-permeability can be improved by PSAylation, where, e.g., a PSAylated antibody fragment displayed an up to 30-fold improved tumor uptake, compared to its unmodified analog.^{249,250} PSA seemed to have a drastic influence on the hydrodynamic size of the ab-fragment, as the conjugates eluted in the void volume of SEC, which, however, might also be attributed to the high negative charge of PSA.²⁵²

PSA derived from *E. coli* K1 strain (also called colominic acid) consists of α -(2->8) linked sialic acid groups and is mainly used for the conjugation to protein therapeutics, as it bears a single vicinal diol to be mildly oxidized by NaIO₄ at its non-reducing end (Figure 19, C7 and C8 bearing the vicinal diol are marked in blue).²⁵¹ The resulting aldehyde can be further modified with linkers or directly used for protein coupling by reductive amination. The latter has already been exploited to several proteins,^{252–255} with erythropoietin and deoxyribonuclease I²⁵⁶ being also evaluated in clinical trials. The technology of PSAylation (PolyXenTM) has been commercialized by the company Lipoxen PLC (now Xenetic Biosciences).

Besides classical chemical ligation strategies, polysialic acid has also been exploited for recombinant²⁵⁷ or enzymatic²⁵⁸ protein modification. Another recent study describes the

polysialylation on glycan chains of human coagulation factor VIII (FVIII) which was conducted by the company Baxalta.²⁴⁶ In this sophisticated approach, a 20 kDa oxPSA was linked



Figure 20. Domain structure of PSAylated coagulation factor VIII. Adapted from ref. [246], Copyright 2020, with permission from Elsevier.

to several oxidized carbo-hydrate moieties on *N*-glycans of FVIII resulting in stable oximelinkages, with 6–11 mol PSA per mol of FVIII conjugated (Figure 20, BAX 826). Extensive characterization was followed by pharmacokinetic *in vivo* evaluation where BAX 826 was found to exhibit prolonged circulation time in hemophilia A mice, wild-type rats and cynomolgus monkeys, compared to the unmodified protein.²⁵⁹ A phase 1 clinical study in humans further demonstra-ted the capability of BAX 826 to extend the mean residence time by factor 1.5, compared to FVIII alone, while maintaining high tolerability and safety.²⁶⁰

2.3.4 Recombinant Half-Life Extension Strategies

Recombinant strategies for half-life extension include the technologies of albumin-/Fcfusion proteins, XTENylation and PASylation. These approaches allow expression of the full conjugate via biotechnological engineering resulting in a monodisperse construct with favorable properties. All mentioned technologies are already present on the market (albumin-/Fc-fusion, Albufuse[®]) and/or involved in several clinical trials (XTENylation, PASylation).

2.3.4.1 Albumin- and Fc-fusion Proteins

Albumin and IgG antibodies are ubiquitously present molecules in humans and exhibit long circulation times, both with a half-life of around 3 weeks.^{261–263} The longevity of those two molecules can be explained by their high affinity to the neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn), which is widely expressed in several cell types throughout the body and prevents ligands from intracellular degradation through a pH-dependent recycling process (Figure 21). Following



Figure 21. FcRn-mediated recycling mechanism of albumin- and Fc-fusion proteins.

uptake into cells by fluid-phase pinocytosis, albumin and IgG form complexes with endosomal FcRn at acidic pH and get released again into the blood stream upon exposure to the neutral pH of the extracellular space.^{264–268} This process can be exploited for half-life extension by genetically fusing either human serum albumin or the *N*-terminus of the Fc-part of an IgG antibody to a therapeutic protein or peptide of interest (mostly on its C-terminus).²⁶⁹ Several fusion products have already employed this concept and are under clinical development, with by today thirteen approved Fc-fusion proteins²⁶⁹ and one albumin-fusion construct^{268,270} on the market. Other strategies focus on the non-covalent association of proteins and peptides equipped with an albumin-binding domain (e.g., C-14 or C-16 fatty acids) to target endogenous albumin for half-life extension. This strategy has also proven to be successful, with marketed products including insulin and GLP-1.²⁶⁸

Despite their extremely long half-life, the production of Fc-fusion proteins is cost-intense and demands extensive characterization of the respective glycosylation pattern,²⁶⁹ that, in turn, is important in regard to circulation half-life.²⁷¹ Their complex structure requires a large battery of analytical methods to ensure safety and stability while excluding aggregation, charge variation or immunogenicity of the antibody-fusion protein.²⁶⁹ Furthermore, albumin- and Fcfusion proteins do not allow the fine-tuning of half-life, which might be problematic with drugs bearing a small therapeutic window. Nevertheless, they have been proven to be a quite useful tool for half-life extension as demonstrated by several products on the market.

2.3.4.2 XTENylation

XTEN describes a class of negatively charged, unstructured polypeptides consisting of random sequences of the six hydrophilic amino acids alanine, glutamic acid, glycine, proline, serine and threonine. In contrast to IgG- or albumin-fusion proteins, XTEN polypeptides can be expressed in bacterial cell lines (typically *E.coli*) and are mostly encoded together with the target gene of the protein of interest yielding a homogenous, monodisperse product after expression and purification. This methodology allows high yields and absolute site-specificity of XTEN-attachment without the need of cost-intense purification, as compared to PEGylation, where typically the removal of multi-PEGylated species and free PEG is necessary.²⁷² The parental XTEN-molecule, first described in 2009, consisted of 864 residues (XTEN864, 79 kDa) and was followed by the development of shorter XTEN polypeptides in recent years. XTENs are highly flexible, unstructured macromolecules that display an extended conformation with a very large hydrodynamic volume.²⁷³ As demonstrated for several XTEN-fusion constructs,^{272–275} this leads to extremely long circulation half-lifes which can further be

fine-tuned by varying the length of the XTEN sequence. The technology of XTEN has been commercialized by the company Amunix Pharmaceuticals Inc. (USA), with several therapeutic biomolecules in clinical trials.^{276,277}

Fusion of XTEN is predominantly exploited to the *N*- and C-termini of therapeutic biomolecules but can in principle be implemented at any position of the sequence which allows even multiple XTENylation of complex molecules like blood factor VIII.²⁷² XTEN is thermally stable, biodegradable and considered as non-immunogenic, as it lacks any hydrophobic residues, that could trigger aggregation or immune response. Elimination of a radiolabeled XTEN864 was primarily observed *via* the kidneys and no accumulation in organs was found in mice and rats.²⁷² Despite of all those unique advantages, the recombinant fusion of XTEN protein polymers excludes post-translational modification or other payloads like nucleic acids. Therefore, amine- or thiol-moieties can be encoded to the XTEN-sequence which allow further chemical ligation with linkers or peptides.^{272,278,279}

2.3.4.3 PASylation

PAS is an unstructured, hydrophilic, neutral polypeptide consisting of random sequences of the amino acids proline (P), alanine (A) and serine (S), that can be genetically fused to the



Figure 22. Concept of PASylation. A) Model structure of a C-terminally PASylated Fab fragment. The Fab-fragment is coloured in red, with the antigen-binding site in black. B) Comparison of chemical structures of PEG and PAS (side chains abbreviated as R). C) Nucleotide and encoded amino acid sequences of the building blocks for different PAS gene cassettes. D) Schematic representation of expression cassettes on the plasmids used for PAS-generation. The PAS can be directly expressed together with the respective protein, as shown for the two lowest expression cassettes bearing IFN (lower left) or hGH (lower right). Reprinted from ref. [280].

protein drug of interest followed by direct expression in bacterial (or mammalian) cell lines (Figure 22). The resulting homogenous, monodisperse product displays a large hydrodynamic volume, long circulation time and extended therapeutic activity.²⁸⁰ Depending on the PAS-length attached (100–1000 residues possible) the half-life can typically be extended 10–100 fold.²⁹³ PASylation technology is commercialized by the company XL-protein GmbH (Freising, Germany) and has already been applied to more than 10 biologicals of therapeutic interest, including antibody fragments, proteins, peptides and nanocarriers.^{280–295} PAS can also be equipped with functional groups for chemical conjugation to target proteins, typically established by genetical engineering of the PAS-sequence (e.g., cysteine, *N*-terminal serine, etc.), which also allows branched architectures.²⁹³

PAS polypeptides are biodegradable but stable in plasma and are described as nonimmunogenic, as they lack any hydrophobic epitopes (like XTEN) typically involved in aggregation or a potential immune response. The proline-, alanine- and serine-moieties of PAS show no intramolecular interactions besides solvent molecules resulting in a fully solvated peptide backbone with high solubility and a native disorder.²⁹³ This random-chain behavior is similar to PEG, however, resulting in a slightly larger hydrodynamic volume for PAS, which displays a more elongated shape in solution. Furthermore, PAS shows higher hydrophilicity and lower viscosity compared to PEG of similar molecular weight. Interestingly, serine plays only a minor role for the hydrophilicity and biophysical properties of PAS, as serine-free sequences displayed the same biophysical behavior.²⁸⁸ In contrast, a decrease in proline content resulted in a more compact and less random structure of PAS. Increasing the proline portion in the polypeptide promotes an elongation and therefore larger hydrodynamic volume of the polymer chain.^{280,288}

Interestingly, the receptor binding affinity of biologicals decreased only slightly upon PASylation and was almost unaffected by PAS-length, suggesting a minor role of hydrodynamic volume and steric repulsion in the receptor binding of PASylated molecules.²⁸⁰ This is in contrast to XTEN, which bears negative charge due to its glutamate residues therefore promoting repulsion between a protein drug and its receptor. Simultaneously, receptor-mediated clearance can be hampered, as demonstrated for XTEN-hGH.^{280,294} The negative charge has also been proposed to affect tissue distribution of XTENylated and PASylated biopharmaceuticals, with, however, no significant differences observed so far.²⁹¹

3 Scientific goals

The employment of PEGylation to increase the circulation half-life of biopharmaceuticals has clearly been a revolution in the field of protein drug delivery, with more than ten PEGylated products on the market. The technology not only improved patient compliance and safety but also expanded treatment options to highly immunogenic, non-human proteins like uricase. However, the loss of bioactivity upon conjugation and the formation of antibodies are two major shortcomings of PEG, which led to a large body of macromolecules explored as alternatives for the purpose of half-life extension of biopharmaceuticals. This work aimed to establish linear polyglycerol, a highly hydrophilic and biocompatible polymer, as an alternative polymer platform to PEG for the conjugation to therapeutic biomolecules. Several model proteins were selected for this approach with the goal to reveal the impact of polymer length and type (LPG or PEG) on the performance of the respective protein-conjugates in different *in vitro* and *in vivo* settings.



Figure 23. Schematic representation of the three projects covered in this thesis (protein structures from PDB-entries 1ilr, 1jrj, 2b8u).

The conjugation of polymers to a biopharmaceutical demands a highly selective and wellcontrolled ligation-process to adjust number and location of the attached polymer chains and to avoid a loss in bioactivity. Therefore, we aimed to synthesize site-selectively modified proteinconjugates with a 1:1 protein-polymer ratio by employing mono-functional LPGs of various molecular weights. Instead of model proteins like lysozyme or BSA, we selected the therapeutically active biomolecules anakinra, interleukin-4 and exenatide to address alterations of their biological activity after polymer modification. PEG-conjugates of the respective proteins were synthesized as reference in a similar manner (Figure 23A).

To ensure a valid comparison between LPG and the benchmark PEG in further characterization studies, the molecular weights of the conjugates needed to be similar. Besides molecular weight, the hydrodynamic size of a therapeutic protein-PEG conjugate is one of the key parameters for its renal elimination and circulation half-life. LPG alone was found to have a smaller, more compact, and less flexible structure in solution, compared to the highly expanded PEG.¹²⁹ Additionally, the stability of biopharmaceuticals often suffers from aggregation at elevated temperatures and proteolytic degradation, a process which can be prevented by the conjugation of PEG. Therefore, a second goal of this work was to conduct an extensive biophysical characterization of LPG-and PEG-conjugates to reveal differences in their molecular weight, size and stability (Figure 23B).

The final goal of this thesis was to determine whether LPG is capable to extend the halflife and therapeutic efficacy of biopharmaceuticals to a similar extent than PEG. Therefore LPG-conjugates of various biomolecules were biologically evaluated in different *in vitro* and *in vivo* settings to gain insights on their bioactivity and pharmacokinetic behavior (Figure 23C).

4 Publications and Manuscripts

4.1 Polyglycerol for Half-Life Extension of Proteins–Alternative to PEGylation?

Michael Tully,* Mathias Dimde, Christoph Weise, Paria Pouyan, Kai Licha, Michael Schirner, Rainer Haag* *Biomacromolecules*, **2021**, *22*, 1406–1416. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.0c01627



Figure 24. Reproduced with permission from ref. [296]. Copyright 2021, American Chemical Society.

I functionalized linear polyglycerol-amine of various molecular weights with the respective aldehyde-linker. Furthermore, I synthesized and purified all protein conjugates and conducted their characterization *via* SDS-PAGE, dynamic light scattering (DLS), size-exclusion multi angle light scattering (SEC-MALS), circular dichroism (CD), enzyme-stability assay and surface-plasmon-resonance (SPR). Moreover, I wrote the manuscript and planned the *in vivo* experiments including evaluation of the final data. Mathias Dimde synthesized and purified hyperbranched polyglycerol-aldehyde and was a great support in all kinds of chemical questions. Christoph Weise conducted the MALDI-TOF experiments. Paria Pouyan synthesized linear polyglycerol-amine of different molecular weights. Michael Schirner was involved in planning and consulting of the *in* vivo experiments. Kai Licha and Rainer Haag contributed to questions regarding conjugate synthesis, aquired funding and supervised this project.

4.2 Prolonged Activity of Exenatide: Detailed Comparison of Site-specific linear Polyglycerol- and Poly(ethylene glycol)-Conjugates

<u>Michael Tully</u>, Stefanie Wedepohl, Daniel Kutifa, Christoph Weise, Kai Licha, Michael Schirner, Rainer Haag* *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, **2021**, *164*, 105–113.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2021.04.019



Figure 25. Reproduced with permission from ref. [297]. Copyright 2021, Elsevier.

I synthesized and purified all LPG- and PEG-exenatide conjugates, conducted their characterization *via* SDS-PAGE, dynamic light scattering (DLS), size-exclusion chromatography (SEC) and circular dichroism (CD) and wrote the manuscript. Moreover, I initiated and guided the conduction of *in vivo* experiments at Pharmacelsus GmbH, including evaluation of the final data. Stefanie Wedepohl performed the cAMP-bioactivity assay and greatly supported in all kinds of biological questions. Daniel Kutifa was synthesizing linear polyglycerol-azide of different molecular weights. Christoph Weise conducted the MALDI-TOF experiments. Michael Schirner consulted in the *in vivo* experiments. Kai Licha and Rainer Haag contributed to questions regarding chemistry, aquired funding and supervised this project.

4.3 Linear Polyglycerol for N-terminal-selective Modification of Interleukin-4

<u>Michael Tully</u>,[‡] Niklas Hauptstein,[‡] Kai Licha, Lorenz Meinel, Tessa Lühmann, Rainer Haag,* 2021, *submitted, Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*

([‡] These authors contributed equally.)



Figure 26. Overview of N-terminal coupling strategy for Interleukin-4 conjugates.

I synthesized and purified all LPG- and PEG-Interleukin-4 conjugates and conducted their characterization *via* SDS-PAGE, dynamic light scattering (DLS), size-exclusion chromatography-multi angle light scattering (SEC-MALS), circular dichroism (CD) and microscale thermophoresis (MST). Niklas Hauptstein expressed and purified wt-IL-4, conducted SDS-PAGE analysis, the bioactivity assay of the conjugates, HPLC-analysis and a plasma stability assay. Furthermore, he initiated and prepared samples for the MALDI-TOF experiments. I wrote the manuscript together with Niklas Hauptstein. Kai Licha was giving chemical support on the conjugation process. Lorenz Meinel, Tessa Lühmann and Rainer Haag developed the project idea, aquired funding and supervised this project.

Linear Polyglycerol for N-terminal-selective Modification of Interleukin-4

Michael Tully,^{a, ‡} Niklas Hauptstein, ^{b, ‡} Kai Licha,^a Lorenz Meinel,^{b,c}

Tessa Lühmann,^b Rainer Haag^{a,*}

^a Institute of Chemistry and Biochemistry, Freie Universität Berlin, Takustr. 3, 14195 Berlin (Germany)

^b Institute of Pharmacy and Food Chemistry, University of Würzburg, Am Hubland, 97074 Würzburg (Germany)

Helmholtz Institute for RNA-Based Infection Research (HIRI), Helmholtz Center for Infection Research (HZI), 97080 Würzburg, Germany

‡ These authors contributed equally to this work.

KEYWORDS: protein delivery, polymeric drug delivery systems, Pegylation, polyethylene glycol (PEG), conjugates, polymers, biopharmaceutical characterization,

*To whom correspondence should be addressed:

Prof. Dr. Rainer Haag

Institute of Chemistry and Biochemistry, Takustr. 3, 14195 Berlin, Germany

E-mail: haag@chemie.fu-berlin.de

ABSTRACT

Polymer conjugation to biologics is of key interest to the pharmaceutical industry for the development of potent and long acting biotherapeutics, with poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) being the gold standard. Within the last years, unwanted PEG-related side effects (immunological reactions, antibody formation) arose, therefore creating several attempts to establish alternative polymers with similar potential to PEG. In this article, we synthesized *N*-terminal bioconjugates of the potential therapeutic human wild-type interleukin-4 (hIL-4 WT) with linear polyglycerol (LPG) of 10 and 40 kDa and compared it with its PEG analogs of same nominal weights. Polyglycerol is a highly hydrophilic polymer with good biocompatibility and therefore represents an alternative polymer to PEG.

Both polymer types resulted in similar conjugation yields, comparable hydrodynamic sizes and an unaltered secondary structure of the protein after modification. LPG- and PEG-bioconjugates remained stable in human plasma, whereas binding to human serum albumin (HSA) decreased after polymer modification. Furthermore, only minor differences in bioactivity were observed between LPG- and PEG-bioconjugates of same nominal weights. The presented findings are promising for future pharmacokinetic evaluation of hIL-4-polymer bioconjugates.

INTRODUCTION

The clinical use of small, but potent biologics with molecular masses up to 50 kDa is still vastly expandable. Due to their small size, most of these drugs display a limited blood circulation time, therefore leading to fast elimination, which makes high frequent dosing necessary.^{1,2} To eliminate this problem, several techniques are available ranging from encapsulation of proteins into micelles³, or nanogels⁴ to covalent modification, with poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) representing the most prominent polymer in that field.⁵ PEG is an amphiphilic polymer that equips biologics with desirable properties including a diminished renal excretion through size expansion as well as a stealth behavior, that leads to reduced opsonization and clearance through the immune system.⁶ Drawbacks of PEG include a reduced bioactivity after

2

conjugation⁷ and its tendency to accumulate in the body, due to its non-degradability.⁶ Within recent years the formation of anti-PEG antibodies was reported⁸ which led to an accelerated blood clearance (ABC) in some cases thereby impairing PEG's initial benefits.^{9,10} Rare anaphylactic reactions observed for the new SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccine by BioNTech-Pfizer might be attributed to the PEG-moiety located on the lipid nanoparticle for vaccine delivery.¹¹ However, it is not clear yet how serious these PEG-related issues really are, especially in the clinical field. PEG is still regarded as a safe excipient and is the preferred macromolecule for half-life extension and drug delivery, with other polymers being studied as well.^{12,13}

Polyglycerol (PG) is a highly hydrophilic polymer showing excellent biocompatibility^{14–1718} and further displays stealth properties, that are similar to PEG.^{19–21} Its half-life is longer than PEG of similar molecular weight,¹⁴ which led us to the idea of employing linear polyglycerol (LPG) as a polymer for bioconjugation to extend the blood circulation time of biopharmaceuticals. We chose Interleukin-4 (IL-4) as a model protein, a potent cytokine bearing highly anti-inflammatory attributes through polarization of macrophages into the beneficial M2 type.^{22,23} IL-4 has several potential applications to target chronic inflammations in wounds, arthritic joints and similar affected tissues.^{23,24} For site-selective conjugation, we decorated IL-4's *N*-terminus with LPG-variants of 10 or 40 kDa *via* a reductive alkylation approach, which has already been used previously for other proteins.²⁵ The LPG-conjugates were then systematically compared to PEG-analogs of same nominal weights and characterized mainly regarding their hydrodynamic size and structural changes followed by evaluation of their bioactivity and behavior towards human plasma components *in vitro*.

EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

Materials

10 kDa methoxy-PEG-hexylaldehyde (mPEG-aldehyde) was from Rapp Polymers (Tübingen, Germany). 40 kDa mPEG-amine-HCl was from JenKem Technology (Texas, USA). Highly purified water from a MilliQ[®]system was used for all biological experiments. Buffers were degassed and filtered through 0.22 μ m regenerated cellulose (RC) filter (Sartorius, Göttingen, Germany) before use. All other chemicals and

3

solvents were obtained from Sigma Aldrich (Steinheim, Germany) and used without further purification, unless otherwise noted.

Synthesis of LPG-10-, LPG-40- and mPEG-40-aldehyde

A detailed description of the synthesis part can be found in the Supporting Information.

Expression, purification and characterization of wild-type Interleukin-4

Human Interleukin-4 (hIL-4 WT) was expressed as described before.^{24,26} In brief hIL-4 WT was cloned into the pET21a-vector between the Ndel and BamHI restriction site, bearing an ampicillin resistance. Expression took place in E. coli BL21(DE3) Star bacteria (Thermo Fisher scientific) in Terrific Broth Medium at 37 °C. The bacteria were induced at an OD₆₀₀ of 0.6 with 1 mM IPTG and incubated for 5–6 h. Afterwards, bacteria were harvested by centrifugation at 4 °C and 5000 x g for 20 min, resuspended in lysis buffer (50 mM TrisHCl pH 8.0, 50 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA) and sonicated. The pellet was then washed twice with lysis buffer containing 1 % Triton X-100, followed by a lysis buffer wash, centrifuged and subsequently unfolded in lysis buffer containing 5 M guanidinium hydrochloride, 2 mM reduced glutathione and 0.2 mM oxidized glutathione. Refolding was performed as described in literature.²⁷ The refolded protein was dialyzed against PBS overnight. On the next day its pH was adjusted to 5 with AcOH, followed by purification on an AKTA pure 25 FPLC system (GE Healthcare, Freiburg, Germany) employing ion exchange chromatography (IEX) using a HiTrap Q XL 5 mL column (Cytiva Europe GmbH, Freiburg, Germany) (Buffer A: 25 mM NaOAc, pH 5.0, Buffer B: 25 mM NaOAc pH 5.0 + 2 M NaCl) with a linear gradient from 0-40 % B in 12 CV, with hIL-4 WT eluting at 30 % B. hIL-4 WT containing fractions were pooled, dialyzed against buffer A and applied to an additional IEX purification step (same buffers as above) using a YMC Biopro IEX smart sep S20 1 mL column (YMC Europe GmbH, Dinslaken, Germany) with a gradient from 12-60 % B. Collected hIL-4 WT fractions were evaluated on purity by SDS-PAGE and subsequently pooled followed by determination of hIL-4 WT concentration by standard BCA assay (Pierce BCA Assay Kit, Thermo Fisher scientific) following the manufacturer's instructions.

Synthesis and purification of PG- and PEG-Interleukin-4 bioconjugates

Linear polyglycerol or polyethylene glycol, all mono-functionalized with a single aldehyde group, were conjugated to hIL-4's N-terminus via reductive amination at pH 5, as described previously.²⁸ In short, 600 μ g of protein were diluted into 1 mL pre-chilled 0.1 M NaOAc pH 5 in a 2 mL glass vial followed by addition of three-fold molar excess of activated polymer in the same buffer. After gentle mixing, the reaction was initiated by adding freshly prepared NaCNBH₃ solution (0.5 M) as reducing agent to a final concentration of 20 mM. The reaction mixture was shaken on a bioshaker (Quantifoil instruments, Jena, Germany) for 16 h at 4 °C. The batch was then diluted 10-fold in 25 mM NaOAc pH 5 and subsequently loaded on an ÄKTA pure 25 FPLC system equipped with two HiTrap SP FF 1 mL columns (both GE Healthcare, Freiburg, Germany) connected in series (flow rate 1 ml/min), where 25 mM NaOAc pH 5 served as eluent A. To isolate the monoconjugates from free polymer, unreacted protein and multi-PEGylated/PGylated species, first a washing step with 5 % eluent B (B = eluent A + 2 M NaCl) for five column volumes (CV) was conducted followed by a linear gradient from 10-50 % B for 16 CV to elute multi- and mono-PEGylated/PGylated proteins. The fractions with mono-conjugated product were collected, pooled and rebuffered against phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) pH 7.4 (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 10 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.8 mM KH₂PO₄) in Amicon Ultra 2 centrifugal filter units (MWCO 3 kDa, Sigma Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany). Concentration was determined by Nanodrop 2000c (Thermo Fisher, Dreieich, Germany) at 280 nm with an extinction coefficient of 8860 M⁻¹ cm^{-1,24} Samples were then aliquoted, snap frozen in liquid N₂ and stored at -80 °C until further use.

Sodium dodecylsulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

SDS-PAGE analysis was performed under standard denaturing Laemmli-conditions with acrylamide concentrations of 5-12 % in the separation gel. Purified fractions were analyzed on gradient gels with a concentration of 5–12 %. Gels were run at 200 V and analyzed *via* ImageLab software 5.2.1. Standard coomassie staining was used to visualize the protein bands.²⁹

Size-exclusion multi-angle light scattering (SEC-MALS)

For molecular weight determination, size-exclusion chromatography coupled to multi-angle lightscattering (SEC-MALS) was performed on a Hitachi L-2130 HPLC system that was equipped with a UV-Vis absorption detector (Hitachi L-2400), a DAWN 8+ MALS detector, and an Optilab refractive index detector (both Wyatt Technology, Dernbach, Germany). For size exclusion, a Superdex 200 Increase 10/300 GL column (GE Healthcare, Uppsala, Sweden) was used with the mobile phase consisting of PBS pH 7.4 operated at a flow rate of 0.5 mL/min. 50 µg of bioconjugate (based on protein weight) were injected in each run. Data analysis was followed by the software Astra 6.0 (Wyatt Technology, Dernbach, Germany). Protein conjugate analysis was performed by the Wyatt protein-conjugate application, which was embedded in the Astra software. UV extinction coefficient for hIL-4 WT was 8860 M⁻¹ cm⁻¹, for *dn/dc* (differential refractive index) of hIL-4 WT, a typical value of 0.185 mL/g was used. *dn/dc* for PEG and LPG were measured at 25 °C on a SEC-3010 RI detector (WGE Dr. Bures GmbH, Dallgow, Germany) which was calibrated against potassium chloride and determined as 0.143 mL/g (PEG) and 0.142 mL/g (LPG).

Reversed Phase (RP)-HPLC analysis

RP-HPLC analysis was performed on an Agilent 1260 Infinity II system, equipped with a VWD detector. The wavelength was set to 214 nm and column oven temperature to 30 °C. 5 μ g of each sample were applied to a ZORBAX 300SB-CN column (4.6 x 150 mm, particle size = 5 μ m) (Agilent, Santa Clara, CA, USA) with an autoinjector. For elution of hIL-4 WT or its bioconjugates, a linear gradient of 5–60 % was used over 30 min at a flow rate of 1 mL/min (eluent A: Water + 0.1 % TFA, eluent B: Acetonitrile + 0.1 % TFA).

Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time of flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF-MS)

The samples were desalted using ZipTipC18-tips (Pierce C18 Tips, Thermo Fisher Scientific) following the manufacturer's instructions. Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization (MALDI-MS) spectra were acquired in the linear positive mode using an ultrafleXtreme mass spectrometer (Bruker Daltonics, Bremen), equipped with a 355 nm smartbeam-II[™] laser. Mass spectra were calibrated with bovine serum albumin. Sinapinic acid was used as a matrix.

Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS)

For determination of the hydrodynamic size of hIL-4 WT and its bioconjugates, dynamic light scattering was performed on a Malvern Zetasizer ZS (Malvern Panalytical, Herrenberg, Germany). All measurements were done at 25 °C in PBS pH 7.4 (c = 0.4 mg/mL) and samples were centrifuged at 10,000 g for 5 min prior to measurements. The hydrodynamic radius is expressed as volume value, as displayed in the Zetasizer software version 7.13.

Far-UV Circular Dichroism (CD)

CD spectra were recorded on a Jasco J810 (Bruker Instruments, Massachusetts, USA) from 190–250 nm at 20 °C to monitor changes in the far-UV region of hIL-4 WT after polymer modification. Measurements were done in 0.1 M phosphate buffer pH 7.2 at a concentration of 0.10–0.11 mg/mL using a bandwidth of 2 nm and a 1 cm-path-length cuvette. Each spectrum was baseline corrected using a blank spectrum of buffer.

HEK Blue IL-4/IL-13 Cells in vitro secreting alkaline phosphatase (SEAP) assay

The cell culture assay was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. The used cells (HEK-Blue[™] IL-4/IL-13 Cells), colorimetric reagents and antibiotics were bought from Invivogen (Toulouse, France).

Plasma stability in human serum

For plasma stability, human AB+ plasma from healthy men was used (Sigma Aldrich, Germany, P9523). Plasma was thawed on ice only once for aliquotation and thawed once again on ice when used. The plasma was incubated in an Eppendorf thermoshaker at 37 °C, 600 rpm. hIL-4 WT or its bioconjugates were spiked into the plasma at a final concentration of 1 ng/mL, small aliquots were taken at predetermined time points and frozen in liquid nitrogen until further characterization. For quantification of hIL-4 WT or its bioconjugates an IL-4 Human ProQuantum Immunoassay Kit (Thermo fisher scientific, A35587) was used according to the manufacturer's instructions with an ABI Prism 7900 HT Real time PCR machine using the standard temperature ramp protocol and micro Amptm 96-well qPCR plates (Applied Biosystems, Germany, N8010560).

Microscale-thermophoresis (MST) for determination of HSA-binding

Microscale thermophoresis experiments were carried out on a Monolith NT.115 instrument (NanoTemper technologies GmbH. München. Germany) usina red laser with LED settinas of 40 % and low MST power. HSA was fluorescently labeled with Alexa Fluor™ 647 NHS dye (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA) prior to measurements using the standard protocol provided by the manufacturer. To minimize alterations in binding due to a high degree of labeling, we used a neutral pH for labeling to favor modification at the protein's N-terminus rather than its lysine-residues.³⁰ After purification, the degree of HSA-labeling was determined as 0.33 according to the manufacturer's instructions. Without the use of surfactant, HSA was sticking to the capillaries during measurement causing fluctuations in fluorescence, that was also present when using premium type capillaries (NanoTemper technologies GmbH). Therefore, we selected PBS pH 7.4 including 0.05 % Tween®20 as buffer system for our measurements. Concentration of HSA was set to 50 nM whereas the hIL-4 WT samples were added in a concentration range between 0.4-10,250 nM. Samples were centrifuged at 13,000 g for 5 min directly before measurements and subsequently loaded into normal Monolith NT.115 capillaries. All samples were prepared and measured in triplicates, with 2-6 runs per measurement.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Expression of hIL-4 WT and synthesis of its mono-PG and -PEG bioconjugates

LPG-mono-aldehyde as well as mPEG-40-aldehyde were synthesized as described previously (for polymer characteristics see table S1).³¹ To exclude a variety in linker structure, the same moiety consisting of a hexyl-spacer between polymer backbone and reactive group was used (Scheme 1). hIL-4 WT was expressed in *E. coli* using a simple expression protocol yielding sufficient amounts, as demonstrated in Figure 1 (Lane 2: appearance of protein band at 15 kDa). The *N*-terminus of hIL-4 WT is not engaged into



Scheme 1. Reaction scheme for the synthesis of N-terminal hIL-4 WT bioconjugates



Figure 1. SDS-PAGE of IL-4 WT and its purified bioconjugates. (1) IL-4 WT uninduced (2) IL-4 WT induced for 6 h (3) IL-4 WT, (4) IL-4-NH-10-PEG, (5) IL-4-NH-10-LPG, (6) IL-4-NH-40-PEG (7) IL-4-NH-40-LPG.

any molecular interactions regarding hIL-4 WT tertiary structure or during receptor binding with IL-4 receptor α (IL-4R α) in its Type I and II receptor binding complex (Figure 2) therefore representing a suitable attachment site for polymer modification. Targeting the *N*-terminus for selective bioconjugation bears some advantages, as it is usually solvent exposed thereby enabling direct use of the wild-type protein. Its *N*-terminal α -amino group shows a pk_a-value \approx 6–9 and therefore displays higher reactivity at acidic pH than lysine ϵ -amino groups (pk_a \approx 10.5).^{30,32}



Figure 2. (A) hIL-4 WT engaged in its receptor binding complex(es) Type I and II (PDB: 2b8u, 3bpl and 3bpn are superimposed). hIL-4 WT is displayed in black to white (N to C terminus) with its *N*-terminal residue highlighted in green. Side chain residues engaged into receptor binding are displayed in the color of the receptor. IL-4Rα is displayed in red. IL-4Rγc is displayed in petrol (Type I). IL-13Rα1 is displayed in orange (Type II). LPG is displayed as a stick model and was attached artificially to the *N*-terminal histidine for demonstration purposes of its positioning. **(B)** Polar contacts in the *N*-terminal environment during Type I and II receptor binding.

On the SDS-gel, a shift to higher molecular weight can be observed after polymer conjugation, with the mono-conjugated product being the preferred one under acidic conditions (Figure 1). The diminished gel-

migration of the bioconjugates (compared to M_w-marker) is possibly due to polymer specific interactions with SDS and has already been described for PEG.^{33,34} hIL-4 WT LPG bioconjugates showed even shorter migration confirming earlier findings for N-terminally modified anakinra,³¹ and suggests a reduced interaction with SDS for LPG-bioconjugates. Due to reactions with hIL-4's side chain lysine-NH₂ groups, multiple bands occurred on the gel reflecting di- or multi-PEGylated/PGylated species (Figure S1), with the mono-product being the preferred one under acidic conditions. The mono-conjugated hIL-4 WT was isolated by ion exchange chromatography, where unmodified hIL-4 WT as well as multi-conjugated hIL-4 WT varied in their elution profile due to a different extent of charge shielding of the protein surfaces. (Figure S2). Overall yields of mono-hIL-4 WT after purification were around 32 % (LPG) and 42 % (PEG) in the case of the 10 kDa polymers and expectedly decreased for the larger 40 kDa chains (12 % and 32 %, respectively).

Characterization of hIL-4 WT bioconjugates by MALDI-TOF MS, SEC-MALS and RP-HPLC

MALDI MS spectra of hIL-4 WT and its 10 kDa bioconjugates showed molecular weights close to their theoretical values (≈ 25 kDa, Figure 3B/C) and further confirmed good comparability between LPG- and PEG-variants of the protein.



Figure 3. MALDI-TOF analysis of (A) hIL-4 WT (expected Mass +1H+: 15095.40) (B) hIL-4-NH-10-LPG (C) hIL-4-NH-10-PEG.

Enzymatic in-gel digestion of hIL-4 WT and hIL-4-NH-10-PEG was employed to proof the *N*-terminal conjugation of the polymers. The resulting peptide digests contained different fragments including one *N*-

terminal peptide bearing the 10 kDa PEG-moiety that was only found in the bioconjugate. We therefore assumed the *N*-terminus being the main polymer attachment site on the protein (Figure S4).

Further analysis by SEC-MALS confirmed the good comparability between masses of hIL-4-NH-10-LPG and -PEG, respectively. For the 40 kDa-bioconjugates, a mass close to its theoretical value (≈ 55 kDa) was obtained for hIL-4-NH-40-PEG, whereas a slightly larger molecular weight was determined for the 40 kDa LPG-analog, most likely due to its larger dispersity being also observed in SDS-PAGE (Table 1, Figure 1).

determined by SEC-MALS and MALDI-TOF-MS SEC-MALS MALDI-TOF-MS Ð [kDa] [kDa]

Table 1. Molecular weight (Mw) of hIL-4 WT and its bioconjugates

	[KDa]		[KDa]	
hIL-4 WT	15.6	1.00	15.097	
hIL-4-NH-10-LPG	29.8	1.06	29.417	
hIL-4-NH-10-PEG	30.9	1.01	26.003	
hIL-4-NH-40-LPG	72.9	1.08	n.d.	
hIL-4-NH-40-PEG	59.9	1.01	n.d.	



n.d.: not determined, D: dispersity

Figure 4. (A) SEC-traces and (B) RP-HPLC analysis of hIL-4 WT and its bioconjugates.

In SEC, hIL-4 WT was retained longest on the column (retention time (r.t.) 35.80 min), as it displayed the smallest hydrodynamic size of all analyzed compounds (Figure 4A). Upon polymer conjugation, elution was shifted to earlier time points, where the LPG-variants of hIL-4 WT eluted a bit later than their PEG-analogs being substantiated by LPG's slightly more compact structure¹⁴ (r.t. 27.11 min (10-LPG) vs. 25.00 min (10-PEG) and 18.79 min (40-LPG) vs. 18.18 min (40-PEG)). We observed this phenomenon previously as well for another N-terminally modified protein, displaying a similar SEC-profile of LPG- and PEG-conjugates.³¹ The hydrophobic elution behavior of IL-4 WT and its bioconjugates was examined by RP-HPLC analysis using a CN column, which shows stronger separation according to protein hydrophobicity than common C18 columns. As demonstrated from the elution profile in reference to hIL-4 WT (r.t. 26.31 min), LPG and PEG significantly impact the protein's overall hydrophilicity (Figure 4B). Conjugation of PEG to hIL-4 WT decreased its hydrophilicity and led to stronger retention on the column, which was quite similar for 10 kDa (r.t. 27.13 min) and 40 kDa PEG (r.t. 26.95 min). The slightly earlier elution of the 40 kDa PEG bioconjugate might be attributed to its larger sterical shielding against interaction with the column matrix. Due to the combination of its hydrophilic oxygen atoms and hydrophobic ethylene units, PEG displays amphiphilic properties. The stronger retention on reversed-phase columns has been shown previously for other PEGylated biomolecules which confirms our findings from HPLC analysis.35–37 In contrast, 10 kDa LPG (r.t. 25.23 min) distinctly increased the hydrophilicity, therefore displaying earlier elution. This effect was even more pronounced in the case of 40 kDa LPG (r.t. 23.66 min), confirming a chain-length dependent effect for LPG.

Determination of secondary structure and hydrodynamic size

To exclude perturbance of hIL-4's secondary structure after polymer modification, circular dichroism was employed for structural characterization. hIL-4 WT shows a strong alpha helical motif, displaying three extrema at 193, 208 and 222 nm.²⁴ After polymer conjugation, no significant changes in the overall alpha-helical structure of hIL-4 WT were observed. (Figure 5A). There was no evidence of random-coil or beta-sheet formation present therefore supporting structural retainment of the bioconjugates, independent of polymer type or length.



Figure 5. (A) CD-spectra of hIL-4 WT and its bioconjugates at 20 °C (n = 3). Data from hIL-4 WT were published already.²⁴ (B) Hydrodynamic radius of hIL-4 WT and its bioconjugates in PBS pH 7.4 (n = 3, *n = 2).

Hydrodynamic size of hIL-4 bioconjugates

Dynamic light scattering was employed to determine the hydrodynamic size of the bioconjugates. hIL-4 WT showed a radius of 1.6 nm at pH 7.4, which was close to earlier reported values obtained from similar molecular weight proteins (Figure 5B).³⁸ Conjugation of a single polymer led to a distinct increase in size, that was even more pronounced in the case of the 40 kDa bioconjugates thereby confirming a chain-length dependent volume expansion. PEG's known ability to form stable hydration layers consisting of around three water molecules per monomer unit³⁹ impacts the overall hydrodynamic volume of protein conjugates, possibly attributed similar for LPG. Furthermore, the highly flexible PEG chain of a mono-bioconjugate usually shows random-coil structure adjacent to the protein (dumbbell-model),⁴⁰ leading to a larger overall size.

Despite its higher abundance of OH-groups in polymer backbone, differences between 10 kDa LPG- and PEG-conjugates were not substantial, with the LPG-10-variant being slightly more compact, which confirms our findings from SEC. The hIL-4-NH-40-LPG bioconjugate was slightly larger than its PEG-analog, which be attributed to a salt effect in DLS, whereas SEC confirmed comparable hydrodynamic sizes between the LPG- and PEG-40-bioconjugate. Previous studies by various methods showed, that high molecular weight

LPG alone (100 kDa) displayed a distinct smaller size than its PEG-analog of same nominal weight (7.4– 7.6 nm difference in radius).¹⁴ However, in our case we did not observe such a clear difference between the LPG- and PEG-bioconjugates within the molecular weight range used in this study. We speculate this distinct compactness might only be pronounced for the free polymer bearing larger chain lengths and therefore higher molecular weights.

In vitro activity of hIL-4 bioconjugates

To assess the impact of polymer conjugation on hIL-4's *in vitro* activity, we tested our bioconjugates in a HEK 293 cell line expressing IL-4-Ra and IL-13Ra1. Binding of hIL-4 WT to IL-4-Ra is recognized by IL-13Ra1 resulting in a dimerization of the receptor, which triggers a tyrosine kinase (Tyk2, JAK1)-mediated translocation of STAT6 into the nucleus.⁴¹ The latter promotes expression of secreted embryonic alkaline phosphatase (SEAP), which can be finally determined in a colorimetric assay.



Figure 6. SEAP assay of HEK Blue IL-4/IL-13 cells after 20 h of stimulation with hIL-4-WT and its bioconjugates. Data points represent mean with SD (n = 3).

hIL-4 WT binds to its IL-4Rα-subunit in the pM range,⁴² which was confirmed by an EC50-range of 1.7– 2.1 pM in our assay (Figure 6, Table 2). Upon polymer conjugation, the biological activity of hIL-4 WT diminished, with hIL-4-NH-10-LPG and hIL-4-NH-10-PEG displaying an approximately three-fold reduced bioactivity. Further extension of the polymer chain resulted in an almost twelve-fold decrease of receptor activation. (EC50: 20.0–24.2 pM and 20.8–25.9 pM for hIL-4-NH-40-LPG and -40-PEG, respectively). The loss in bioactivity thereby scaled proportionally to the increase in polymer molecular weight, as each additional 10 kDa polymer-unit resulted in an approximately three-fold reduction of *in vitro* activity of hIL-4 WT (Table 2). Despite their different hydrophilicity profile, LPG- and PEG-bioconjugates of same nominal weights displayed comparable biological activities, which is in line with other LPG- and PEG-bioconjugates reported.^{31,43} Therefore, we assume the rationale behind diminished biological potency originates from steric hindrance caused by larger hydrodynamic sizes rather than from variations in the bioconjugates hydrophilicity.

In another study by Lühmann *et al.*, 4 kDa poly(2-methyloxazoline) (PMeOx) was employed for the sitespecific modification of hIL-4 followed by characterization of its *in vitro* activity with a similar SEAP-assay as applied here.²² The SEAP-expression level of PMeOx-IL-4 was close to unmodified IL-4 but diminished about factor 1.2–1.4, which is in line with the results obtained for our LPG- and PEG-hIL-4 WT bioconjugates. PMeOx displays comparable hydrophilicity to PEG, but a slightly smaller hydrodynamic size, which might be beneficial in maintaining the biological activity of proteins.^{44,45} Coupling of PMeOx occurred at an alkyne-functionalized lysine at position #K42, which is in close proximity to IL-4's *N*-terminus therefore allowing a certain comparability with the bioconjugates investigated here. However, the molecular weight of the polymers is different (4 kDa vs. 10 and 40 kDa, respectively) which impedes a direct contrasting of the *in vitro* activity of the respective bioconjugates.

Plasma stability and HSA-binding of hIL-4 WT and its bioconjugates

To reveal potential benefits through polymer conjugation impacting the plasma stability of hIL-4 WT, we incubated the free protein or its bioconjugates for 24 h in human plasma and collected samples at predetermined timepoints. No significant decrease in hIL-4 WT content in plasma was observed for up to 24 h therefore demonstrating good stability *in vitro* (Figure 7A). Conjugation of LPG or PEG of different molecular weights to hIL-4 WT had no significant impact on its plasma stability, as all bioconjugates remained stable for up to 24 h, which confirms previous data for PEGylated murine IL-4.²⁴

	EC50 [pM]	K _D to HSA [nM]
hIL-4 WT	1.7-2.1	19.5-65.3
hIL-4-NH-10-LPG	5.8-6.7	281.1-347.2
hIL-4-NH-10-PEG	5.1-5.8	93.7-255.1
hIL-4-NH-40-LPG	20.0-24.2	126.1-286.6
hIL-4-NH-40-PEG	20.8-25.9	298.9-332.0

Table 2. Important biological parameters of hIL-4 WT and its bioconjugates. EC50 and K_D values are given as 95% confidence intervals.

Besides stability, we further investigated binding of hIL-4 WT and its bioconjugates to the most abundant plasma protein human serum albumin (HSA). In pharmaceutical development, plasma protein binding is of high interest, as its extent usually impacts bioavailability and -distribution of drugs. HSA is often used as a target to increase blood circulation time by incorporating albumin-binding motifs on the target protein,46,47 or direct fusion to an albumin molecule.48 Figure 7B shows the binding curves for hIL-4 WT and its LPGand PEG-bioconjugates, where free hIL-4 WT displayed relatively strong binding in the nM-range (kp = 42.4 nM). Upon polymer conjugation, the affinity to HSA decreased with ascending polymer length in the case of hIL-4 WT PEG-conjugates (k_p = 159.4 nM and 315.5 nM for hIL-4-NH-10-PEG and -40-PEG, respectively), which we mostly attribute to steric hindrance and the stealth effect of PEG.⁴⁹ Furthermore, PEG might prevent hydrophobic interactions between hIL-4 WT and HSA due to its amphiphilic nature.50-⁵² The LPG-variants of hIL-4 WT on the other hand showed an inverse behavior regarding HSA-affinity, with the larger hIL-4-NH-40-LPG displaying superior affinity to HSA (k_D = 206.3 nM) compared to its 10kDa analog (k_D = 314.1 nM). We assume that the distinct higher hydrophilicity of the hIL-4-NH-40-LPG bioconjugate might promote HSA-binding to hIL-4 WT, even though differences are only modest. Despite their overall HSA binding diminished in comparison to hIL-4 WT, this minor effect will be likely negligible for the circulation half-life of hIL-4 WT LPG bioconjugates. hIL-4 WT alone shows a serum half-life of only 19 min in humans,⁵³ which can already be extended six-fold in mice through the addition of a 10 kDa PEG moiety²⁴ and resulted in similar HSA binding properties as hIL-4-NH-40-LPG (Figure 7B). Therefore, an

extended circulation time of LPG-hIL-4 WT bioconjugates will be mostly accounted to an increase in hydrodynamic size rather than to their binding to HSA.



Figure 7. (A) ELISA quantification of hIL-4 WT and its bioconjugates after incubation in human plasma for 24 h. (B) Binding analysis of hIL-4 WT and its bioconjugates with fluorescently labeled HSA upon thermophoresis. Each data point represents mean with SD (n = 3).

CONCLUSION

In this article, we demonstrate site-selective *N*-terminal ligation of human interleukin-4 WT with the two distinct polymer types, linear polyglycerol and poly(ethylene glycol). *N*-terminal conjugation was achieved through a reductive alkylation approach at acidic pH yielding the respective mono-conjugates of hIL-4 WT, which were subsequently contrasted in terms of molecular size, *in vitro* stability, bioactivity and HSA-binding properties. LPG- and PEG-hIL-4 WT of same nominal weights showed comparable molecular masses and hydrodynamic sizes. The alpha-helical structure of hIL-4 WT was retained after polymer modification, whereas the bioactivity decreased in a molecular weight dependent manner, where LPG- and PEG-hIL-4 WT of same nominal weights as well as the free protein showed no degradation for up to 24 h in human plasma therefore indicating good *in vitro* stability. Finally, affinity to the plasma protein HSA was determined, where binding of hIL-4 WT generally diminished after polymer conjugation.

To our knowledge, this is the first study describing the *N*-terminal polymer modification of hIL-4 WT. We believe the data presented here could serve as a fundamental to unravel differences in the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic *in vivo* profile of PEGylated and PGylated forms of hIL-4 WT. From an *in vitro* perspective, *N*-terminal LPG-hIL-4 WT bioconjugates showed equivalent biological performance to their PEG-analogs therefore highlighting the good potential of LPG as an alternative polymer platform to improve the pharmacokinetics of small biologics.

ASSOCIATED CONTENT

Supporting Information Available

The following files are available free of charge: Polymer synthesis and characterization, SDS-gels, chromatograms, mass spectra.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding author

*E-mail: haag@chemie.fu-berlin.de

Notes

M. Tully and N. Hauptstein have contributed equally to this work. The authors declare no competing financial interest.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Paria Pouyan and Daniel Kutifa (Freie Universität Berlin) are thanked for the supply of linear polyglycerols. For all NMR and MS measurements, we would like to acknowledge the assistance of the Core Facility BioSupraMol supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) and the division of Mass spectrometry at the Institute for organic chemistry, University of Wuerzburg for their help in MALDI-TOF MS analysis of bioconjugates. This work was supported by the Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (grant number 13XP5049A/B).

REFERENCES

- 1 Zaman R, Islam RA, Ibnat N, Othman I, Zaini A, Lee CY, Chowdhury EH. Current strategies in extending half-lives of therapeutic proteins. J. Contr. Rel. 2019; 301:176–189.
- 2 Alconcel SNS, Baas AS, Maynard HD. FDA-approved poly(ethylene glycol)-protein conjugate drugs. Polym. Chem. 2011; 2:1442– 1448.
- 3 Cheng L, Yang L, Meng F, Zhong Z. Protein Nanotherapeutics as an Emerging Modality for Cancer Therapy. Adv. Health.. Mat. 2018; 7:1800685.
- 4 Steinhilber D, Witting M, Zhang X, Staegemann M, Paulus F, Friess W, Küchler S, Haag R. Surfactant free preparation of biodegradable dendritic polyglycerol nanogels by inverse nanoprecipitation for encapsulation and release of pharmaceutical biomacromolecules. J. Contr. Rel. 2013; 169(3):289–295.
- 5 Turecek PL, Bossard MJ, Schoetens F, Ivens IA. PEGylation of Biopharmaceuticals: A Review of Chemistry and Nonclinical Safety Information of Approved Drugs. J. Pharm. Sci. 2016; 105(2):460–475.
- 6 Knop K, Hoogenboom R, Fischer D, Schubert U.S. Poly(ethylene glycol) in Drug Delivery: Pros and Cons as Well as Potential Alternatives. Angew. Int. Ed. 2010; 49(36):6288–6308.
- 7 Harris JM, Chess RB. Effect of pegylation on pharmaceuticals. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 2003; 2:214-221.
- 8 Kozma GT, Shimizu T, Ishida T, Szebeni J. Anti-PEG antibodies: Properties, formation, testing and role in adverse immune reactions to PEGylated nano-biopharmaceuticals, Adv. Drug Del. Rev. 2020; 154-155:163–175.
- a) Zhang P, Sun F, Liu S, Jiang S. Anti-PEG antibodies in the clinic: Current issues and beyond PEGylation. J. Contr. Rel. 2016;
 244(Pt B):184–193. b) Elsadek NE, Abu Lila AS, Ishida T. Immunological responses to PEGylated proteins: anti-PEG antibodies. In: Pasut, G.; Zalipsky, S. (eds) Polymer-Protein Conjugates: From PEGylation and Beyond 2020; Elsevier, 103–123.
- 10 a) Mohamed M, Abu Lila AS, Shimizu T, Alaaeldin E, Hussein A, Sarhan HA, Szebeni J, Ishida T. PEGylated liposomes: immunological responses. Sci. Techn. Adv. Mat. 2019; 20(1):710–724. b) Kozma GT, Mészáros T, Vashegyi I, Fülöp T, Örfi E, Dézsi L, Rosivall L, Bavli Y, Urbanics R, Mollnes TE, Barenholz Y, Szebeni J. Pseudo-anaphylaxis to Polyethylene Glycol (PEG)-

Coated Liposomes: Roles of Anti-PEG IgM and Complement Activation in a Porcine Model of Human Infusion Reactions. ACS Nano 2019; 13(8):9315–9324.

- 11 a) Castells MC, Phillips EJ. Maintaining Safety with SARS-CoV-2 Vaccines. N. Engl. J. Med. 2021; 384:643–649. b) Rutkowski K, Mirakian R, Till S, Rutkowski R, Wagner A. Adverse reactions to COVID-19 vaccines: A practical approach. Clin. Exp. Allerg. 2021; 00:1–8.
- 12 Thi TTH, Pilkington EH, Nguyen DH, Lee JS. The Importance of Poly(ethylene glycol) Alternatives for Overcoming PEG Immunogenicity in Drug Delivery and Bioconjugation. Polymers 2020; 12(2):298.
- 13 Qi Y, Chilkoti A. Protein-polymer conjugation moving beyond PEGylation. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2015; 28:181-193.
- 14 Imran ul-haq M, Lai BFL, Chapanian R, Kizhakkedathu JN. Influence of architecture of high molecular weight linear and branched polyglycerols on their biocompatibility and biodistribution. Biomaterials 2012; 33(35):9135–9147.
- 15 Kainthan RK, Janzen J, Levin E, Devine DV, Brooks DE. Biocompatibility Testing of Branched and Linear Polyglycidol. Biomacromolecules 2006; 7(3):703–709.
- 16 Kainthan RK, Hester SR, Levin E, Devine DV, Brooks DE. In vitro biological evaluation of high molecular weight hyperbranched polyglycerols. Biomaterials 2007; 28(31):4581–90.
- 17 Imran ul-haq M, Lai BFL, Kizhakkedathu JN. Hybrid polyglycerols with long blood circulation: synthesis, biocompatibility, and biodistribution. Macromol. Biosci. 2014; 14(10):1469–82.
- 18 Khandare J, Calderón M, Dagia NM, Haag R. Multifunctional dendritic polymers in nanomedicine: opportunities and challenges. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2012; 41:2824–2848.
- 19 Zhao L, Xu YH, Qin H, Abe S, Akasaka T, Chano T, Watari F, Kimura T, Komatsu N, Chen X. Platinum on Nanodiamond: A Promising Prodrug Conjugated with Stealth Polyglycerol, Targeting Peptide and Acid-Responsive Antitumor Drug. Adv. Funct. Mat. 2014; 24(34):5348–5357.
- 20 Deng Y, Saucier-Sawyer JK, Hoimes C, Zhang J, Seo YE, Andrejecsk JW, Saltzman WM. The effect of hyperbranched polyglycerol coatings on drug delivery using degradable polymer nanoparticles. Biomaterials 2014; 35(24):6595–6602.
- 21 Siegers C, Biesalski M, Haag R. Self-Assembled Monolayers of Dendritic Polyglycerol Derivatives on Gold That Resist the Adsorption of Proteins. Chemistry – A European Journal 2004; 10(11):2831–2838.

- 22 Lühmann T, Schmidt M, Leiske MN, Spieler V, Majdanski TC, Grube M, Hartlieb M, Nischang I, Schubert S, Schubert US. Site-Specific POxylation of Interleukin-4. ACS Biomat. Sci. Eng. 2017; 3(3):304–312.
- 23 Luzina IG, Keegan AD, Heller NM, Rook GAW, Shea-Donohue T, Atamas SP. Regulation of inflammation by interleukin-4: a review of "alternatives". J. Leuko. Biol. 2012; 92(4):753–764.
- 24 Spieler V, Ludwig MG, Dawson J, Tigani B, Littlewood-Evans A, Safina C, Ebersbach H, Seuwen K, Raschig M, ter Mors B, Müller TD, Meinel L, Lühmann T. Targeting interleukin-4 to the arthritic joint. J. Contr. Rel. 2020; 326:172–180.
- 25 Molineux G. The design and development of pegfilgrastim (PEG-rmetHuG-CSF, Neulasta), Curr. Pharm. Des., 2004, 10, 1235– 1244.
- 26 Lühmann T, Spieler V, Werner V, Ludwig MG, Fiebig J, Mueller TD, Meinel L. Interleukin-4-Clicked Surfaces Drive M2 Macrophage Polarization. Chembiochem 2016; 17(22):2123–2128.
- 27 Lundell D, Greenberg R, Alroy Y, Condon R, Fossetta JD, Gewain K, Kastelein R, Lunn CA, Reim R, Shah C, van Kimmenade A, Narula SK. Cytoplasmic and periplasmic expression of a highly basic protein, human interleukin 4, in Escherichia coli. J. Industr. Microbiol., 1990; 5:215–227.
- 28 Liebner R, Meyer M, Hey T, Winter G, Besheer A. Head to Head Comparison of the Formulation and Stability of Concentrated Solutions of HESylated versus PEGylated Anakinra. J. Pharm. Sci. 2015; 104(2):515-526.
- 29 Lawrence AM, Besir HU. Staining of proteins in gels with Coomassie G-250 without organic solvent and acetic acid. J. visual. exp.: JoVE 2009; 30, DOI: 10.3791/1350.
- 30 Rosen CB, Francis MB. Targeting the N terminus for site-selective protein modification, Nat. Chem. Biol. 2017; 13(7):697–705.
- 31 Tully M, Dimde M, Weise C, Pouyan P, Licha K, Schirner M, Haag R. Polyglycerol for Half-Life Extension of Proteins Alternative to PEGylation? Biomacromolecules 2021; 22(4):1406–1416.
- 32 Grimsley GR, Scholtz JM, Pace CN. A summary of the measured pK values of the ionizable groups in folded proteins. Prot. Sci. 2009; 18(1):247–251.
- 33 Zheng CY, Ma G, Su Z. Native PAGE eliminates the problem of PEG-SDS interaction in SDS-PAGE and provides an alternative to HPLC in characterization of protein PEGylation. Electrophoresis 2007; 28(16):2801–2807.
- 34 Odom OW, Kudlicki W, Kramer G, Hardesty B. An Effect of Polyethylene Glycol 8000 on Protein Mobility in Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate–Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis and a Method for Eliminating This Effect. Anal. Biochem. 1997; 245(2):249–252.
- 35 Park EJ, Na, DH. Optimization of octreotide PEGylation by monitoring with fast reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography. Analytical Biochemistry 2008; 380(1):140–142.
- 36 Hu J, Duppatla V, Harth S, Schmitz W, Sebald W. Site-Specific PEGylation of Bone Morphogenetic Protein-2 Cysteine Analogues. Bioconjugate Chem. 2010; 21(10):1762–1772.
- Veronese FM, Mero A, Caboi F, Sergi M, Marongiu C, Pasut G. Site-Specific Pegylation of G-CSF by Reversible Denaturation.
 Bioconjugate Chem. 2007; 18(6):1824–1830.
- 38 Nemzer LR, Schmit JD, Sorensen C. Lysozyme Aggregation and Fibrillation Monitored by Dynamic Light Scattering. Soft Matter 2013; 9(7):2187–2196.
- 39 Daley KR, Kubarych KJ. An "Iceberg" Coating Preserves Bulk Hydration Dynamics in Aqueous PEG Solutions. J. Phys. Chem. B 2017; 121(46):10574–10582.
- 40 Pai SS, Hammouda B, Hong K, Pozzo DC, Przybycien TM, Tilton RD. The Conformation of the Poly(ethylene glycol) Chain in Mono-PEGylated Lysozyme and Mono-PEGylated Human Growth Hormone. Bioconj. Chem. 2011; 22(11):2317–2323.
- 41 Heeb LEM, Egholm C, Boyman O. Evolution and function of interleukin-4 receptor signaling in adaptive immunity and neutrophils. Genes & Immun. 2020; 21:143–149.
- 42 Duppatla V, Gjorgjevikj M, Schmitz W, Hermanns HM, Schafer CM, Kottmair M, Muller T, Sebald W. IL-4 analogues with sitespecific chemical modification at position 121 inhibit IL-4 and IL-13 biological activities. Bioconj. Chem. 2014; 25(1):52–62.
- 43 Tully M, Wedepohl S, Kutifa D, Weise C, Licha K, Schirner M, Haag R. Prolonged Activity of Exenatide: Detailed Comparison of Site-specific Linear Polyglycerol- and Poly(ethylene glycol)-Conjugates. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 2021; 164:105–113.
- 44 Grube M, Leiske MN, Schubert US, Nischang I. POx as an alternative to PEG? A hydrodynamic and light scattering study. Macromolecules 2018; 51(5):1905–1916.
- 45 Viegas TX, Bentley MD, Harris JM, Fang Z, Yoon K, Dizman B, Weimer R, Mero A, Pasut G, Veronese FM. Polyoxazoline: Chemistry, Properties, and Applications in Drug Delivery. Bioconj. Chem. 2011; 22(5):976–986.

- 46 Jonassen I, Havelund S, Ribel U, Plum A, Loftager M, Hoeg-Jensen T, Volund A, Markussen J. Biochemical and physiological properties of a novel series of long acting insulin analogs obtained by acylation with cholic acid derivatives. Pharm. Res. 2006; 23(1):49–55.
- 47 Chae SY, Choi YG, Son S, Jung SY, Lee DS, Lee KC. The fatty acid conjugated exendin-4 analogs for type 2 antidiabetic therapeutics. J. Contr. Rel. 2010; 144(1):10–16.
- 48 Chuang YM, He L, Pinn ML, Tsai YC, Cheng MA, Farmer E, Karakousis PC, Hung CF. Albumin fusion with granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor acts as an immunotherapy against chronic tuberculosis. Cell. Mol. Immunol. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1038/s41423-020-0439-2.
- 49 Otsuka H, Nagasaki Y, Kataoka K. PEGylated nanoparticles for biological and pharmaceutical applications. Adv. Drug Del. Rev. 2003; 55(3):403–419.
- 50 Keefe A, Jiang S. Poly(zwitterionic)protein conjugates offer increased stability without sacrificing binding affinity or bioactivity. Nature Chem. 2011; 4(1):59–63.
- 51 Han Y, Yuan Z, Zhang P, Jiang S. Zwitterlation mitigates protein bioactivity loss in vitro over PEGylation. Chem. Sci. 2018; 9(45):8561.
- 52 Shao Q, He Y, White AD, Jiang S. Different effects of zwitterion and ethylene glycol on proteins. J. Chem. Phys. 2012; 136(22):225101.
- 53 Prendiville J, Thatcher N, Lind M, McIntosh R, Ghosh A, Stern P, Crowther D. Recombinant human interleukin-4 (rhu IL-4) administered by the intravenous and subcutaneous routes in patients with advanced cancer—A phase I toxicity study and pharmacokinetic analysis. Eur. J. Cancer 1993; 29A(12):1700–1707.

Supporting Information (SI)

Linear Polyglycerol for N-terminal-selective Modification of Interleukin-4

Michael Tully,^{a, ‡} Niklas Hauptstein, ^{b, ‡} Kai Licha,^a Lorenz Meinel,^{b,c}

Tessa Lühmann,^b Rainer Haag^{a,*}

 Institute of Chemistry and Biochemistry, Freie Universität Berlin, Takustr. 3, 14195 Berlin (Germany)

^b Institute of Pharmacy and Food Chemistry, University of Würzburg, Am Hubland, 97074 Würzburg (Germany)

 Helmholtz Institute for RNA-Based Infection Research (HIRI), Helmholtz Center for Infection Research (HZI), 97080 Würzburg, Germany

‡ These authors contributed equally to this work.

Number of pages: S1-S8

Number of figures: S1-S4

Number of tables: 1

EXPERIMENTAL

Dialysis tubes, molecular weight cut-off (MWCO) 1 kDa, were from Carl Roth (Karlsruhe, Germany). 40 kDa LPG-N₃ was purified additionally by Tangential Flow Filtration (RC-membrane, MWCO 10 kDa). Gelpermeation chromatography (GPC) of the LPG-N₃ polymers was performed on an Agilent HPLC system containing an IsoPump (G1310A), a refractive index detector (G1362A) and a manual injection unit (G1328B) (Agilent 1100 Series, PSS, Mainz, Germany). 0.1 M NaNO₃ was used as mobile phase on three Suprema size exclusion columns (calibrated against pullulan (342–708,000 Da)) connected in series to determine molecular weight distribution of the LPGs (**Table S1**).

Synthesis of LPG-10, LPG-40 and PEG-40-aldehyde

The synthesis of LPG- and PEG-aldehyde follows a previous protocol¹ and is described here in short.

LPG-N₃ was synthesized starting from the monomer ethoxy ethyl glycidyl ether (EEGE)² through anionic ring-opening polymerization according to Richter, *et al.*³ In short, tetraoctylammonium bromide as initiator was added to a dried Schlenk flask under inert atmosphere, melted under vacuum and dissolved in dry toluene after cooling to room temperature. Subsequently, EEGE was added while cooling to 4 °C with an ice bath and the polymerization was initiated by fast addition of the catalyst triisobutylaluminium *via* syringe. After 16 h at room temperature, the reaction was quenched with ethanol and further purified by several cycles consisting of freezing and subsequent centrifugation, followed by final dialysis against acetone. The obtained product LPEEGE-Br was then deprotected over night in 3 % HCl (conc.), azidated and subsequently reduced with Tris(2-carboxyethyl)phosphine-hydrochloride (TCEP-HCl) to yield the respective LPG mono amine. In a final step, LPG-amine was modified with the short linker 6,6-dimethoxyhexanoic acid (synthesized from 2-Hydroxycyclohexanone dimer, as described previously^{4,5}) in DMF in the presence of N,N,N',N'-Tetramethyl-O-(N-succinimidyl)uronium hexafluorophosphate (HSTU) and N,N-Diisopropylamine. After 72 h, the reaction mixture was dialyzed against water (three days)

followed by acidic deprotection (3 % HCl conc.) and lyophilization to yield the aldehyde-bearing polymer as slightly yellow solid.

Synthesis of mPEG-40-aldehyde followed the same protocol as described above, starting from the commercially available mPEG-40-NH₂-HCl.

Endoproteinase GluC in-gel digest

In gel digest of IL-4-PEG 10 kDa was performed as described before with GluC (Promega) in 100 mM ammonium bicarbonate buffer instead of Elastase.⁶ After 5% TFA extraction following overnight digest MALDI-MS was performed as described in the experimental section. GluC was chosen over Trypsin to yield a longer amino acid chain rest, as II-4 contains a lysine at position 2, leaving only a 2 AA residue.

Table S1. Molecular weight characteristics and level of aldehyde content of the different polymers used in

this study. (see also ref [1])

polymer sample	M _n [g/mol]	M _w [g/mol]	Ð	end group conversion to protected aldehyde [%]
10-LPG-N₃	12222	14620	1.20	66
40-LPG-N ₃	49377	64421	1.30	61
10-mPEG-CHO	-	11153ª	1.05	>95°
40-mPEG-NH ₂ -HCI	-	42266 ^b	1.03	13

The number in the polymer sample describes the nominal molecular weight in kDa. The properties of PEG were used as supplied by the manufacturer's data sheet. The calculation of the number of protected aldehyde-functionalized polymer chains is described previously.¹ D = dispersity. ^aM_p-value. ^bMALDI-TOF. ^cValue for unprotected aldehyde, as supplied by manufacturer.



Figure S1. SDS-PAGE of coupling reactions of IL-4 WT with its different polymers. (1) IL-4 WT, (2) IL-4-NH-10-LPG, (3) IL-4-NH-10-PEG, (4) IL-4-NH-40-LPG, (5) IL-4-NH-40-PEG.



Figure S2. FPLC cation exchange chromatogram of purification of (A) IL-4-NH-10 kDa and (B) IL-4-NH-40 kDa conjugates.



Figure S3. SEC-MALS data of IL-4 WT and its LPG- and PEG-conjugates. (A) IL-4 WT (B) IL4-NH-10-LPG, (C) IL-4-NH-10-PEG, (D) IL-4-NH-40-LPG, (E) IL-4-NH-40-PEG.



Figure S4. Mass spectra of peptide mixtures after GluC in-gel digestion. (**A**) GluC in-gel digest of IL-4-NH-PEG 10 kDa. The arrow indicates the N-terminal fragment bearing the 10 kDa PEG, which was only found in the conjugate, with a peak mass of 11,847 Da (1-10: 1275.48 Da + 10572 Da PEG). (**B**) GluC in-gel digest of IL-4 WT.

- 1 Tully M, Dimde M, Weise C, Pouyan P, Licha K, Schirner M, Haag R. Polyglycerol for Half-Life Extension of Proteins–Alternative to PEGylation? Biomacromolecules 2021; 22(4):1406–1416.
- 2 Fitton AO, Hill J, Jane DE, Millar R. Synthesis of Simple Oxetanes Carrying Reactive 2-Substituents. Synth. 1987; 12:1140–1142.
- 3 Richter M, Steinhilber D, Haag R, von Klitzing R. Visualization of Real-Time Degradation of pH-Responsive Polyglycerol Nanogels via Atomic Force Microscopy. Macromolecular Rapid Communications 2014; 35(23):2018–2022.
- 4 Zhang J, Zhang M, Du F, Li Z. Synthesis of Functional Polycaprolactones via Passerini Multicomponent Polymerization of 6-Oxohexanoic Acid and Isocyanides. Macromolecules 2016; 49(7): 2592–2600.
- 5 Pozsgay V. Synthesis of Glycoconjugate Vaccines against Shigella dysenteriae Type 1. J. Org. Chem. 1998; 63(17):5983–5999.
- 6 Lühmann T, Spieler V, Werner V, Ludwig MG, Fiebig J, Mueller TD, Meinel L. Interleukin-4-Clicked Surfaces Drive M2 Macrophage Polarization. Chembiochem 2016; 17(22):2123–2128.

5 Conclusion and Outlook

In this thesis, the overall goal was to establish linear polyglycerol as PEG-alternative polymer platform for the half-life extension of therapeutic proteins and peptides. The aim was to design polymer-protein conjugates with a 1:1 ratio of polymer to biomolecule by employing mono-functional LPG and site-selective coupling chemistries. Furthermore, this work aimed to reveal differences between LPG- and PEG-bioconjugates in regard to their hydrodynamic size, bioactivity, and stability *in vitro* and their extended half-life and therapeutic efficacy *in vivo*.

In the first project, a site-selective *N*-terminal conjugation strategy was developed which enabled modification of the therapeutic protein anakinra by employing LPG-aldehyde of 5, 10, 20 and 40 kDa. PEG-conjugates of the same protein were synthesized as reference. The molecular weights of the isolated mono-conjugates were systematically analyzed by multi-angle light scattering and mass spectrometry and confirmed close values for LPG- and PEG-conjugates of same nominal weight, with dispersities below 1.1.

The hydrodynamic size of the bioconjugates increased with ascending polymer length, where the LPG-conjugates displayed slightly smaller values than their PEG-analogs. This finding confirms the general picture of LPG as a more compact polymer than PEG, even though differences were not as large as found for the free polymers.¹²⁹ Studies on enzymatic and thermal degradation revealed a somewhat better performance for the more hydrophilic LPG-conjugates, which aids in designing more stable protein-conjugates in the future. Additionally, binding affinity to IL-1 receptor 1 decreased about factor 3–7 upon polymer conjugation, with no significant differences between LPG- and PEG-conjugates observed. Finally, a pharmacokinetic study of a selected Anakinra-40-LPG conjugate revealed a similar performance and terminal half-life than its PEGylated analog of same molecular weight.

The second project focused on the site-specific C-terminal conjugation of the propargylmodified diabetes therapeutic exenatide. LPG-N₃ of 10, 20 and 40 kDa was employed to synthesize conjugates by Cu-catalyzed click-chemistry. PEG-conjugates of similar molecular weights again served as reference. The secondary structure of exenatide was not altered by polymer conjugation, whereas its hydrodynamic size increased with ascending polymer length. The values were higher than expected, as exenatide is known to exhibit oligomerization in solution, which was not prevented by conjugation of LPG or PEG. Exenatide-LPG-conjugates displayed smaller sizes and a more compact structure than their PEG-analogs of same molecular weight. Furthermore, thermal denaturation studies showed a slightly larger retainment of exenatide's α -helical structure upon PEG-conjugation, which was independent of the length of the polymer. Determination of the *in vitro* bioactivity of the conjugates by GLP-1 receptormediated cAMP-response revealed no significant differences between LPG- and PEGexenatide of same molecular weight. Despite the bioactivity diminished after conjugation, maximum receptor response was still enabled at slightly higher concentrations. The main goal of this project was the evaluation of LPG-conjugates in a therapeutic disease model. A single injection of a selected exenatide-40-LPG conjugate in diabetic mice led to a significant blood glucose reduction for up to 72 h. This extended therapeutic activity was comparable to its exenatide-40-PEG analog, but 9-fold longer than native exenatide (8 h).

The third project aimed to focus on the plasma characterization of LPG-and PEGconjugates. The same coupling strategy as in project 1 was employed to generate *N*-terminal bioconjugates of interleukin-4. Comparable masses and hydrodynamic sizes between LPG- and PEG-IL-4 of same nominal weights were confirmed by SEC-MALS, MALDI-TOF and DLS, respectively. HPLC analysis revealed the large impact of LPG on the overall hydrophilicity of the conjugate, which increased with ascending polymer length. In contrast, PEG-conjugation resulted in a more hydrophobic character of IL-4. Polymer modification diminished the bioactivity of IL-4 in a proportional manner, where each 10 kDa polymer unit attached resulted approximately in a three-fold reduction of potency compared to the unmodified protein. The hydrophilicity had no substantial impact on the bioactivity *in vitro*, as LPG- and PEG-modified IL-4 displayed similar activation of the respective receptor. All conjugates remained stable in human plasma for up to 24 h and displayed diminished binding to human serum albumin (HSA), with no significant impact of polymer type or length observed.

To conclude, this thesis has demonstrated comparable *in vitro* and *in vivo* performances of LPG- and PEG-conjugates of various therapeutic proteins and thereby verified polyglycerol's great potential as an alternative to PEG for half-life extension. The impact of LPG on the bioactivity, terminal half-life and *in vivo* efficacy of selected biopharmaceuticals was similar to PEG. Differences were observed in thermal and proteolytic stability, overall hydrophilicity, and hydrodynamic size of the conjugates.

In the future, questions regarding the immunogenicity and antigenicity of LPG need to be answered. Several setups employing ELISA or SPR already exist that enable the detection of anti-polymer specific antibodies in serum from healthy animals that received weekly doses of a specific PEGylated protein.^{11,298} Other studies evaluated polymers of different chemical structures on their cross-reactivity towards anti-PEG antibodies.¹¹³ This could be useful to determine the antigenicity of LPG outruling concerns about its reactivity towards pre-existing

anti-PEG antibodies in the healthy population, which might impede the therapeutic efficacy of PGylated proteins.

Another aspect covers the lyophilization of biopharmaceuticals. Due to its high content of hydroxy groups, LPG (free or conjugated) could serve as a stabilization tool during freezedrying of therapeutic proteins. So far, high concentrations of sugars (trehalose, sucrose) are used to replace the water hydration shell upon drying.²⁹⁹ Conjugation of LPG might serve as a similar tool and could potentially maintain protein structure, stability and bioactivity after drying without the need of complex formulation studies.

6 Zusammenfassung

Ziel dieser Arbeit war es, Polyglycerol als PEG-alternative Polymer-Plattform zur Halbwertszeitverlängerung von therapeutischen Proteinen und Peptiden zu etablieren. Der Fokus lag dabei auf Polymer-Protein Konjugaten mit definiertem Verhältnis von einer Polymerkette pro Protein, was durch die Anwendung von monofunktionalem LPG und ortsspezifischer Konjugationschemie erreicht werden sollte. Weiterhin sollten Unterschiede zwischen LPG- und PEG-Biokonjugaten bezüglich deren hydrodynamischer Größe, Bioaktivität und Stabilität *in vitro* sowie ihrer verlängerten Halbwertszeit und therapeutischen Effektivität *in vivo* untersucht werden.

Im ersten Projekt dieser Arbeit wurde eine ortsspezifische, *N*-terminale Konjugationsstrategie entwickelt, bei der LPG-Aldehyd mit Molekulargewichten von 5, 10, 20 und 40 kDa an das therapeutische Protein Anakinra konjugiert wurde. PEG-Konjugate des gleichen Proteins wurden als Vergleichsmaterial hergestellt. Die Molekulargewichte der gereinigten Mono-Konjugate wurden systematisch mittels multi-angle light scattering und Massenspektrometrie untersucht, wobei ähnliche Werte für LPG- und PEG-Konjugate gleichen, nominellen Molekulargewichts erhalten wurden. Die Dispersität lag hierbei bei unter 1,1.

Die hydrodynamische Größe der Biokonjugate nahm mit steigender Polymerlänge zu, wobei die LPG-Konjugate ein etwas kleineres Volumen als ihre jeweiligen PEG-analoga zeigten. Die Ergebnisse unterstützen hierbei das Bild von LPG als etwas kompakterem Polymer, verglichen mit PEG, obwohl die Unterschiede bei den Konjugaten nicht so deutlich waren wie bei den freien Polymeren in Lösung.¹²⁹ Studien zum enzymatischen und thermischen Abbau zeigten eine höhere Stabilität der hydrophilen LPG-Konjugate, was hilfreich beim zukünftigen Design von stabileren Proteinkonjugaten sein könnte. Zusätzlich wurde die Affinität der Konjugate an den IL-1 Rezeptor 1 untersucht, wobei die Bindung um Faktor 3–7 abnahm und die LPG- und PEG-Konjugate ähnliches Verhalten zeigten. Schließlich bestätigte eine pharmakokinetische Studie eines ausgewählten Anakinra-40-LPG Konjugats eine vergleichbare Zirkulationsdauer zum jeweiligen PEG-Analogon.

Im zweiten Projekt lag der Fokus auf der ortsspezifschen, C-terminalen Konjugation des Diabetestherapeutikums Exenatid. LPG-Azid (10, 20 und 40 kDa) wurde mittels Kupferkatalysierter "Klick"-Chemie an das Propargyl-modifizierte Peptid angebracht, wobei PEG-Konjugate gleichen Molekulargewichts erneut als Vergleichsmaterial dienten. Die Sekundärstruktur von Exenatid wurde durch die Polymerkonjugation nicht beeinflusst, wohingegen die hydrodynamische Größe mit aufsteigender Polymerkettenlänge zunahm. Die erhaltenen Werte waren hierbei größer als erwartet, da Exenatid zur Bildung von Oligomeren in Lösung neigt, was durch Konjugation von LPG oder PEG nicht unterbunden werden konnte. Die hydrodynamischen Durchmesser der LPG-Exenatid-Konjugate waren kleiner als die der PEG-Konjugate gleichen Molekulargewichts. Die α -helikale Sekundärstruktur von Exenatid konnte bei Erhitzen besser durch PEG stabilisiert werden als durch LPG, wobei die Länge der Polymerkette keine große Rolle spielte. Eine Aktivierung des GLP-1 Rezeptors wurde für LPG-Exenatid in ähnlichem Maße erreicht wie für PEG-Exenatid gleichen Molekulargewichts. Hierbei wurden jedoch höhere Konzentrationen der größeren Konjugate benötigt, um die gleiche, maximale Rezeptorantwort von unmodifiziertem Exenatid zu generieren. Schließlich konnte gezeigt werden, dass ein ausgewähltes LPG-Exenatid-Konjugat die Blutglukose in diabetischen Mäusen ähnlich stark und lange reduzieren kann wie ein PEG-Konjugat gleichen Molekulargewichts (bis zu 72 Stunden).

Im dritten Projekt wurde der Fokus auf die Charakterisierung von LPG- und PEG-Konjugaten gegenüber Plasmabestandteilen gelegt. Hierfür wurde die etablierte Kupplungsstrategie aus dem ersten Projekt angewandt, um *N*-terminale Konjugate des Proteins Interleukin-4 (IL-4) zu erhalten. LPG- und PEG-IL-4 gleichen, nominellen Molekulargewichts zeigten vergleichbare Massen und hydrodynamische Größen. HPLC-Analysen bestätigten den großen Einfluss von LPG auf die generelle Hydrophilie des Konjugats, die mit steigender LPG-Kettenlänge zunahm. Im Gegensatz dazu führte die Konjugation von PEG zu einem eher hydrophoben IL-4-Konstrukt. Die Bioaktivität wurde durch Polymerkonjugation reduziert, wobei das Anbringen einer 10 kDa Polymereinheit zu einer ungefähr 3-fachen Abnahme der *in vitro* Wirksamkeit führte. Große Unterschiede zwischen LPG- und PEG-IL-4 konnten hierbei nicht festgestellt werden. Alle Konjugate waren stabil in Humanplasma (bis 24 Stunden) und zeigten verminderte Affinität zum Plasmaprotein Human Serum Albumin (HSA).

Zusammenfassend konnte in dieser Arbeit dargestellt werden, dass LPG- und PEG-Konjugate verschiedener therapeutischer Proteine ein ähnliches *in vitro* und *in vivo* Verhalten zeigen, was das große Potential von Polyglycerol als PEG-Alternative zur Halbwertszeitverlängerung unterstreicht. Der Einfluss von LPG auf Bioaktivität, terminale Halbwertszeit und *in vivo* Wirksamkeit von ausgewählten Biopharmazeutika war ähnlich wie der von PEG. Unterschiede konnten in den Bereichen thermischer und proteolytischer Stabilität, genereller Hydrophilie und hydrodynamischer Größe festgestellt werden.

Um die Anwendbarkeit von Polyglycerol als PEG-Alternative weiter zu verfestigen, sollten in Zukunft Fragen zu dessen Immunogenität und Antigenizität beantwortet werden. Mehrere Möglichkeiten zur Detektion von anti-Polymer-spezifischen Antikörpern im Serum mittels ELISA oder SPR wurden bereits beschrieben.^{11,298} Zeitlich begrenzte, wöchentliche Injektionen eines bestimmten PG-Konjugats im gesunden Versuchstier würden hierbei eingesetzt, um die entsprechenden Polymer-Antikörper zu erzeugen. Andere Studien befassen sich mit der Kreuz-Reaktivität verschiedener Polymertypen gegenüber anti-PEG Antikörpern.¹¹³ Dies könnte hilfreich sein, um Bedenken gegenüber der Reaktivität von LPG auf bereits bestehende anti-PEG Antikörper in der gesunden Bevölkerung auszuräumen, die eine Anwendbarkeit von PGylierten Proteinen limitieren würde.

Ein anderer Aspekt betrifft die Gefriertrocknung (Lyophilisation) von Biopharmazeutika. Durch den hohen Gehalt an Hydroxygruppen könnte LPG (frei oder konjugiert) die Struktur von therapeutischen Proteinen während des Gefriertrocknungsprozesses stabilisieren. Bisher werden hierfür hohe Konzentrationen von Zuckern (Trehalose, Sucrose) eingesetzt, die die Hydrathülle des Wassers nach Trocknung ersetzen.²⁹⁹ Konjugation von LPG könnte einen ähnlichen Effekt bewirken und somit die Durchführung komplexer Formulierungsstudien zur Proteinstabilität bei Lyophilisation vereinfachen.

7 References

- [1] Kontermann, R.E. Half-life extended biotherapeutics. *Exp. Opin. Biol. Ther.* **2016**, *16*, 903–915.
- [2] Szymkowski, D. Creating the next generation of protein therapeutics through rational drug design. *Curr. Opin. Drug Discov. Devel.*, **2005**, *8*, 590–600.
- [3] Strohl, W.R. Fusion Proteins for Half-Life Extension of Biologics as a Strategy to Make Biobetters. *BioDrugs*, **2015**, *29*, 215–239.
- [4] Caliceti, P.; Veronese, F.M. Pharmacokinetic and biodistribution properties of poly(ethyleneglycol)-protein conjugates. *Adv. Drug Del. Rev.*, **2003**, *55*, 1261–1277.
- [5] Simeon, R.; Chen, Z. *In vitro*-engineered non-antibody protein therapeutics. *Prot. Cell*, **2018**, *9*, 3–14.
- [6] Vermonden, T.; Censi, R.; Hennink, W.E. Hydrogels for protein delivery. *Chem. Rev.*, **2012**, *112*, 2853–2888.
- [7] Cheng, L.; Yang, L.; Meng, F.; Zhong, Z. Protein Nanotherapeutics as an Emerging Modality for Cancer Therapy, *Adv. Health. Mat.*, **2018**, *7*, 1800685.
- [8] Abuchowski, A.; Van Es, T.; Palczuk, N.C.; Davis, F.F. Alteration of immunological properties of bovine serum albumin by covalent
 - attachment of polyethylene glycol. J. Biol. Chem., **1977**, 252, 3578–81. Abuchowski A · McCoy J R · Palczuk N C · Van Es T · Davis F F Effect of
- [9] Abuchowski, A.; McCoy, J.R.; Palczuk, N.C.; Van Es, T.; Davis, F.F. Effect of covalent attachment of polyethylene glycol on immunogenicity and circulating life of bovine liver catalase. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **1977**, *252*, 3582–6.
- [10] Jevsevar, S.; Kunstelj, M.; Gaberc, V.; Porekar, G. PEGylation of therapeutic proteins. *Biotechnol. J.*, **2010**, *5*, 113–128.
- [11] Kozma, G.T.; Shimizu, T.; Ishida, T.; Szebeni, J. Anti-PEG antibodies: Properties, formation, testing and role in adverse immune reactions to PEGylated nanobiopharmaceuticals. *Adv. Drug Del. Rev.*, **2020**, *154–155*, 163–175.
- [12] Ramos-de-la-Pena, A.M.; Aguilar, O. Progress and Challenges in PEGylated Proteins Downstream Processing: A Review of the Last 8 Years. *Int. J. Pept. Res. Ther.*, **2020**, *26*, 333–348.
- [13] Tibbitts, J.; Canter, D.; Graff, R.; Smith, A.; Khawli, L.A. Key factors influencing ADME properties of therapeutic proteins: A need for ADME characterization in drug discovery and development. *mAbs*, **2016**, *8*, 229–245.
- [14] Ward, E.S.; Ober, R.J.; Targeting FcRn to Generate Antibody-Based Therapeutics. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 2018, *39*, 892–904.
- [15] Tana, H.; Sua, W.; Zhang, W.; Wang, P.; Sattler, M.; Zou, P. Recent Advances in Halflife Extension Strategies for Therapeutic Peptides and Proteins. *Curr. Pharm. Des.*, 2018, 24, 4932–4946.
- [16] Roberts, M.J.; Bentley, M.D.; Harris, J.M. Chemistry for peptide and protein PEGylation. *Adv. Drug Del. Rev.*, **2012**, *64*, 116–127.
- [17] a) Monfardini, C.; Schiavon, O.; Caliceti, P.; Morpurgo, M.; Harris, J.M.; Veronese, F.M. A Branched Monomethoxypoly(ethylene glycol) for Protein Modification. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, **1995**, *6*, 62–69. b) Veronese, F. M.; Caliceti, P.; Schiavon, O. Branched and Linear Poly(Ethylene Glycol): Influence of the Polymer Structure on Enzymological, Pharmacokinetic, and Immunological Properties of Protein Conjugates. *Journal of Bioactive and Compatible Polymers*, **1997**, *12*, 196–207.
- [18] D'souza, A.A.; Shegokar, R. Polyethylene glycol (PEG): a versatile polymer for pharmaceutical applications. *Exp. Opin. Drug Del.*, **2016**, *13*, 1257–1275.

- [19] Kishore, R.S.K.; Kiese, S.; Fischer, S.; Pappenberger, A.; Grauschopf, U.; Mahler, H.-C. The Degradation of Polysorbates 20 and 80 and its Potential Impact on the Stability of Biotherapeutics. *Pharm. Res.*, **2011**, *28*, 1194–1210.
- [20] Knop, K.; Hoogenboom, R.; Fischer, D.; Schubert, U.S. Poly(ethylene glycol) in Drug Delivery: Pros and Cons as Well as Potential Alternatives. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2010, 49, 6288–6308.
- [21] Harris, J.M.; Chess, R.B. Effect of PEGylation on pharmaceuticals. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* **2003**, *2*, 214–221.
- [22] Daley, K.R.; Kubarych, K.J. An "Iceberg" Coating Preserves Bulk Hydration Dynamics in Aqueous PEG Solutions, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, **2017**, *121*, 10574–10582.
- [23] Longley, C.B.; Zhao, H.; Lozanguiez, Y.L.; Conover, C.D. Biodistribution and Excretion of Radiolabeled 40 kDa Polyethylene Glycol Following Intravenous Administration in Mice J. Pharm. Sci., **2013**, 102, 2362–2370.
- [24] Yamaoka, T.; Tabata, Y.; Ikada Y. Distribution and tissue uptake of poly(ethylene glycol) with different molecular weights after intravenous administration to mice. J. *Pharm. Sci.* **1994**, *83*, 601–606.
- [25] Baumann A, Tuerck D, Prabhu S, Dickmann L, Sims J. Pharmacokinetics, metabolism and distribution of PEGs and PEGylated proteins: quo vadis? *Drug Discov. Today*, 2014, 19,1623–1631.
- [26] Rabkin, R.; Dahl, D.C. Renal Uptake and Disposal of Proteins and Peptides. In: Audus, K.L.; Raub, T.J. (eds) Biological Barriers to Protein Delivery. Pharmaceutical Biotechnology, Springer, Boston, MA., 1993, 4, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-2898-2_12.
- [27] Nakaoka, R.; Tabata, Y.; Yamaoka, T.; Ikada, Y. Prolongation of the serum half-life period of superoxide dismutase by poly(ethylene glycol) modification. *J. Control. Rel.*, 1997, 46, 253–261.
- [28] Veronese, F.M.; Pasut, G. PEGylation, successful approach to drug delivery. *Drug Discov. Today*, **2005**, *10*, 1451–1458.
- [29] Bailon, P.; Palleroni, A.; Schaffer, C.A.; Spence, C.L.; Fung, W.J.; Porter, J.E.; Ehrlich, G.K.; Pan, W.; Xu, Z.X.; Modi, M.W.; Farid, A.; Berthold, W.; Graves, M. Rational design of a potent, longlasting form of interferon: a 40 kDa branched polyethylene glycolconjugated interferon alpha-2a for the treatment of hepatitis C. *Bioconjug. Chem.*, 2001, 12, 195–202.
- [30] Satake-Ishikawa, R.; Ishikawa, M.; Okada, Y.; Kakitani, M.; Kawagishi, M.; Matsuki, S.; Asano, K. Chemical modification of granulocyte colony stimulating factor by poly(ethylene glycol) increases its biological activity in vivo. *Cell Struct. Funct.*, **1992**, *17*, 157–160.
- [31] Tsutsumi, Y.; Kihira, T.; Yamamoto, S.; Kubo, K.; Nakagawa, S.; Miyake, M.; Horisawa, Y.; Kanamori, T.; Ikegami, H.; Mayumi, T. Chemical modification of natural human tumor necrosis factor-R with poly(ethylene glycol) increases its potency. J. Cancer Res., 1994, 85, 9–12.
- [32] Nyborg, A.C.; Ward, C.; Zacco, A.; Chacko, B.; Grinberg, L.; Geoghegan, J.C.; Bean, R.; Wendeler, M.; Bartnik, F.; O'Connor, E.; Gruia, F.; Iyer, V.; Feng, H.; Roy, V.; Berge, M.; Miner, J.N.; Wilson, D.M.; Zhou, D.; Nicholson, S.; Wilker, C.; Wu, C.Y.; Wilson, S.; Jermutus, L.; Wu, H.; Owen, D.A.; Osbourn, J.; Coats, S.; Baca, M. A Therapeutic Uricase with Reduced Immunogenicity Risk and Improved Development Properties. *PLoS One*, **2016**, *11*, e0167935.
- [33] Chi, E.Y.; Krishnan, S.; Kendrick, B.S.; Chang, B.S.; Carpenter, J.F.; Randolph, T.W. Roles of conformational stability and colloidal stability in the aggregation of recombinant human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. *Protein Science*, 2003, 12, 903–913.

- [34] Chi, E.; Krishnan, S.; Randolph, T.; Carpenter, J. Physical Stability of Proteins in Aqueous Solution: Mechanism and Driving Forces in Nonnative Protein Aggregation. *Pharmaceutical Research*, **2003**, *20*, 1325–1336.
- [35] Dhalluin, C.; Ross, A.; Leuthold, L.C.; Foser, S.; Gsell, B.; Müller, F.; Senn, H. Structural and Biophysical Characterization of the 40 kDa PEG–Interferon-α2a and Its Individual Positional Isomers. *Bioconj. Chem.*, **2005**, *16*, 504–517.
- [36] Treetharnmathurot, B.; Ovartlarnporn, C.; Wungsintaweekul, J.; Duncan, R.; Wiwattanapatapee, R. Effect of PEG molecular weight and linking chemistry on the biological activity and thermal stability of PEGylated trypsin. *Int. J. Pharm.*, 2008, 357, 252–259.
- [37] Rodríguez-Martínez, J.A.; Solá, R.J.; Castillo, B.; Cintrón-Colón, H.R.; Rivera-Rivera, I.; Barletta, G.; Griebenow, K. Stabilization of α-chymotrypsin upon PEGylation correlates with reduced structural dynamics. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 2008, 101, 1142–1149.
- [38] Liebner, R.; Meyer, M.; Hey, T.; Winter, G.; Besheer, A. Head to Head Comparison of the Formulation and Stability of Concentrated Solutions of HESylated versus PEGylated Anakinra. *J. Pharm. Sci.*, **2015**, *104*, 515–526.
- [39] Basu, A.; Yang, K.; Wang, M.; Liu, S.; Chintala, R.; Palm, T.; Zhao, H.; Peng, P.; Wu, D.; Zhang, Z.; Hua, J.; Hsieh, M.-C.; Zhou, J.; Petti, G.; Li, X.; Janjua, A.; Mendez, M.; Liu, J.; Longley, C.; Zhang, Z.; Mehlig, M.; Borowski, V.; Viswanathan, M.; Filpula, D. Structure–Function Engineering of Interferon β-1b for Improving Stability, Solubility, Potency, Immunogenicity, and Pharmacokinetic Properties by Site-Selective Mono-PEGylation, *Bioconj. Chem.*, **2006**, *17*, 618–630.
- [40] Rajan, R.S.; Li, T.; Aras, M.; Sloey, C.; Sutherland, W.; Arai, H.; Briddell, R.; Kinstler, O.; Lueras, A.M.K.; Zhang, Y.; Yeghnazar, H.; Treuheit, M.; Brems, D.N. Modulation of protein aggregation by polyethylene glycol conjugation: GCSF as a case study. *Protein Science*, 2006, 15, 1063–1075.
- [41] Turecek, P.L.; Bossard, M.J.; Graninger, M.; Gritsch, H., Höllriegl, W.; Kaliwoda, M.; Matthiessen, P.; Mitterer, A.; Muchitsch, E.-M.; Purtscher, M.; Rottensteiner, H.; Schiviz, A.; Schrenk, G.; Siekmann, J.; Varadi, K.; Riley, T.; Ehrlich, H.J.; Schwarz, H.P.; Scheiflinger, F. BAX 855, a PEGylated rFVIII product with prolonged half-life. *Hämostaseologie*, 2012, *32*, S29–S38.
- [42] Turecek, P.L.; Bossard, M.J.; Schoetens, F.; Ivens, I.A. PEGylation of biopharmaceuticals: a review of chemistry and nonclinical safety information of approved drugs. *J. Pharm. Sci.*, **2016**, *105*, 460–475.
- [43] Dozier, J.K.; Distefano, M.D. Site-Specific PEGylation of Therapeutic Proteins. Int. J. Mol. Sci., 2015, 16, 25831–25864.
- [44] Veronese, F.M.; Pasut, G. PEGylation: Posttranslational bioengineering of protein biotherapeutics. successful approach to drug delivery. *Drug Discov. Today.* **2008**, *5*, e57–e64.
- [45] Dolence, E.K.; C. Hu, C.; Tsang, R.; Sanders, C.G.; Osaki, S. Electrophilic polyethylene oxides for the modification of polysaccharides, polypeptides (proteins) and surfaces. US Patent 5, 650, 234, 1997.
- [46] Miron, T.; Wilchek, M. A simplified method for the preparation of succinimidyl carbonate polyethylene glycol for coupling to proteins. *Bioconj. Chem.* **1993**, *4*, 568–569.
- [47] Abuchowski, A.; Kazo, G.M.; Verhoest Jr., C.R.; Van Es, T.; Kafkewitz, D.; Nucci, M.L.; Viau, A.T.; Davis, F.F. Cancer therapy with chemically modified enzymes. I. Antitumor properties of polyethylene glycol-asparaginase conjugates. *Cancer Biochem. Biophys.*, 1984, 7, 175–186.

- [48] Carter, M.C.; Meyerhoff, M.E. Instability of succinyl ester linkages in O2'monosuccinyl cyclic AMP-protein conjugates at neutral pH. J. Immunol. Methods, 1985, 81, 245–257.
- [49] Kloos, R.; Van der Sluis, I.M.; Mastrobattista, E.; Hennink, W.; Pieters, R.; Verhoef, J.-J.; Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia patients treated with PEGasparaginase develope antibodies to PEG and the succinate linker. *Brit. Journal of Haem.*, 2020, 189, 442–451.
- [50] Veronese, F.M.; Caliceti, P.; Schiavon, O. Branched and linear poly(ethylene glycol): influence of the polymer structure on enzymological, pharmacokinetic and immunological properties of protein conjugates. J. Bioact. Compat. Polym., 1997, 12, 196–207.
- [51] Zalipsky, S.; Barany, G. Preparation of polyethylene glycol derivatives with two different functional groups at the termini, Polym. *Preprints*, **1986**, *27*, 1–2.
- [52] Harris, J.M.; Kozlowski, A. Polyethylene glycol and related polymers monosubstituted with propionic or butanoic acids and functional derivatives thereof for biotechnical applications. **1997**, *US Patent* 5,672,662.
- [53] Kinstler, O.; Molineux, G.; Treuheit, M.; Ladd, D.; Gegg, C. Mono-N-terminal poly(ethylene glycol)-protein conjugates. *Adv. Drug Del. Rev.*, **2002**, *54*, 477–485.
- [54] Grimsley, G.R.; Scholtz, J.M.; Pace, C.N. A summary of the measured pK values of the ionizable groups in folded proteins. *Prot. Sci.*, **2009**, *18*, 247–251.
- [55] Rosen, C.B.; Francis, M.B. Targeting the N terminus for site-selective protein modification. *Nat. Chem. Biol.*, **2017**, *13*, 697–705.
- [56] Molineux, G. The design and development of pegfilgrastim (PEG-rmetHuG-CSF, Neulasta), *Curr. Pharm. Des.*, **2004**, *10*, 1235–1244.
- [57] Baker, D.P.; Lin, E.Y.; Lin, K.; Pellegrini, M.; Petter, R.C.; Chen, L.L.; Arduini, R.M.; Brickelmaier, M.; Wen, D.; Hess, D.M.; Chen, L.; Grant, D.; Whitty, A.; Gill, A.; Lindner, D.J.; Pepinsky, R.B. N-terminally PEGylated human interferon-beta-1a with improved pharmacokinetic properties and in vivo efficacy in a melanoma angiogenesis model. *Bioconj. Chem.*, **2006**, *17*, 179–188.
- [58] Doherty, D.H.; Rosendahl, M.S.; Smith, D.J.; Hughes, J.M.; Chlipala, E.A.; Cox, G.N. Site-Specific PEGylation of Engineered Cysteine Analogues of Recombinant Human Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 2005, 16, 1291–1298.
- [59] Ramirez-Paz, J.; Saxena, M.; Delinois, L.J.; Joaquín-Ovalle, F.M.; Lin, S.; Chen, Z.; Rojas-Nieves, V.A.; Griebenow, K.Thiol-maleimide poly(ethylene glycol) crosslinking of L-asparaginase subunits at recombinant cysteine residues introduced by mutagenesis. *PLoS ONE*, **2018**, *13*, e0197643.
- [60] Guo, J.; Khatri, A.; Maeda, A.; Potts J.T.Jr.; Jüppner, H.; Gardella, T.J. Prolonged Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic Actions of a Pegylated Parathyroid Hormone (1-34) Peptide Fragment. *J Bone Miner Res.*, **2017**, *32*, 86–98.
- [61] Nesbitt, A.; Fossati, G.; Bergin, M.; Stephens, P.; Stephens, S.; Foulkes, R.; Brown, D.; Robinson, M.; Bourne, T. Mechanism of action of certolizumab pegol (CDP870): in vitro comparison with other anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha agents. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.*, 2007, 13, 1323–1332.
- [62] Wu, L.; Chen, J.; Wu, Y.; Zhang, B.; Cai, X.; Zhang, Z.; Wang, Y.; Si, L.L. a, Xua, H.; Zheng, Y.X.; Zhang, C.L.; Liang, C.; Li, J.; Zhang, L.; Zhang, Q.; Zhou, D. Precise and combinatorial PEGylation generates a low-immunogenic and stable form of human growth hormone. J. Contr. Rel., 2017, 249, 84–93.
- [63] Tamshen, K.; Wang, Y.; Jamieson, S.M.F.; Perry, J.K.; Maynard, H.M. Genetic Code Expansion Enables Site-Specific PEGylation of a Human Growth Hormone Receptor Antagonist through Click Chemistry. *Bioconj. Chem.*, **2020**, *31*, 2179–2190.

- [64] Lühmann, T.; Jones, G.; Gutmann, M.; Rybak, J. C.; Nickel, J.; Rubini, M.; Meinel, L. Bio-orthogonal Immobilization of Fibroblast Growth Factor 2 for Spatial Controlled Cell Proliferation. ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng., 2015, 1, 740–746.
- [65] Lühmann, T.; Schmidt, M.; Leiske, M.N.; Spieler, V.; Majdanski, T.C.; Grube, M.; Hartlieb, M.; Nischang, I.; Schubert, S.; Schubert, U.S. Site-Specific POxylation of Interleukin-4, ACS Biomat. Sci. Eng., 2017, 3, 304–312.
- [66] Rashidian, M.; Dozier, J.K.; Distefano, M.D. Enzymatic Labeling of Proteins: Techniques and Approaches. *Bioconj. Chem.*, **2013**, *24*, 1277–1294.
- [67] Popp, M.W.; Antos, J.M.; Grotenbreg, G.M.; Spooner, E.; Ploegh, H.L. Sortagging: A versatile method for protein labeling. *Nat. Chem. Biol.*, **2007**, *3*, 707–708.
- [68] Popp, M.W.; Dougan, S.K.; Chuang, T.-Y.; Spooner, E.; Ploegh, H.L. Sortase-catalyzed transformations that improve the properties of cytokines. *PNAS*, **2011**, *108*, 3169–3174.
- [69] Zhao, X.; Shaw, A.C.; Wang, J.; Chang, C.; Deng, J.; Su, J. A novel high-throughput screening method for microbial transglutaminases with high specificity toward Gln141 of human growth hormone. *J. Biomol. Screen.*, **2010**, *15*, 206–212.
- [70] Veronese, F.M. Peptide and protein PEGylation: a review of problems and solutions. *Biomaterials*, **2001**, *22*, 405–417.
- [71] Payne, R.W.; Murphy, B.M.; Manning, M.C. Product development issues for PEGylated proteins. *Pharmaceutical Development and Technology*, **2011**, *16*, 423–440.
- [72] Gaberc-Porekar, V.; Zore, I.; Podobnik, B.; Menart, V. Pitfalls and Drawbacks in PEGylation of proteins. *Curr. Opin. Drug Discov.Devel.*, **2008**, *12*, 242–250.
- [73] Ha, E.; Wang, W.; Wang, Y.J.; Peroxide formation in polysorbate 80 and protein stability. *J. Pharm. Sci.*, **2002**, *91*, 2252–2264.
- [74] Viegas T.X.; Veronese F.M. Regulatory strategy and approval processes considered for PEG-drug conjugates and other nanomedicines. In: Veronese, F.M. (eds) PEGylated Protein Drugs: Basic Science and Clinical Applications. Milestones in Drug Therapy. Birkhäuser Basel, 2009, 273–281.
- [75] Bendele, A.; Seely, J.; Richey, C.; Sennello, G.; Shopp, G. (1998) Short communication: renal tubular vacuolation in animals treated with polyethylene-glycol-conjugated proteins. *Toxicol. Sci.*, **1998**, *42*, 152–157.
- [76] Bossard, M.J. PEG–protein conjugates; regulatory requirements for characterization. In: Pasut, G.; Zalipsky, S. (eds) Polymer-Protein Conjugates, Elsevier, **2020**, 141–154.
- [77] Webster, R.; Elliott, V.; Park, K.B.; Walker, D.; Hankin, M.; Taupin, P. PEG and PEG conjugates toxicity: towards an understanding of the toxicity of PEG and its relevance to PEGylated biologicals. In: Veronese, F.M. (eds) PEGylated Protein Drugs: Basic Science and Clinical Applications, 2009, 127–146.
- [78] Richter, A.W.; Akerblom, E. Polyethylene glycol reactive antibodies in man: titer distribution in allergic patients treated with monomethoxy polyethylene glycol modified allergens or placebo, and in healthy blood donors. *Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol.*, 1984, 74, 36–39.
- [79] Armstrong, J.K. The occurence, induction, specificity and potential effect of antibodies against poly(ethylene glycol). In: Veronese, F.M. (eds) PEGylated Protein Drugs: Basic Science and Clinical Applications, **2009**, 147–168.
- [80] Yang, Q.; Jacobs, T. M.; McCallen, J. D.; Moore, D. T.; Huckaby, J. T.; Edelstein, J. N.; Lai, S. K. Analysis of Pre-existing IgG and IgM Antibodies against Polyethylene Glycol (PEG) in the General Population. *Analytical Chemistry*, 2016, 88, 11804-11812.
- [81] Yang, Q.; Lai, K. S. Anti-PEG immunity: emergence, characteristics, and unaddressed questions. *Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol.*, **2015**, *7*, 655–677.
- [82] Ganson, N.J.; Povsic, T.J.; Sullenger, B.A.; Alexander, J.H.; Zelenkofske, S.L.; Sailstad, J.M.; Rusconi, C.P.; Hershfield, M.S. Pre-existing anti-polyethylene glycol

antibody linked to first-exposure allergic reactions to pegnivacogin, a PEGylated RNA aptamer, *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, **2016**, *137*, 1610–1613.

- [83] Wenande, E.; Garvey, L.H. Immediate-type hypersensitivity to polyethylene glycols: a review. *Clin. Exp. Allerg.*, **2016**, *46*, 907–922.
- [84] Kozma, G.T.; Mészáros, T.; Vashegyi, I.; Fülöp, T.; Örfi, E.; Dézsi, L.; Rosivall, L.; Bavli, Y.; Urbanics, R.; Mollnes, T.E.; Barenholz, Y.; Szebeni, J. Pseudo-anaphylaxis to Polyethylene Glycol (PEG)-Coated Liposomes: Roles of Anti-PEG IgM and Complement Activation in a Porcine Model of Human Infusion Reactions. ACS Nano, 2019, 13, 9315–9324.
- [85] a) Castells, M.C.; Phillips, E.J. Maintaining Safety with SARS-CoV-2 Vaccines. N. Engl. J. Med., 2021; 384, 643–649. b) Sellaturay, P.; Nasser, S.; Islam, S.; Gurugama, P.; Ewan, P.W. Polyethylene glycol (PEG) is a cause of anaphylaxis to the Pfizer/BioNTech mRNA COVID-19 vaccine. Clin. Exp. Allerg., 2021, 00, 1–3. c) Rutkowski, K.; Mirakian, R.; Till, S.; Rutkowski, R.; Wagner, A. Adverse reactions to COVID-19 vaccines: A practical approach. Clin. Exp. Allerg., 2021, 00, 1–8.
- [86] a) Elsadek, N.E.; Abu Lila, A.S.; Ishida, T. Immunological responses to PEGylated proteins: anti-PEG antibodies. In: Pasut, G.; Zalipsky, S. (eds) Polymer-Protein Conjugates: From PEGylation and Beyond. Elsevier, 2020, 103–123. b) Zhang, P.; Sun, F.; Liu, S.; Jiang, S. Anti-PEG antibodies in the clinic: Current issues and beyond PEGylation. J. Contr., Rel., 2016, 244, 184–193.
- [87] Sundy, J.S.; Ganson, N.J.; Kelly, S.J.; Scarlett, E.L.; Rehrig, C.D.; Huang, W.; Hershfield, M.S. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of intravenous PEGylated recombinant mammalian urate oxidase in patients with refractory gout. *Arthritis Rheum.*, **2007**, *56*, 1021–1028.
- [88] Lipsky, P.E.; Calabrese, L.H.; Kavanaugh, A.; Sundy, J.S.; Wright, D.; Wolfson, M.; Becker, M.A. Pegloticase immunogenicity: the relationship between efficacy and antibody development in patients treated for refractory chronic gout, *Arthritis Res. Ther.*, **2014**, *16*, R60.
- [89] Armstrong, J.K.; Hempel, G.; Koling, S.; Chan, L.S.; Fisher, T.; Meiselman, H.J.; Garratty, G. Antibody against poly(ethylene glycol) adversely affects PEG-asparaginase therapy in acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients, *Cancer*, **2007**, *110*, 103–111.
- [90] Bailon, P.; Won, C.-Y. PEG-modified biopharmaceuticals. *Exp. Opin. Drug Del.*, **2009**, 6, 1–16.
- [91] Angiolillo, A.L.; Schore, R.J.; Devidas, M.; Borowitz, M.J.; Carroll, A.J.; Gastier-Foster, J.M.; Heerema, N.A.; Keilani, T.; Lane, A.R.; Loh, M.L.; Reaman, G.H.; Adamson, P.C.; Wood, B.; Wood, C.; Zheng, H.W.; Raetz, E.A.; Winick, N.J.; Carroll, W.L.; Hunger, S.P. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties of calaspargase pegol Escherichia coli L-asparaginase in the treatment of patients with acute lymphoblastic Leukemia: results from Children's Oncology Group Study AALL07P4. J. Clin. Oncol., 2014, 32, 3874–3882.
- [92] Abu Lila, A.S.; Kiwada, H.; Ishida, T. The accelerated blood clearance (ABC) phenomenon: Clinical challenge and approaches to manage. *J. Contr. Rel.*, **2013**, *172*, 38–47.
- [93] Thi, T.T.H.; Pilkington, E.H.; Nguyen, D.H.; Lee, J.S.; Park, K.D.; Truong, N.P. The Importance of Poly(ethylene glycol) Alternatives for Overcoming PEG Immunogenicity in Drug Delivery and Bioconjugation, *Polymers* **2020**, *12*, 298.
- [94] Mima, Y.; Hashimoto, Y.; Shimizu, T.; Kiwada, H.; Ishida, T. Anti-PEG IgM Is a Major Contributor to the Accelerated Blood Clearance of Polyethylene Glycol-Conjugated Protein. *Mol. Pharmaceutics*, **2015**, *12*, 2429–2435.

- [95] Lee, C.C.; Su, Y.C.; Ko, T.P.; Lin, L.L.; Yang, C.Y.; Chang, S.S.; Roffler, S.R.; Wang, A.H. Structural basis of polyethylene glycol recognition by antibody. *J. Biomed. Sci.*, 2020, 27, 12.
- [96] Huckaby, J.T.; Jacobs, T.M.; Li, Z.; Perna, R.J.; Wang, A.; Nicely, N.I.; Lai, S.K. Structure of an anti-PEG antibody reveals an open ring that captures highly flexible PEG polymers. *Commun. Chem.*, **2020**, *3*, 124.
- [97] Sherman, M.R.; Williams, L.D.; Sobczyk, M.A.; Michaels, S.J.; Saifer, M.G. Role of the methoxy group in immune responses to mPEG-protein conjugates, *Bioconjug. Chem.*, **2012**, *23*, 485–499.
- [98] Saifer, M.G.; Williams, L.D.; Sobczyk, M.A.; Michaels, S.J.; Sherman, M.R. Selectivity of binding of PEGs and PEG-like oligomers to anti-PEG antibodies induced by methoxyPEG-proteins. *Mol. Immunol.*, **2014**, *57*, 236–246.
- [99] Obukhanych, T.V.; Nussenzweig, M.C. T-independent type II immune responses generate memory B cells. J. Exp. Med., 2006, 203, 305–310.
- [100] Ishida, T.; Wang, X.Y.; Shimizu, T.; Nawata, K.; Kiwada, H. PEGylated liposomes elicit an anti-PEG IgM response in a T cell-independent manner. *J. Contr. Rel.*, **2007**, *122*, 349–355.
- [101] McSweeney, M.D.; Shen, L.; DeWalle, A.C.; Joiner, J.B.; Ciociola, E.C.; Raghuwanshi, D.; Macauley, M.S.; Lai, S.K. Pre-treatment with high molecular weight free PEG effectively suppresses anti-PEG antibody induction by PEG-liposomes in mice. J. Contr. Rel., 2021, 329, 774–781.
- [102] Plesner, B.; Fee, C.J.; Westh, P.; Nielsen, A.D. Effects of PEG size on structure, function and stability of PEGylated BSA. *Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm.*, 2011, 79, 399– 405.
- [103] Holm, L.S.; Thulstrup, P.W.; Kasimova, M.R.; van de Weert, M. Preferential Interactions and the Effect of Protein PEGylation, *PloS One*, 2015, 10, e0133584, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0133584.
- [104] Pelosi, C.; Duce, C.; Wurm, F.R.; Tinè, M.R. Effect of Polymer Hydrophilicity and Molar Mass on the Properties of the Protein in Protein–Polymer Conjugates: The Case of PPEylated Myoglobin. *Biomacromolecules*, **2021**, *22*, 1932–1943.
- [105] a) Kirincic, S.; Klofutar, C. Viscosity of aqueous solutions of poly(ethylene glycol)s at 298.15 K. *Fluid Phase Equilibria*, 1999, 155, 311–325. b) Acharya, S.A.; Acharya, V.N.; Kanika, N.D.; Tsai, A.G.; Intaglietta, M.; Manjula, B.N. Non-hypertensive tetraPEGylated canine haemoglobin: correlation between PEGylation, O2 affinity and tissue oxygenation. *Biochem. J.*, 2007, 405, 503–511.
- [106] Kurfürst, M.M. Detection and molecular weight determination of polyethylene glycolmodified hirudin by staining after sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. *Anal. Biochem.*, **1992**, *200*, 244–248.
- [107] a) Odom, O.W.; Kudlicki, W.; Kramer, G.; Hardesty, B. An Effect of Polyethylene Glycol 8000 on Protein Mobility in Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate–Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis and a Method for Eliminating This Effect. *Anal. Biochem.*, **1997**, *245*, 249–252. b) Zheng, C.Y.; Ma, G.; Su, Z. Native PAGE eliminates the problem of PEG-SDS interaction in SDS-PAGE and provides an alternative to HPLC in characterization of protein PEGylation. *Electrophoresis*, **2007**, *28*, 2801–2807.
- [108] Berek, D. Size exclusion chromatography A blessing and a curse of science and technology of synthetic polymers. J. Sep. Sci., 2010, 33, 315–335.
- [109] Fee, C.J.; Van Alstine, J.M. Prediction of the Viscosity Radius and the Size Exclusion Chromatography Behavior of PEGylated Proteins. *Bioconj. Chem.*, 2004, 15, 1304– 1313.
- [110] Fee, C.J. Size Comparison Between Proteins PEGylated With Branched and Linear Poly(Ethylene Glycol) Molecules. *Biotech. Bioeng.*, **2007**, *98*, 725–731.

- [111] Stetefeld, J.; McKenna, S.A.; Patel, T.R. Dynamic light scattering: a practical guide and applications in biomedical sciences. *Biophys. Rev.*, **2016**, *8*, 409–427.
- [112] Shah, K.; Maghsoudlou, P. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA): the basics. *British J. Hosp. Med.*, **2016**, 77, C98–C101.
- [113] McCallen, J.; Prybylski, J.; Yang, Q.; Lai, S.K. Cross-Reactivity of Select PEG-Binding Antibodies to Other Polymers Containing a C-C-O Backbone. ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng., 2017, 3, 1605–1615.
- [114] Schellekens, H.; Hennink, W.E.; Brinks, V. The immunogenicity of polyethylene glycol: facts and fiction. *Pharm. Res.*, **2013**, *30*, 1729–1734.
- [115] Gheybi, H.; Sattari, S.; Bodaghi, A.; Soleimani, K.; Dadkhah, A.; Adeli, M. Polyglycerols In: Parambath, A. (ed) Engineering of Biomaterials for Drug Delivery Systems. Beyond Polyethylene Glycol. Woodhead Publishing Series in Biomaterials, 2018, 103–108.
- [116] Pouyan, P.; Nie, C.; Bhatia, S.; Wedepohl, S.; Achazi, K.; Osterrieder, N.; Haag, R. Inhibition of Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Attachment and Infection by Sulfated Polyglycerols with Different Architectures. *Biomacromolecules*, 2021, 22, 1545–1554.
- [117] Thomas, A.; Müller, S.S.; Frey, H. Beyond Poly(ethylene glycol): Linear Polyglycerol as a Multifunctional Polyether for Biomedical and Pharmaceutical Applications. *Biomacromolecules*, **2014**, *15*, 1935–1954.
- [118] Gervais, M.; Brocas, A.-L.; Cendejas, G.; Deffieux, A.; Carlotti, S. Synthesis of Linear High Molar Mass Glycidol-Based Polymers by Monomer-Activated Anionic Polymerization. *Macromolecules*, 2010, 43, 1778–1784.
- [119] Gervais, M.; Brocas, A.-L.; Cendejas, G.; Deffieux, A.; Carlotti, S.Linear High Molar Mass Polyglycidol and its Direct α-Azido Functionalization. *Macromol. Symp.*, 2011, 308, 101–111.
- [120] Gervais, M.; Labbé, A.; Carlotti, S.; Deffieux, A. Direct Synthesis of α-Azido,ωhydroxypolyethers by Monomer-Activated Anionic Polymerization. *Macromolecules*, 2009, 42, 2395–2400.
- [121] Wurm, F.; Dingels, C., Frey, H.; Klok, H.A. Squaric Acid Mediated Synthesis and Biological Activity of a Library of Linear and Hyperbranched Poly(Glycerol)–Protein Conjugates, *Biomacromolecules*, **2012**, *13*, 1161–1171.
- [122] Weinhart, M.; Grunwald, I.; Wyszogrodska, M.; Gaetjen, L.; Hartwig, A.; Haag, R. Linear poly(methyl glycerol and linear polyglycerol as potent protein and cell resistant alternatives to poly(ethylene glycol). *Chemistry, An Asian Journal*, **2010**, *5*, 1992–2000.
- [123] Bej, R.; Achazi, K.; Haag, R.; Ghosh, S. Polymersome Formation by Amphiphilic Polyglycerol-b-polydisulfide-b-polyglycerol and Glutathione-Triggered Intracellular Drug Delivery. *Biomacromolecules*, 2020, 21, 3353–3363.
- [124] Thomas, A.; Niederer, K.; Wurm, F.; Frey, H. Combining oxyanionic polymerization and click-chemistry: a general strategy for the synthesis of polyether polyol macromonomers. *Polym. Chem.*, **2014**, *5*, 899–909.
- [125] Haamann, D.; Keul, H.; Klee, D.; Möller, M. Functionalization of Linear and Star-Shaped Polyglycidols with Vinyl Sulfonate Groups and Their Reaction with Different Amines and Alcohols. *Macromolecules*, 2010, 43, 6295–6301.
- [126] Calderón, M.; Quadir, M.A.; Sharma, S.K.; Haag, R. Dendritic Polyglycerols for Biomedical Applications, *Adv. Mater.*, **2010**, *22*, 190–218.
- [127] Kainthan, R.K.; Janzen, J.; Levin, E.; Devine, D.V.; Brooks, D.E. Biocompatibility Testing of Branched and Linear Polyglycidol. *Biomacromolecules*, **2006**, *7*, 703–709.
- [128] Kainthan, R.K.; Hester, S.R.; Levin, E.; Devine, D.V.; Brooks, D.E. In vitro biological evaluation of high molecular weight hyperbranched polyglycerols. *Biomaterials*, 2007, 28, 4581–4590.

- [129] Imran Ul-haq, M.; Lai, B.F.L.; Chapanian, R.; Kizhakkedathu, J.N. Influence of architecture of high molecular weight linear and branched polyglycerols on their biocompatibility and biodistribution, *Biomaterials*, **2012**, *33*, 9135–9147.
- [130] Siegers, C.; Biesalski, M.; Haag, R. Self-assembled monolayers of dendritic polyglycerol derivatives on gold that resist the adsorption of proteins. *Chem.-A Eur. J.*, 2004, 10, 2831–2838.
- [131] a) Zhao, L.; Xu, Y.-H.; Qin, H.; Abe, S.; Akasaka, T.; Chano, T.; Watari, F.; Kimura, T.; Komatsu, N.; Chen, X. Platinum on Nanodiamond: A Promising Prodrug Conjugated with Stealth Polyglycerol, Targeting Peptide and Acid-Responsive Antitumor Drug. *Adv. Funct. Mat.*, 2014, 24, 5348–5357. b) Deng, Y.; Saucier-Sawyer, J.K.; Hoimes, C.J.; Zhang, J.; Seo, Y.-E.; Andrejecsk, J.W.; Saltzman, W.M. The effect of hyperbranched polyglycerol coatings on drug delivery using degradable polymer nanoparticles. *Biomaterials*, 2014, 35, 6595–6602. c) Bochenek, M.; Oleszko-Torbus, N.; Wałach, W.; Lipowska-Kur, D.; Dworak, A.; Utrata-Wesołek, A. Polyglycidol of Linear or Branched Architecture Immobilized on a Solid Support for Biomedical Applications. *Polymer Reviews*, 2020, *60*, 717–767.
- [132] Abu Lila, A.S.; Nawata, K.; Shimizu, T.; Ishida, T.; Kiwada, H. Use of polyglycerol (PG), instead of polyethylene glycol (PEG), prevents induction of the accelerated blood clearance phenomenon against long-circulating liposomes upon repeated administration. *Int. J. Pharm.*, **2013**, *456*, 235–242.
- [133] Abu Lila, A.S.; Uehara, Y.; Ishida, T.; Kiwada, H. Application of polyglycerol coating to plasmid DNA lipoplex for the evasion of the accelerated blood clearance phenomenon in nucleic acid delivery. *J. Pharm. Sci.*, **2014**, *104*, 557–566.
- [134] Spears, B.R.; Waksal, J.; McQuade, C.; Lanier, L.; Harth, E. Controlled branching of polyglycidol and formation of protein–glycidol bioconjugates via a graft-from approach with "PEG-like" arms. *Chem. Commun.*, **2013**, *49*, 2394.
- [135] Steinhilber, D.; Witting, M.; Zhang, X.; Staegemann, M.; Paulus, F.; Friess, W.; Küchler, S.; Haag, R. Surfactant free preparation of biodegradable dendritic polyglycerol nanogels by inverse nanoprecipitation for encapsulation and release of pharmaceutical biomacromolecules. J. Contr. Rel., 2013, 169, 289–295.
- [136] Wu, C.; Böttcher, C.; Haag, R. Enzymatically crosslinked dendritic polyglycerol nanogels for encapsulation of catalytically active proteins. *Soft Matter*, **2015**, *11*, 972.
- [137] Witting, M.; Molina, M.; Obst, K.; Plank, R.; Eckl, K.M.; Hennies, H.C.; Calderón, M.; Frieß, W.; Hedtrich, S. Thermosensitive dendritic polyglycerol-based nanogels for cutaneous delivery of biomacromolecules. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medicine*, **2015**, *11*, 1179–1187.
- [138] Adams, N.; Schubert, U.S. Poly(2-oxazolines) in biological and biomedical application contexts. *Adv. Drug Delivery Rev.*, **2007**, *59*, 1504–1520.
- [139] Hoogenboom, R. Poly(2-oxazoline)s: A polymer class with numerous potential applications. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, **2009**, *48*, 7978–7994.
- [140] Lorson, T.; Lübtow, M.M.; Wegener, E.; Haider, M.S.; Borova, S.; Nahm, D.; Jordan, R.; Sokolski-Papkov, M.; Kabanov, A.V.; Luxenhofer, R. Poly(2-oxazoline)s based biomaterials: A comprehensive and critical update. *Biomaterials*, **2018**, *178*, 204–280.
- [141] Kobayashi, S.; Mureo, K.; Sawada, S.; Saegusa, T. Synthesis of poly(2-methyl-2oxazoline) macromers. *Polym. Bull.*, **1985**, *13*, 447–451.
- [142] Liu, Q.; Konas, M.; Riffle, J. S. Investigations of 2-ethyl-2-oxazoline polymerizations in chlorobenzene. *Macromolecules*, **1993**, *26*, 5572–5576.
- [143] Viegas, T.X.; Bentley, M.D.; Harris, J.M.; Fang, Z.; Yoon, K.; Dizman, B.; Weimer, R.; Mero, A.; Pasut, G.; Veronese, F.M. Polyoxazoline: Chemistry, Properties, and Applications in Drug Delivery. *Bioconj. Chem.* 2011, 22, 976–986.

- [144] Wiesbrock, F.; Hoogenboom, R.; Leenen, M.A.M.; Meier, M.A.R.; Schubert, U.S. Investigation of the living cationic ring-opening polymerization of 2-methyl, 2-ethyl, 2nonyl, and 2-phenyl-2-oxazoline in a single-mode microwave reactor. *Macromolecules*, 2005, 38, 5025–5034.
- [145] Barz, M.; Luxenhofer, R.; Zentel, R.; Vicent, M.J. Overcoming the PEG-addiction: well-defined alternatives to PEG, from structure–property relationships to better defined therapeutics. *Polym. Chem.* 2011, 2, 1900–1918.
- [146] Luxenhofer, R.; Sahay, G.; Schulz, A.; Alakhova, D.; Bronich, T.K.; Jordan, R.; Kabanov, A.V.J. Structure-property relationship in cytotoxicity and cell uptake of poly(2-oxazoline) amphiphiles. *J. Contr. Rel.*, 2011, 153, 73–82.
- [147] Bauer, M.; Schroeder, S.; Tauhardt, L.; Kempe, K.; Schubert, U.S.; Fischer, D. In Vitro Hemocompatibility and Cytotoxicity Study of Poly(2-methyl-2-oxazoline) for Biomedical Applications. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem., 2013, 51, 1816–1821.
- Bauer, M.; Lautenschlaeger, C.; Kempe, K.; Tauhardt, L.; Schubert, U.S.; Fischer, D. Poly(2-ethyl-2-oxazoline) as Alternative for the Stealth Polymer Poly(ethylene glycol): Comparison of in vitro Cytotoxicity and Hemocompatibility. *Macromol. Biosci.*, 2012, 12, 986-998.
- [149] Goddard, P.; Hutchinson, L.E.; Brown, J.; Brookman, L.J.; Soluble polymeric carriers for drug delivery. Part 2. Preparation and in vivo behaviour of N-acylethylenimine copolymers. *J. Contr. Rel.*, **1989**, *10*, 5–16.
- [150] Gaertner, F.C.; Luxenhofer, R.; Blechert, B.; Jordan, R.; Essler, M. Synthesis, biodistribution and excretion of radiolabeled poly(2-alkyl-2-oxazoline)s. J. Contr. Rel., 2007, 119, 291–300.
- [151] Moreadith, R.W.; Viegas, T.X.; Bentley, M.D.; Harris, J.M.; Fang, Z.; Yoon, K.; Dizman, B.; Weimer, R.; Rae, B.P.; Li, X.; Rader, C.; Standaert, D.; Olanow, W. Clinical development of a poly(2-oxazoline) (POZ) polymer therapeutic for the treatment of Parkinson's disease – Proof of concept of POZ as a versatile polymer platform for drug development in multiple therapeutic indications. *Eur. Polym. J.*, 2017, 88, 524–552.
- [152] Zalipsky, S.; Hansen, C.B.; Oaks, J.M.; Allen, T.M. Evaluation of blood clearance rates and biodistribution of poly(2-oxazoline)-grafted liposomes. *J. Pharm. Sci.*, **1996**, *85*, 133–137.
- [153] Woodle, M.C.; Engbers, C.M.; Zalipsky, S. New amphipatic polymer–lipid conjugates forming long-circulating reticuloendothelial system-evading liposomes. *Bioconj. Chem.*, **1994**, *5*, 493–496.
- [154] Grube, M.; Leiske, M.N.; Schubert, U.S.; Nischang, I. POx as an alternative to PEG? A hydrodynamic and light scattering study, *Macromolecules*, **2018**, *51*, 1905–1916.
- [155] Gubarev, A.; Monnery, B.D.; Lezov, A.A.; Sedláček, O.; Tsvetkov, N.V.; Hoogenboom, R.; Filippov, S.K. Conformational properties of biocompatible poly(2ethyl-2-oxazoline) s in phosphate buffered saline. *Polym. Chem.*, **2018**, *9*, 2232.
- [156] Mero, A.; Fang, Z.; Pasut, G.; Veronese, F.M.; Viegas, T.X. Selective conjugation of poly(2-ethyl 2-oxazoline) to granulocyte colony stimulating factor. J. Contr. Rel., 2012, 159, 353–361.
- [157] Viegas T.X.; Fang, Z.; Yoon, K.; Weimer, R.; Dizman, B.; Weimer, R. Poly(oxazolines) In: Parambath, A. (ed) Engineering of Biomaterials for Drug Delivery Systems. Beyond Polyethylene Glycol. Woodhead Publishing Series in Biomaterials, 2018, 173–198.
- [158] Luxenhofer, R.; Han, Y.; Schulz, A.; Tong, J.; He, Z.; Kabanov, A.V.; Jordan, R. Poly(2-oxazoline)s as Polymer Therapeutics. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.* 2012, 33, 1613–1631.

- [159] Ulbricht, J.; Jordan, R.; Luxenhofer, R. On the biodegradability of polyethylene glycol, polypeptoids and poly(2-oxazoline)s. *Biomaterials*, **2014**, *35*, 4848–4861.
- [160] Ulbricht, J.; Faust, M.; Luxenhofer, R. Degradation of high molar mass poly(ethylene glycol), poly(2-ethyl-2-oxazoline) and poly(vinyl pyrrolidone) by reactive oxygen species. *ChemRxiv*, **2017**, *in press*, DOI:10.26434/chemrxiv.5358079.v1.
- [161] Lin, P.; Clash, C.; Pearce, E.M.; Kwei, T.K.; Aponte, M.A. Solubility and Miscibility of Poly(ethyl oxazoline). *Polym. Sci. Part B*, **1988**, *26*, 603–619.
- [162] Kyluik-Price, D.L.; Li, L.; Scott, M.D. Comparative efficacy of blood cell immunocamouflage by membrane grafting of methoxypoly(ethylene glycol) and polyethyloxazoline. *Biomaterials*, **2014**, *35*, 412–422.
- [163] Kierstead, P.H.; Okochi, H.; Venditto, V.J.; Chuong, T.C.; Kivimae, S.; Fréchet, J.M.; Szoka, F.C. The effect of polymer backbone chemistry on the induction of the accelerated blood clearance in polymer modified liposomes. J. Contr. Rel., 2015, 213, 1–9.
- [164] Luxenhofer, R.; Schulz, A.; Roques, C.; Li, S.; Bronich, T.K.; Batrakova, E.V.; Jordan, R.; Kabanov, A.V. Doubly amphiphilic poly(2-oxazoline)s as high-capacity delivery systems for hydrophobic drugs. *Biomaterials*, **2010**, *31*, 4972–4979.
- [165] Awasthi, R.; Manchanda, S.; Das, P.; Velu, V.; Malipeddi, H.; Pabreja, K.; Pinto, T.D.J.A.; Gupta, G.; Dua, K. Poly(vinylpyrrolidone). In: Parambath, A. (ed) Engineering of Biomaterials for Drug Delivery Systems. Beyond Polyethylene Glycol. Woodhead Publishing Series in Biomaterials, 2018, 255–272.
- [166] Qi, Y.; Chilkoti, A. Protein–polymer conjugation moving beyond PEGylation. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.*, **2015**, *28*, 181–193.
- [167] Zelikin, A.N.; Such, G.K.; Postma, A.; Caruso, F. Poly(vinylpyrrolidone) for bioconjugation and surface ligand immobilization. *Biomacromolecules*, 2007, *8*, 2950– 2953.
- [168] Pound, G.; McKenzie, J.M.; Lange, R.F.M.; Klumperman, B. Polymer-protein conjugates from ω-aldehyde endfunctional poly(N-vinylpyrrolidone) via xanthatemediated living radical polymerization. Chem. Commun., 2008, 3193–3195.
- [169] Kaneda, Y.; Tsutsumi, Y.; Yoshioka, Y.; Kamada, H.; Yamamoto, Y.; Kodaira, H.; Tsunoda, S.; Okamoto, T.; Mukai, Y.; Shibata, H.; Nakagawa, S.; Mayumi, T. The use of PVP as a polymeric carrier to improve the plasma half-life of drugs. *Biomaterials*, 2004, 25, 3259–3266.
- [170] Kamada, H.; Tsutsumi, Y.; Yamamoto, Y.; Kihira, T.; Kaneda, Y.; Mu, Y.; Kodaira, H.; Tsunoda, S.-I.; Nakagawa, S.; Mayumi, T. Antitumor Activity of Tumor Necrosis Factor-α Conjugated with Polyvinylpyrrolidone on Solid Tumors in Mice. *Cancer Res.*, 2000, 60, 6416–6420.
- [171] Scales, C.W.; Vasilieva, Y.A.; Convertine, A.J.; Lowe, A.B.; McCormick, C.L. Direct, controlled synthesis of the nonimmunogenic, hydrophilic polymer, poly(N-(2-hydroxypropyl)methacrylamide) via RAFT in aqueous media. *Biomacromolecules*, 2005, *6*, 1846–1850.
- [172] Tao, L.; Liu, J.; Xu, J.; Davis, T.P. Synthesis and bioactivity of poly(HPMA)–lysozyme conjugates: the use of novel thiazolidine-2-thione coupling chemistry. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* 2009, 7, 3481–3485.
- [173] Tao, L.; Liu, J.; Davis, T.P. Branched polymer-protein conjugates made from midchain-functional P(HPMA). *Biomacromolecules*, **2009**, *10*, 2847–2851.
- [174] Monajati, M.; Tamaddon, A.M.; Yousefi, G.; Abolmaali, S.S.; Dinarvand, R. Applications of RAFT polymerization for chemical and enzymatic stabilization of L-asparaginase conjugates with well-defined poly(HPMA). *New J. Chem.*, **2019**, *43*, 11564.

- [175] Kudaibergenov, S.; Jaeger, W.; Laschewsky, A. Polymeric Betaines: Synthesis, Characterization, and Application. *Adv. Polym. Sci.*, **2006**, *201*, 157–224.
- [176] Jiang, S.; Cao, Z. Ultralow-Fouling, Functionalizable, and Hydrolyzable Zwitterionic Materials and Their Derivatives for Biological Applications. *Adv. Mater.*, 2010, 22, 920–932.
- [177] Yang, W.; Zhang, L.; Wang, S.L.; White, A.D.; Jiang, S.Y. Functionalizable and ultra stable nanoparticles coated with zwitterionic poly(carboxybetaine) in undiluted blood serum. *Biomaterials*, **2009**, *30*, 5617–5621.
- [178] Chen, S.F.; Zheng, J.; Li, L.Y.; Jiang, S.Y. Strong Resistance of Phosphorylcholine Self-Assembled Monolayers to Protein Adsorption: Insights into Nonfouling Properties of Zwitterionic Materials. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2005, 127, 14473.
- [179] He, Y.; Hower, J.; Chen, S.F.; Bernards, M.T.; Chang, Y.; Jiang, S.Y. Molecular simulation studies of protein interactions with zwitterionic phosphorylcholine self-assembled monolayers in the presence of water. *Langmuir*, **2008**, *24*, 10358.
- [180] Shao, Q.; Jiang, S. Molecular Understanding and Design of Zwitterionic Materials. *Adv. Mater.* **2015**, *27*, 15–26.
- [181] Lowe, A.B.; McCormick, C.L. Synthesis and Solution Properties of Zwitterionic Polymers. *Chem. Rev.*, **2002**, *102*, 4177–4189.
- [182] Keefe, A., Jiang, S. Poly(zwitterionic)protein conjugates offer increased stability without sacrificing binding affinity or bioactivity. *Nature Chem.*, **2011**, *4*, 59–63.
- [183] Lewis, A.; Tang, Y.; Brocchini, S.; Choi, J.-W.; Godwin, A. Poly(2methacryloyloxyethyl phosphorylcholine) for Protein Conjugation. *Bioconj. Chem.*, 2008, 19, 2144–2155.
- [184] Hu, J.; Wang, G.; Zhao, W.; Gao, W. In situ growth of a C-terminal interferon-alpha conjugate of a phospholipid polymer that outperforms PEGASYS in cancer therapy. *J. Contr. Rel.*, **2016**, *237*, 71–77.
- [185] Pang, Y.; Liu, J.; Qi, Y.; Li, X.; Chilkoti, A. A Modular Method for the High-Yield Synthesis of Site-Specific Protein-Polymer Therapeutics. *Angew. Chem.*, 2016, 128, 10452-56.
- [186] Bhattacharjee, S.; Liu, W.; Wang, W.-H.; Weitzhandler, I.; Li, X.; Qi, Y.; Liu, J.; Pang, Y.; Hunt, D.F.; Chilkoti, A. Site-Specific Zwitterionic Polymer Conjugates of a Protein Have Long Plasma Circulation. *ChemBioChem*, 2015, 16, 2451–2455.
- [187] Liu, S.; Jiang, S. Zwitterionic polymer-protein conjugates reduce polymer-specific antibody response. *Nanotoday*, **2016**, *11*, 285–291.
- [188] Xie, J.; Lu, Y.; Wang, W.; Zhu, H.; Wang, Z.; Cao, Z. Simple Protein Modification Using Zwitterionic Polymer to Mitigate the Bioactivity Loss of Conjugated Insulin. Adv. Health. Mater., 2017, 6, 1601428.
- [189] Han, Y.; Yuan, Z.; Zhang, P.; Jiang, S. Zwitterlation mitigates protein bioactivity loss in vitro over PEGylation. *Chem. Sci.*, **2018**, *9*, 8561.
- [190] Shao, Q.; He, Y.; White, A.D.; Jiang, S. Different effects of zwitterion and ethylene glycol on proteins. J. Chem. Phys., **2012**, 136, 225101.
- [191] Yang, W.; Liu, S.; Bai, T.; Keefe, A.J.; Zhang, L.; Ella-Menye, J.-R.; Li, Y.; Jiang, S. Poly(carboxybetaine) nanomaterials enable long circulation and prevent polymerspecific antibody production. *Nanotoday*, **2014**, *9*, 10–16.
- [192] Li, B.; Yuan, Z.; Hung, H.-C.; Ma, J.; Jain, P.; Tsao, C.; Xie, J.; Zhang, P.; Lin, X.; Wu, K.; Jiang, S. Revealing the Immunogenic Risk of Polymers. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, **2018**, *57*, 13873–13876.
- [193] Hou, Y.; Lu, H. Protein PEPylation: A New Paradigm of Protein–Polymer Conjugation. *Bioconj. Chem.*, 2019, 30, 1604–1616.

- [194] Wang, H.; Hou, Y.; Hu, Y.; Dou, J.; Shen, Y.; Wang, Y.; Lu, H. Enzyme-Activatable Interferon–Poly(α-amino acid) Conjugates for Tumor Microenvironment Potentiation *Biomacromolecules*, 2019, 20, 3000–3008.
- [195] Hou, Y.; Zhou, Y.; Wang, H.; Wang, R.; Yuan, J.; Hu, Y.; Sheng, K.; Feng, J.; Yang, S.; Lu, H. Macrocyclization of Interferon–Poly(α-amino acid) Conjugates Significantly Improves the Tumor Retention, Penetration, and Antitumor Efficacy. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **2018**, *140*, 1170–1178.
- [196] Hou, Y.; Zhou, Y.; Wang, H.; Sun, J.; Wang, R.; Sheng, K.; Yuan, J.; Hu, Y.; Chao, Y.; Liu, Z.; Lu, H. Therapeutic Protein PEPylation: The Helix of Nonfouling Synthetic Polypeptides Minimizes Antidrug Antibody Generation. ACS Cent. Sci., 2019, 5, 229–236, https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acscentsci.8b00548.
- [197] Hu, Y.; Hou, Y.; Wang, H.; Lu, H. Polysarcosine as an Alternative to PEG for Therapeutic Protein Conjugation. *Bioconj. Chem.*, **2018**, *29*, 2232–2238.
- [198] Bleher, S.; Buck, J.; Muhl, C.; Sieber, S.; Barnert, S.; Witzigmann, D.; Huwyler, J.; Barz, M.; Süss, R. Poly(Sarcosine) Surface Modification Imparts Stealth-Like Properties to Liposomes. *Small*, **2019**, *15*, 1904716.
- [199] Settanni, G.; Schäfer, T.; Muhl, C.; Barz, M.; Schmid, F. Poly-sarcosine and Poly(Ethylene-Glycol) Interactions with Proteins Investigated Using Molecular Dynamics Simulations. *Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal*, 2018, 16, 543–550.
- [200] Weber, B.; Birke, A.; Fischer, K.; Schmidt, M.; Barz, M. Solution properties of Polysarcosine: from absolute and relative molar mass determinations to complement activation. *Macromolecules*, **2018**, *51*, 2653–2661.
- [201] Nogueira, S.S.; Schlegel, A.; Maxeiner, K.; Weber, B.; Barz, M.; Schroer, M.A.; Blanchet, C.E.; Svergun, D.I.; Ramishetti, S.; Peer, D.; Langguth, P.; Sahin, U.; Haas, H. Polysarcosine Functionalized Lipid Nanoparticles for Therapeutic mRNA Delivery *ACS Appl. Nano Mater.*, 2020, *3*, 10634–10645.
- [202] Son, K.; Ueda, M.; Taguchi, K.; Maruyama, T.; Takeoka, S.; Ito, Y. Evasion of the accelerated blood clearance phenomenon by polysarcosine coating of liposomes. *Journal of Controlled Release*, **2020**, *322*, 209–216.
- [203] Lee, Y.; Koo, H.; Jin, G.; Mo, H.; Cho, M.Y.; Park, J.-Y.; Choi, J.S.; Park, J.S. Poly(ethylene oxide sulfide): new poly(ethylene glycol) derivatives degradable in reductive conditions. *Biomacromolecules*, **2005**, *6*, 24–26.
- [204] Mero, A.; Schiavon, O, Pasut G, Veronese FM: A biodegradable polymeric carrier based on PEG for drug delivery. J. Bioact. Compat. Polym., 2009, 24, 220–234.
- [205] Liu, M.; Leroux, J.-C.; Gauthier, M.A. Conformation-function relationships for the comb-shaped polymer pOEGMA. *Prog. Polym. Sci.*, 2015, 48, 111–121, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2015.03.001.
- [206] Lele, B.S.; Murata, H.; Matyjaszewski, K.; Russell, A.J. Synthesis of uniform proteinpolymer conjugates. *Biomacromolecules*, **2005**, *6*, 3380–3387.
- [207] Gao, W.; Liu, W.; Mackay, J.A.; Zalutsky, M.R.; Toone, E.J.; Chilkoti, A. In situ growth of a stoichiometric PEG-like conjugate at a protein's N-terminus with significantly improved pharmacokinetics. *PNAS*, **2009**, *106*, 15231–15236.
- [208] Magnusson, J.P.; Bersani, S.; Salmaso, S.; Alexander, C.; Caliceti, P. In Situ Growth of Side-Chain PEG Polymers from Functionalized Human Growth Hormones–A New Technique for Preparation of Enhanced Protein-Polymer Conjugates. *Bioconj. Chem.*, 2010, 21, 671–678.
- [209] Gao, W.; Liu, W.; Christensen, T.; Zalutsky, M.R.; Chilkoti, A. In situ growth of a PEGlike polymer from the C terminus of an intein fusion protein improves pharmacokinetics and tumor accumulation. *PNAS*, **2010**, *107*, 16432–16437.

- [210] Qi, Y.; Amiram, M.; Gao, W.; McCafferty, D.G.; Chilkoti, A. Sortase-Catalyzed Initiator Attachment Enables High Yield Growth of a Stealth Polymer from the C Terminus of a Protein. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.*, 2013, 34, 1256–1260.
- [211] Liu, M.; Johansen, P.; Zabel, F.; Leroux, J.-C.; Gauthier, M.A. Semi-permeable coatings fabricated from comb-polymers efficiently protect proteins in vivo. *Nat. Commun.*, 2014, 5, 5526.
- [212] Qi, Y.; Simakova, A.; Ganson, N.J.; Li, X.; Luginbuhl, K.M.; Ozer, I.; Liu, W.; Hershfield, M.S.; Matyjaszewski, K.; Chilkoti, A. A brushpolymer/exendin-4 conjugate reduces blood glucose levels for up to five days and eliminates poly(ethylene glycol) antigenicity. *Nat. Biomed. Eng.*, 2016, 1, 0002.
- [213] Hu, J.; Wang, G.; Zhao, W.; Liu, X.; Zhang, L.; Gao, W. Site-specific *in situ* growth of an interferon-polymer conjugate that outperforms PEGASYS in cancer therapy. *Biomaterials*, **2016**, *96*, 84–92.
- [214] a) Ryan, S.M.; Wang, X.; Mantovani, G.; Sayers, C.T.; Haddleton, D.M.; Brayden, D.J. Conjugation of salmon calcitonin to a combed-shaped end functionalized poly(poly(ethylene glycol) methyl ether methacrylate) yields a bioactive stable conjugate. J. Contr. Rel., 2009, 135, 51–59. b) Ryan, S.M.; Frías, J.M.; Wang, X.; Sayers, C.T.; Haddleton, D.M.; Brayden, D.J. PK/PD modelling of comb-shaped PEGylated salmon calcitonin conjugates of differing molecular weights. J. Contr. Rel., 2011, 149, 126–132.
- [215] Morgenstern, J.; Alvaradejo, G.G.; Bluthardt, N.; Beloqui, A.; Delaittre, G.; Hubbuch, J. Impact of Polymer Bioconjugation on Protein Stability and Activity Investigated with Discrete Conjugates: Alternatives to PEGylation. *Biomacromolecules*, **2018**, *19*, 4250–4262.
- [216] Joh, D.Y.; Zimmers, Z.; Avlani, M.; Heggestad, J.T.; Aydin, H.B.; Ganson, N.; Kumar, S.; Fontes, C.M.; Achar, R.K.; Hershfield, M.S.; Hucknall, A.M.; Chilkoti, A. Architectural Modification of Conformal PEG-Bottlebrush Coatings Minimizes Anti-PEG Antigenicity While Preserving Stealth Properties. *Adv. Healthc. Mater.*, 2019, 8, 1801177.
- [217] Bauer, K.N.; Liu, L.; Wagner, M.; Andrienko, D.; Wurm, F.R. Mechanistic study on the hydrolytic degradation of polyphosphates. *Eur. Polym. J.*, **2018**, *108*, 286–294.
- [218] Pelosi, C.; Tin, M.R.; Wurm, F.R.; Main-chain water-soluble polyphosphoesters: Multifunctional polymers as degradable PEG-alternatives for biomedical applications *European Polymer Journal*, **2020**, *141*, 110079.
- [219] Steinbach, T.; Wurm, F.R.; Poly(phosphoester)s: A New Platform for Degradable Polymers. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2015**, *54*, 6098–6108.
- [220] Wang, J.; Mao, H. Q.; Leong, K. W. A Novel Biodegradable Gene Carrier Based on Polyphosphoester. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2001, 123, 9480.
- [221] Huang, S.-W.; Wang, J.; Zhang, P.-C.; Mao, H.-Q.; Zhuo, R.-X.; Leong, K. W. Water-Soluble and Nonionic Polyphosphoester: Synthesis, Degradation, Biocompatibility and Enhancement of Gene Expression in Mouse Muscle. *Biomacromolecules*, 2004, 5, 306–311.
- [222] a) Schöttler, S.; Becker, G.; Winzen, S.; Steinbach, T.; Mohr, K.; Landfester, K.; Mailänder, V.; Wurm, F.R. Protein adsorption is required for stealth effect of poly(ethylene glycol)- and poly(phosphoester)-coated nanocarriers. *Nature Nanotech*, 2016, 11, 372–377. b) Simon, J.; Wolf, T.; Klein, K.; Landfester, K.; Wurm, F.R.; Mailänder, V. Hydrophilicity Regulates the Stealth Properties of Polyphosphoester-Coated Nanocarriers. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2018, 57, 5548–5553.
- [223] Russo, D.; Plazanet, M.; Teixeira, J.; Moulin, M.; Härtlein, M.; Wurm, F. R.; Steinbach, T. Investigation into the Relaxation Dynamics of Polymer–Protein Conjugates Reveals

Surprising Role of Polymer Solvation on Inherent Protein Flexibility. *Biomacromolecules*, **2016**, *17*, 141–147.

- [224] Russo, D.; de Angelis, A.; Garvey, C.J.; Wurm, F.R.; Appavou, M.-S.; Prevost, S. Effect of Polymer Chain Density on Protein–Polymer Conjugate Conformation. *Biomacromolecules*, 2019, 20, 1944–1955.
- [225] Russo, D.; de Angelis, A.; Paciaroni, A.; Frick, B.; de Sousa, N.; Wurm, F.R.; Teixeira, J. Protein–Polymer Dynamics as Affected by Polymer Coating and Interactions. *Langmuir*, 2019, 35, 2674–2679.
- [226] Russo, D.; Garvey, C.J.; Wurm, F.R.; Teixeira, J. Conformation of Myoglobin Poly(Ethyl Ethylene Phosphate) Conjugates Probed by SANS: Correlation with Polymer Grafting Density and Interaction. *Macromol. Biosci.*, **2021**, *21*, 2000356.
- [227] Russo, D.; Pelosi, C.; Wurm, F.R.; Frick, B.; Ollivier, J.; Teixeira, J. Insight into Protein–Polymer Conjugate Relaxation Dynamics: The Importance of Polymer Grafting. *Macromol. Biosci.*, **2020**, *20*, 1900410.
- [228] Tobias Steinbach, T.; Becker, G.; Spiegel, A.; Figueiredo, T.; Russo, D.; Wurm, F.R. Reversible Bioconjugation: Biodegradable Poly(phosphate)-Protein Conjugates *Macromol. Biosci.*, 2017, 17, 1600377.
- [229] Steinbach, T.; Wurm, F.R.; Degradable Polyphophoester-Protein Conjugates: "PPEylation" of Proteins. *Biomacromolecules*, **2016**, *17*, 3338–3346.
- [230] Pelosi, C.; Duce, C.; Russo, D.; Tine, M.R.; Wurm, F.R. PPEylation of proteins: Synthesis, activity, and stability of myoglobin-polyphosphoester conjugates. *European Polymer Journal*, **2018**, *108*, 357–363.
- [231] Hey, T.; Knoller, H.; Vorstheim, P. Half-Life Extension through HESylation[®]. In: Kontermann, R. (ed) Therapeutic Proteins: Strategies to Modulate Their Plasma Half-Lives. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, 2012, 117–140.
- [232] Wang, H.; Hu, H.; Yang, H.; Li, Z. Hydroxyethyl starch based smart nanomedicine. *RSC Adv.*, **2021**, *11*, 3226.
- [233] Finfer, S.; Liu, B.; Taylor, C.; Bellomo, R.; Billot, L.; Cook, D.; Du, B.; McArthur, C.; Myburgh, J. Resuscitation fluid use in critically ill adults: an international cross sectional study in 391 intensive care units. *Crit. Care*, 2010, 14, R185.
- [234] Sommermeyer, K. Method for producing conjugates of polysaccharides and polynucleotides. Noxxon Pharma AG, Supramol Parenteral Colloid GmbH. *Patent application WO2005/074993*, **2005**, filed 08.02.2005.
- [235] Sommermeyer, K.; Eichner, W.; Frie, S.; Jungheinrich, C.; Scharpf, R.; Lutterbeck, K.; Hemberger, J.; and Orlando, M. Conjugates of hydroxyalkyl starch and an active agent. Fresenius Kabi Deutschland GmbH. US Patent 7816516, 2002, filed 15.03.2002 and issued 19.10.2010.
- [236] Conradt, H.S.; Grabenhorst, E.; Nimtz, M.; Zander, N.; Ronald, F.; Eichner, W. HASylated polypeptides, especially HASylated erythropoietin. Fresenius Kabi Deutschland GmbH. *EP Patent 1398322*, 2003, filed 11.09.2003 and issued 19.04.2006.
- [237] Hacket, F.; Hey, T.; Hauschild, F.; Knoller, H.; Schimmel, M.; Sommermeyer, K. Hydroxyalkyl starch derivatives and process for their preparation. Fresenius Kabi Deutschland GmbH. *Patent application WO2009/077154*, **2009**.
- [238] Liebner, R.; Bergmann, S.; Hey, T.; Winter, G.; Besheer, A. Freeze-drying of HESylated IFNa-2b: Effect of HESylation on storage stability in comparison to PEGylation. *Int.J. Pharm.*, **2015**, *495*, 608–611.
- [239] Liebner, R.; Meyer, M.; Hey, T.; Winter, G.; Besheer, A. Head to Head Comparison of the Formulation and Stability of Concentrated Solutions of HESylated versus PEGylated Anakinra. J. Pharm. Sci., 2015, 104, 515–526.

- [240] Liebner, R.; Mathaes, R.; Meyer, M.; Hey, T.; Winter, G.; Besheer, A. Protein HESylation for half-life extension: Synthesis, characterization and pharmacokinetics of HESylated anakinra. *Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm.*, **2014**, *87*, 378–385.
- [241] Wiedermann, C.J. Hydroxyethyl starch can the safety problems be ignored? *Wien Klin. Wochenschr.*, **2004**, *116*, 583–594.
- [242] Zarychanski, R.; Abou-Setta, A.M.; Turgeon, A.F.; Houston, B.L.; McIntyre, L.; Marshall, J.C.; Fergusson, D.A. Association of hydroxyethyl starch administration with mortality and acute kidney injury in critically ill patients requiring volume resuscitation. A systematic review and meta–analysis. *JAMA*, **2013**, *309*, 678–688.
- [243] Hartog, C.S.; Kohl, M. Reinhart, K. A Systematic Review of Third-Generation Hydroxyethyl Starch (HES 130/0.4) in Resuscitation. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, **2011**, *112*, 635–645.
- [244] Colley, K.J.; Kitajima, K.; Sato, C. Polysialic acid: biosynthesis, novel functions and applications. *Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, **2014**, *49*, 498–532.
- [245] Gregoriadis, G.; McCormack, B. Liposomes and Polysialic Acids as Drug Delivery Systems. In: Karsa, D.R.; Stephenson, R.A. (eds) Encapsulation and Controlled Release, Woodhead Publishing Series in Food, Science, Technology and Nutrition, 2005, 75–85.
- [246] Siekmann, J.; Turecek, P.L. Polysialylation of human coagulation factor VIII. In: Pasut, G.; Zalipsky, S. (eds) Polymer-Protein Conjugates: From PEGylation and Beyond. Elsevier, 2020, 455–469.
- [247] Constantinou, A.; Chen, C.; Deonarain, M.P. Polysialic acid and polysialylation to modulate antibody pharmacokinetics. In: Kontermann, R. (ed) Therapeutic Proteins: Strategies to Modulate Their Plasma Half-Lives. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, 2012, 95–115.
- [248] Han, X.; Zhang, T.; Liu, M.; Song, Y.; Liu, X; Deng, Y. Polysialic Acid Modified Liposomes for Improving Pharmacokinetics and Overcoming Accelerated Blood Clearance Phenomenon. *Coatings*, **2020**, *10*, 834.
- [249] Constantinou, A.; Epenetos, A.A.; Hreczuk-Hirst, D.; Jain, S.; Wright, M.; Chester, K.A.; Deonarain, M.P. Site-Specific Polysialylation of an Antitumor Single-Chain Fv Fragment *Bioconj. Chem.*, 2009, 20, 924–931
- [250] Epenetos, A.A.; Hreczuk-Hirst, D.H.; McCormack, B.; Gregoriadis, G. Polysialylated proteins: a potential role in cancer therapy. *Clin. Pharm.*, **2002**, *21*, 2186.
- [251] Gregoriadis, G.; Jain, S.; Papaioannou, I.; Laing, P. Improving the therapeutic efficacy of peptides and proteins: a role for polysialic acids. *Int. J. Pharm.*, **2005**, *300*, 125–130.
- [252] Fernandes, A.; Gregoriadis, G. Synthesis, characterization and properties of sialylated catalase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, **1996**, 1293, 90–96.
- [253] Fernandes, A.; Gregoriadis, G. Polysialylated asparaginase: preparation, activity and pharmacokinetics. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, **1997**, *1341*, 26–34.
- [254] Fernandes, A.; Gregoriadis, G. The effect of polysialylation on the immunogenicity and antigenicity of asparaginase: implication in its pharmacokinetics. *Int. J. Pharm.* 2001, *217*, 215–24.
- [255] Jain, S.; Hreczuk-Hirst, D.H.; McCormack, B.; Mital, M.; Epenetos, A.; Laing, P.; Gregoriadis, G. Polysialylated insulin: synthesis, characterization and biological activity in vivo. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, **2003**, *1622*, 42–49.
- [256] Meng, H.; Jain, S.; Lockshin, C.; Shaligram, U.; Martinez, J.; Genkin, D.; Hill, D.B.; Ehre, C.; Clark, D.; Hoppe Iv, H. Clinical application of polysialylated deoxyribonuclease and erythropoietin. *Recent Pat. Drug Deliv. Formul.*, 2018, 12, 212– 222.
- [257] Chen, C.; Constantinou, A.; Chester, K.A.; Vyas, B.; Canis, K.; Haslam, S.M.; Dell, A.; Epenetos, A.A.; Deonarain, M.P. Glycoengineering approach to half-life extension of recombinant biotherapeutics. *Bioconj. Chem.*, 2012, 23, 1524–1533.

- [258] Lindhout, T.; Iqbal, U.; Willis, L.M.; Reid, A.N.; Li, J.; Liu, X.; Moreno, M.; Wakarchuk, W.W. Site-specific enzymatic polysialylation of therapeutic proteins using bacterial enzymes. *PNAS USA*, **2011**, *108*, 7397–7402.
- [259] Schiviz, A.; Hoebarth, G.; Wolfsegger, M.; Rossato, P.; Weber, A.; Gritsch, H.; Rottensteiner, H.; Turecek, P.L.; Scheiflinger, F.; Hoellriegl, W.; Putz, M. Pharmacokinetics of BAX 826, a polysialylated full-length rFVIII, in hemophilia a mice, rats, and cynomolgus monkeys. *Blood*, 2015, *126*, 1073.
- [260] Tiede, A.; Allen, G.; Bauer, A.; Chowdary, P.; Collins, P.; Goldstein, B.; Jiang, H.J.; Köck, K.; Takács, I.; Timofeeva, M.; Wolfsegger, M.; Srivastava, S. SHP656, a polysialylated recombinant factor VIII (PSA-rFVIII): First-in-human study evaluating safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics in patients with severe haemophilia A. *Haemophilia*, **2020**, *26*, 47–55.
- [261] Peters, Jr., T. (ed) All about albumin: biochemistry, genetics, and medical applications. Academic press, **1995**, https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-552110-9.X5000-4.
- [262] Levitt, D.G.; Levitt, M.D. Human serum albumin homeostasis: a new look at the roles of synthesis, catabolism, renal and gastrointestinal excretion, and the clinical value of serum albumin measurements. *Int. J. Gen. Med.*, **2016**, *9*, 229–255.
- [263] Oganesyan, V.; Damschroder, M.M.; Cook, K.E.; Li, Q.; Gao, C.; Wu, H.; Dall'Acqua, W.F. Structural Insights into Neonatal Fc Receptor-based Recycling Mechanisms J. Biol. Chem., 2014, 289, 7812–7824.
- [264] Rath, T.; Baker, K.; Dumont, J.A.; Peters, R.T.; Jiang, H.; Qiao, S.-W.; Lencer, W.I.; Pierce, G.F.; Blumberg, R.S. Fc-fusion proteins and FcRn: structural insights for longerlasting and more effective therapeutics, *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology*, 2015, 35, 235–254
- [265] a) Ober, R.J.; Martinez, C.; Lai, X.; Zhou, J.; Ward, E.S. Exocytosis of IgG as mediated by the receptor, FcRn: an analysis at the single-molecule level. *PNAS USA*, 2004, 101, 11076–11081. b) Prabhat, P.; Gan, Z.; Chao, J.; Ram, S.; Vaccaro, C.; Gibbons, S.; Ober, R.J.; Ward, E.S. Elucidation of intracellular recycling pathways leading to exocytosis of the Fc receptor, FcRn, by using multifocal plane microscopy. *PNAS USA*, 2007, 104, 5889–5894.
- [266] a) Schmidt, E.G.W.; Hvam, M.L.; Antunes, F.; Cameron, J.; Viuff, D.; Andersen, B.; Kristensen, N.N.; Howard, K.A. Direct demonstration of a neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn)-driven endosomal sorting pathway for cellular recycling of albumin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2017, 292, 13312–13322. b) Pyzik, M.; Rath, T.; Kuo, T.T.; Win, S.; Baker, K.; Hubbard, J.J.; Grenha, R.; Gandhi, A.; Krämer, T.D.; Mezo, A.R.; Taylor, Z.S.; McDonnell, K.; Nienaber, V.; Andersen, J.T.; Mizoguchi, A.; Blumberg, L.; Purohit, S.; Jones, S.D.; Christianson, G.; Lencer, W.I.; Sandlie, I.; Kaplowitz, N.; Roopenian, D.C.; S. Blum, R.S. Hepatic FcRn regulates albumin homeostasis and susceptibility to liver injury. *PNAS USA*, 2017, *114*, 2862–2871.
- [267] Mester, S.; Evers, M.; Meyer, S.; Nilsen, J.; Greiff, V.; Sandlie, I.; Leusen, J.; Andersen, J.T. Extended plasma half-life of albumin-binding domain fused human IgA upon pHdependent albumin engagement of human FcRn *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *mAbs*, 2021, 13, 1893888.
- [268] Diego Pilati, D.; Howard, K.A. Albumin-based drug designs for pharmacokinetic modulation. *Exp. Opin. Drug Metabol. Tox.*, **2020**, *16*, 783–795.
- [269] Duivelshof, B.L.; Murisier, A.; Camperi, J.; Fekete, S.; Beck, A.; Guillarme, D.; D'Atri, V.; Therapeutic Fc-fusion proteins: Current analytical strategies. J. Sep. Sci., 2021, 44, 35–62.
- [270] Chia, J.; Louber, J.; Glauser, I.; Taylor, S.; Bass, G.T.; Dower, S.K.; Gleeson, P.A.; Verhagen, A.M. Half-life–extended recombinant coagulation factor IX–albumin fusion

protein is recycled via the FcRn-mediated pathway J. Biol. Chem., 2018, 293, 6363-6373

- [271] Liu L. Antibody glycosylation and its impact on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of monoclonal antibodies and Fc-fusion proteins. J. Pharm. Sci., 2015, 104, 1866–1884.
- [272] Podust, V.N.; Balana, S.; Sima, B.-C.; Coyle, M.P.; Ernst, U.; Peters, R.T.; Schellenberger, V. Extension of in vivo half-life of biologically active molecules by XTEN protein polymers. *J. Contr. Rel.*, **2016**, *240*, 52–66.
- [273] Schellenberger, V.; Wang, C.-W.; Geething, N.C.; Spink, B.J.; Campbell, A.; To, W.; Scholle, M.D.; Yin, Y.; Yao, Y.; Bogin, O.; Cleland, J.L.; Silverman, J.; Stemmer, W.P.C. A recombinant polypeptide extends the *in vivo* half-life of peptides and proteins in a tunable manner. *Nature Biotechnology*, **2009**, *27*, 1186–1192.
- [274] Geething, N.C.; To, W.; Spink, B.J.; Scholle, M.D.; Wang, C.-W.; Yin, Y.; Yao, Y.; Schellenberger, V.; Cleland, J.L.; Stemmer, W.P.; Silverman, J. Gcg-XTEN: an improved glucagon capable of preventing hypoglycemia without increasing baseline blood glucose. *PLoS One*, **2010**, *5*, e10175.
- [275] Cleland, J.L.; Geething, N.C.; Moore, J.A.; Rogers, B.C.; Spink, B.J.; Wang, C.-W.; Alters, S.E.; Stemmer, W.P.C.; Schellenberger, V. A Novel Long-Acting Human Growth Hormone Fusion Protein (VRS-317): Enhanced In Vivo Potency and Half-Life. *J. Pharm. Sci.*, **2012**, *101*, DOI 10.1002/jps.
- [276] Moore, W.V.; Nguyen, H.J.; Kletter, G.B.; Miller, B.S.; Rogers, D.; Ng, D.; Moore, J.A.; Humphriss, E.; Cleland, J.L.; Bright, G.M. A randomized safety and efficacy study of Somavaratan (VRS-317), a long-acting rhGH, in pediatric growth hormone deficiency. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 2016, 101, 1091–1097.
- [277] Konkle, B.A.; Shapiro, A.D.; Quon, D.V.; Staber, J.M.; Kulkarni, R.; Ragni, M.V.; Chhabra, E.S.; Poloskey, S.; Rice, K.; Katragadda, S.; Rudin, D.; Fruebis, J.; Benson, C.C. BIVV001 Fusion Protein as Factor VIII Replacement Therapy for Hemophilia A. *N. Engl. J. Med.*, 2020, 383, 1018–1027.
- [278] Ding, S.; Song, M.; Sim, B.C.; Gu, C.; Podust, V.N.; Wang, C.-W.; McLaughlin, B.; Shah, T.P.; Lax, R.; Gast, R.; Sharan, R.; Vasek, A.; Hartman, M.A.; Deniston, C.; Srinivas, P.; Schellenberger, V. Multivalent antiviral XTEN-peptide conjugates with long in vivo half-life and enhanced solubility. *Bioconj. Chem.*, 2014, 25,1351–1359.
- [279] a) Podust, V.N.; Sim, B.C.; Kothari, D.; Henthorn, L.; Gu, C.; Wang, C.-W.; McLaughlin, B.; Schellenberger, V. Extension of in vivo half-life of biologically active peptides via chemical conjugation to XTEN protein polymer. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.*, **2013**, *26*, 743–753. b) Alters, S.E.; McLaughlin, B.; Spink, B.; Lachinyan, T.; Wang, C.-W.; Podust, V.N.; Schellenberger, V.; Stemmer, W.P. GLP2-2G-XTEN: a pharmaceutical protein with improved serum half-life and efficacy in a rat Crohn's disease model. *PLoS One*, **2012**, *7*, e50630.
- [280] Schlapschy, M.; Binder, U.; Börger, C.; Theobald, I.; Wachinger, K.; Kisling, S.; Haller, D.; Skerra, A. PASylation: a biological alternative to PEGylation for extending the plasma half-life of pharmaceutically active proteins. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.*, 2013, 26, 489–501.
- [281] a) Morath, V.; Bolze, F.; Schlapschy, M.; Schneider, S.; Sedlmayer, F.; Seyfarth, K.; Klingenspor, M.; Skerra, A. PASylation of murine leptin leads to extended plasma half-life and enhanced in vivo efficacy. *Mol. Pharm.*, **2015**, *12*, 1431–1442. b) Bolze, F.; Bast, A.; Mocek, S.; Morath, V.; Yuan, D.; Rink, N.; Schlapschy, M.; Zimmermann, A.; Heikenwalder, M.; Skerra, A.; Klingenspor, M. Treatment of diet-induced lipodystrophic C57BL/6J mice with long-acting PASylated leptin normalises insulin sensitivity and hepatic steatosis by promoting lipid utilisation. *Diabetologia*, **2016**, *59*, 2005–2012.

- [282] Mendler, C.T.; Friedrich, L.; Laitinen, I.; Schlapschy, M.; Schwaiger, M.; Wester, H.J.; Skerra, A.; High contrast tumor imaging with radio-labeled antibody Fab fragments tailored for optimized pharmacokinetics via PASylation. *mAbs*, **2015**, *7*, 96.
- [283] Zvonova, E.A.; Ershov, A.V.; Ershova, O.A.; Sudomoina, M.A.; Degterev, M.B.; Poroshin, G.N.; Eremeev, A.V.; Karpov, A.P.; Vishnevsky, A.Y.; Goldenkova-Pavlova, I.V.; Petrov, A.V.; Ruchko, S.V.; Shuster, A.M. PASylation technology improves recombinant interferon-β1b solubility, stability, and biological activity. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, **2017**, *101*, 1975–1987.
- [284] Harari, D.; Kuhn, N.; Abramovich, R.; Sasson, K.; Zozulya, A.L.; Smith, P.; Schlapschy, M.; Aharoni, R.; Köster, M.; Eilam, R.; Skerra, A.; Schreiber, G. Enhanced in Vivo Efficacy of a Type I Interferon Superagonist with Extended Plasma Half-life in a Mouse Model of Multiple Sclerosis. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **2014**, 289, 29014–29029.
- [285] Xia, Y.; Schlapschy, M.; Morath, V.; Roeder, N.; Vogt, E.I.; Stadler, D.; Cheng, X.; Dittmer, U.; Sutter, K.; Heikenwalder, M.; Skerra, A.; Protzer, U. PASylated interferon α efficiently suppresses hepatitis B virus and induces anti-HBs seroconversion in HBVtransgenic mice. *Antiviral Research*, **2018**, *161*, 134–143.
- [286] Hedayati, M.H.; Norouzian, D.; Aminian, M.; Teimourian, S.; Ahangari, C.R.; Sardari, S.; Khorramizadeh, M.R. Molecular Design, Expression and Evaluation of PASylated Human Recombinant Erythropoietin with Enhanced Functional Properties. *Protein J.*, 2017, 36, 36–48.
- [287] Kuhn, N.; Schmidt, C.Q.; Schlapschy, M.; Skerra, A. PASylated Coversin, a C5-Specific Complement Inhibitor with Extended Pharmacokinetics, Shows Enhanced Anti-Hemolytic Activity in Vitro *Bioconj. Chem.*, **2016**, *27*, 2359.
- [288] Breibeck, J.; Skerra, A. The polypeptide biophysics of proline/alanine-rich sequences (PAS): Recombinant biopolymers with PEG-like properties, *Biopolymers*, **2018**, *109*, e23069.
- [289] Powers, N.E.; Swartzwelter, B.; Marchetti, C.; de Graaf, D.M.; Lerchner, A.; Schlapschy, M.; Datarb, R.; Binder, U.; Edwards III, C.K.; Skerra, A.; Dinarello, C.A. PASylation of IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) retains IL-1 blockade and extends its duration in mouse urate crystal-induced peritonitis. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **2020**, *295*, 868–882.
- [290] Aghaabdollahian, S.; Cohan, R.A.; Norouzian, D.; Davami, F.; Karam, M.R.A.; Torkashvand, F.; Vaseghi, G.; Moazzami, R.; Dizaji, S.L. Enhancing bioactivity, physicochemical, and pharmacokinetic properties of a nano-sized, anti-VEGFR2 Adnectin, through PASylation technology. *Sci. Rep.*, **2019**, *9*, 2978.
- [291] Brandl, F.; Merten, M.; Zimmermann, M.; Béhé, M.; Zangemeister-Wittke, U.; Plückthun, A. Influence of size and charge of unstructured polypeptides on pharmacokinetics and biodistribution of targeted fusion proteins. J. Contr. Rel., 2019, 307, 379–392.
- [292] Binder, U.; Skerra, A. PASylated Thymosin α1: A Long-Acting Immunostimulatory Peptide for Applications in Oncology and Virology. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, **2021**, *22*, 124.
- [293] Gebauer, M.; Skerra, A. Prospects of PASylation for the design of protein and peptide therapeutics with extended half-life and enhanced action. *Biorg. Med. Chem.*, **2018**, *26*, 2882–2887.
- [294] Binder, U.; Skerra, A. PASylation: A versatile technology to extend drug delivery. *Curr. Opin. Coll. Interf. Sci.*, **2017**, *31*, 10–17.
- [295] Di Cesare, S.; Binder, U.; Maier, T.; Skerra A. High-yield production of PASylated human growth hormone using secretory E. coli technology. *Bioprocess Int.*, **2013**, *11*, 30–38.
- [296] Tully, M.; Dimde, M.; Weise, C.; Pouyan, P.; Licha, K.; Schirner, M.; Haag, R. Polyglycerol for Half-Life Extension of Proteins – Alternative to PEGylation? *Biomacromolecules*, 2021, 22, 1406–1416.

- [297] Tully, M.; Wedepohl, S.; Kutifa, D.; Weise, C.; Licha, K.; Schirner, M.; Haag, R. Prolonged Activity of Exenatide: Detailed Comparison of Site-specific Linear Polyglycerol- and Poly(ethylene glycol)-Conjugates. *Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm.*, 2021, 164, 105–113.
- [298] Zhang, P.; Sun, F.; Hung, H.-C.; Jain, P.; Leger, K.J.; Jiang, S. Sensitive and Quantitative Detection of Anti-Poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) Antibodies by Methoxy-PEG-Coated Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensors. *Anal. Chem.*, 2017, 89, 8217–8222.
- [299] Mensink, M.A.; Frijlink, H.W.; van der Voort Maarschalk, K.; Hinrichs, W.L.J. How sugars protect proteins in the solid state and during drying (review): Mechanisms of stabilization in relation to stress conditions. *Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm.*, 2017, 114, 288– 295.
List of Abbreviations

ABC	Accelerated Blood Clearance
ABS	Antibodies
API	Active pharmaceutical ingredient
AROP	Anionic ring opening polymerization
ATRP	Atom transfer radical polymerization
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
BTC	Benzotriazole carbonate
CD	Circular Dichroism
CDI	Carbonylimidazole
СНО	Chinese Hamster Ovary
CROP	Cationic ring opening polymerization
CuAAC	Copper(I)-catalyzed azide-alkyne cycloaddition
DARPin	Designed Ankyrin Repeat Proteins
DCC	Dicyclohexylcarbodiimid
DLS	Dynamic Light Scattering
dPG	Dendritic Polyglycerol
E.coli	Escherichia coli
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EG	Ethylene glycol
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EMA	European Medicines Agency
EO	Ethylene oxide
EPO	Erythropoietin
FcRn	Neonatal Fc receptor
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
GCS-F	Granulocyte colony-stimulation factor
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GLP-2	Glucagon-like peptide 2
HES	Hydroxyethylstarch
HGH	Human growth hormone
hPG	Hyperbranched Polyglycerol
HSR	Hypersensitivity reactions
IFN	Interferon
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
LPG	Linear Polyglycerol
LPXTG	Leucine-Proline-X-Threonine-Glycine
MALDI	Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization
M _n	Number-average molecular weight
M _w	Weight-average molecular weight
mPEG	Methoxy-poly(ethylene glycol)
NG	Nanogel
NHS	N-Hydroxysuccinimide
OEG	Oligoethylene glycol
pCB	Polycarboxybetaine
PDB	Protein data bank
PEEP	Poly(ethyl ethylene phosphate)
PEO	Poly(ethylene oxide)
PEG	Poly(ethylene glycol)
PG	Polyglycerol

PGA	Polyglutamic acid
PHPMA	Poly(N-(2-hydroxypropyl) methacrylamide)
PMeEP	Poly(methyl ethylene phosphonate)
PMPC	Poly(2-methacryloyloxyethyl phosphorylcholine)
PNIPAM	Poly-N-isopropylacrylamid
pNPC	<i>para</i> -nitrophenyl carbonate
POEGMA	Poly[oligo(ethylene glycol) methyl methacrylate]
POx	Poly(2-oxazoline)
РР	Polypeptides
PPB	Polyphosphobetaine
PPE	Polyphosphoester
PSA	Polysialic acid
PSar	Polysarcosine
PSB	Polysulfobetaine
PVP	Poly(N-vinylpyrrolidone)
RAFT	Reversible-addition-fragmentation chain-transfer polymerization
RBC	Red blood cell
SC	Succinimidyl carbonate
SCID	Severe combined immunodeficiency disease
SDS	Sodium dodecylsulfate
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecylsulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SEC	Size-exclusion chromatography
SEC-MALS	Size-exclusion chromatography-multi angle light scattering
SpAAC	Strain-promoted azide-alkyne cycloaddition
SPR	Surface plasmon resonance
SS	Succinimidyl succinate
ТСР	Trichlorophenyl carbonate
TNF-α	Tumor necrose factor-a
TOF	Time of flight
UAA	Unnatural amino acid
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

List of Publications and Conference Contributions

PUBLICATIONS

- <u>Tully, M.</u>;* Dimde, M.; Weise, C.; Pouyan, P.; Licha, K.; Schirner, M.; Haag, R.* Polyglycerol for Half-Life Extension of Proteins–Alternative to PEGylation? *Biomacromolecules*, 2021, 22, 1406–1416.
- [2] <u>Tully, M.</u>; Wedepohl, S.; Kutifa, D.; Weise, C.; Licha, K.; Schirner, M.; Haag, R.* Prolonged Activity of Exenatide: Detailed Comparison of Site-specific linear Polyglyceroland Poly(ethylene glycol)-Conjugates. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 2021, 164, 105–113.
- [3] <u>Tully, M.;</u>[‡] Hauptstein, N.;[‡] Licha, K.; Meinel, L.; Lühmann, T.; Haag, R.* Linear Polyglycerol for N-terminal-selective Modification of Interleukin-4. 2021, *submitted*. ([‡] These authors contributed equally.)
- [4] Braatz, D.; Dimde, M.; Ma, G.; Zhong, Y.; <u>Tully, M.</u>; Grötzinger, C.; Zhang, Y.; Mavroskoufis, A.; Schirner, M., Zhong, Z.; Ballauff, M.; Haag, R. A toolbox of biodegradable dendritic (poly glycerol sulfate)-SS-poly(ester) micelles for cancer treatment: stability, drug release, and tumor targeting. *Biomacromolecules*, **2021**, *22*, 2625–2640.

POSTER PRESENTATIONS

- [1] <u>Tully, M.;</u> Dimde, M.; Weise, C.; Pouyan, P.; Licha, K.; Schirner, M.; Haag, R. Polyglycerol as PEG-alternative for half-life extension of therapeutic proteins. *HIPS Symposium on pharmaceutical sciences devoted to infection research (virtual conference)* 2021, Saarbrücken, Germany.
- [2] <u>Tully, M.;</u> Hauptstein, N.; Licha, K.; Lühmann, T.; Meinel, L.; Haag, R. Half-life extension of Interleukin-4: Polyglycerol as an alternative to PEGylation. *Annual Meeting* of the German Local Chapter of the Controlled Release Society 2020, Munich, Germany.

- [3] <u>Tully, M.;</u> Dimde, M.; Licha, K.; Haag, R. Polyglycerol as an alternative Polymer-Platform for PEGylation of biopharmaceutics. *Workshop on Protein Stability* 2020, Munich, Germany.
- [4] <u>Tully, M.</u>; Pouyan, P.; Licha, K.; Haag, R. Linear Polyglycerol as an alternative Polymer-Platform for PEGylation of biopharmaceutics. *New and Emerging Technologies-Biotech meets medicine* 2019, Potsdam, Germany.
- [5] <u>Tully, M.</u>; Licha, K.; Haag, R. Linear Polyglycerol as an alternative Polymer-Platform for PEGylation of biopharmaceutics. *International Research Conference on Protein Stability and Interactions* 2019, Heidelberg, Germany.
- [6] <u>Tully, M.:</u> Pouyan, P.; Licha, K.; Haag, R. Linear Polyglycerol as an alternative Polymer-Platform for PEGylation of biopharmaceutics. *Galenus Workshop* 2018, Würzburg, Germany.
- [7] Kapourani, E.; <u>Tully, M.</u>; Pouyan, P.; Haag, R. Dendritic polyglycerol-based microgels as potential cell encapsulation therapeutics. *12th International Symposium on Polymer Therapeutics* 2018, Valencia, Spain.

Curriculum vitae

For reasons of data protection, the curriculum vitae is not included in the online version.